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REPORT OF THE REVISEUR D'ENTREPRISES AGREE 
 
 
Report on the audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Qualified opinion 
 
We have audited the Consolidated Financial Statements of Eren Groupe S.A. (“The Group”), which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2017, and the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated Financial 
Statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described in the “Basis for Qualified 
Opinion” paragraph, the accompanying consolidated Financial Statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2017, and of its 
consolidated financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. 
 

Basis for Qualified Opinion 
 
Business combination and intangible assets 
 
We were unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence supporting the accuracy of the fair 
value of the intangible assets of TMW S.A. amounting to EUR 24,616,617 at the date on which the 
Group obtained control of this entity. 
 
We were unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence supporting the accuracy of the 
recoverable amount of the intangible assets of TMW S.A. as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 
2017. As disclosed in Note 17, the Management is not able to determine the useful life of TMW’s 
intangible assets. In that respect we were unable to estimate the depreciation that should have been – 
or not – deducted from these intangible assets recorded in assets for a value of EUR 23,628,595 as at 
31 December 2017. 
 

Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the Law of July 23, 2016 on the audit profession (Law of July 
23, 2016) and with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as adopted for Luxembourg by the 
“Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier” (CSSF). Our responsibilities under the Law of July 
23, 2016 and the ISAs are further described in the « Responsibilities of “Réviseur d’Entreprises Agréé” 
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements » section of our report. We are also independent 
of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) as adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF together 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements, and 
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have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities under those ethical requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Other information 
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the consolidated management report but does not include the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and our report of “Réviseur d’Entreprises Agréé” thereon. 
 
Our opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements does not cover the other information and we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the Consolidated Financial Statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report this fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard. 
 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these Consolidated 
Financial Statements in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, and for such 
internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.  
 
In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing 
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to 
liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.   
 
Responsibility of the Réviseur d’Entreprises Agréé for the audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Consolidated Financial 
Statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue a 
report of “Réviseur d’Entreprises Agréé” that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level 
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Law dated July 23, 
2016 and with ISAs as adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Law dated July 23, 2016 and with ISAs as adopted for 
Luxembourg by the CSSF, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:  
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Consolidated Financial Statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control; 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control; 

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors; 
 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 



 

 

 

continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our report of "Réviseur d’Entreprises Agréé" to the related disclosures in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our report of 
"Réviseur d’Entreprises Agréé". However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to 
cease to continue as a going concern; 

 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Consolidated Financial 

Statements, including the disclosures, and whether the Consolidated Financial Statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation; 

 
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities and 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
 
The consolidated management report is consistent with the Consolidated Financial Statements and has 
been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements. 

Luxembourg, October 5, 2018 

 

 
 
 

Thierry REMACLE 

Réviseur d’Entreprises Agréé 
Grant Thornton Audit & Assurance 
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Eren Groupe S.A is the parent Company for several organisations operating in three key sectors. 
activities are organised, managed and monitored throughout the year by the Managing Board under the 
surveillance of the Supervisory Board, with whom they meet regularly. This is their report of the  
performance for the 2017 financial year. Their Company headquarters are located at 4 rue Willy Goergen in 
Luxembourg. 

 

 

1 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

The Company (Eren Groupe S.A.) was founded in December1991 
Mouratoglou. Having previously co-founded two companies in the energy sector (Energies in 1979 and Sithe in 

gies (Eren 
) in 1991 with the corporate purpose of generating wind and solar energy.  

In 2000 the Company formed a partnership with EDF and since 2004 SIIF Energies has been jointly held by EDF 
and Mr. and Mrs. Mouratoglou. SIIF Energies therefore became EDF Energies Nouvelles and was listed on the 
Paris Stock Exchange in 2006.  

I   developed EDF 
Energies Nouvelles and following a friendly takeover bid in 2011, they transferred the total control and 
management of activities to EDF, which now owns 100% of EDF Energies Nouvelles. 

Eren Groupe Renewable Energy subsidiary Eren RE (now named Total Eren). Today, the Company brings 
renewable energies solutions to both emerging markets and developed countries. 

Furthermore, the Company is developing reliable, competitive and innovative technologies to promote more 
efficient use of natural resources in three key areas: energy-saving, water and waste treatment, and improving the 
safety, reliability and working life of substructures. Thanks to technological innovation, our customers and partners 
have the opportunity to reduce the amount of waste they produce in a profitable way, while spending less than the 
value of the resources saved.  

The Company is committed to research and sustainable development to maintain its status as a market leader, 
constantly improving the quality of the technologies it uses and continually advancing practical applications. 

As of 31st December 2017, Eren Groupe continues to focus on three key sectors: 

- Green energy (Energies Renouvelables - Renewable Energies) - forming the basis of activities 
managed by the Company which were previously initiated by its founders; 

- Industrial activity (Economie des Ressources Naturelles - Saving Natural Resources) - identifying 
and developing new technologies to streamline and improve the use of natural resources; 

- Sporting infrastructure (Education et R Elites Naturelles - Education and Scouting 
Natural Elites) - training and seeking out natural talent while also promoting new channels to increase 
the reach of cultural works. 
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Eren Grou available funds are invested in a diverse portfolio to finance its three main activities, according to 
their needs. The Company has no particular investment activity in relation to these assets, which for the purposes 
of this report are shown under the heading Other. 

Eren Group  Performance and Financial Position (by activity) 

 

2017 Energy Industries Sport and 
Culture Other Total 

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 
Turnover 78,078,390 11,350,724 18,757,942 2,373,238 110,560,294 
Operating Result 25,854,614 (24,756,786) (5,116,466) (10,057,844) (14,076,482) 
Profit/(loss) before tax 8,614,716 (25,298,875) (6,931,501) 11,566,115 (12,049,544) 
Profit/(loss) for the financial year 5,271,628 (23,325,939) (7,550,172) 11,022,444 (14,582,039) 
      
Total Assets 1,097,950,203 62,437,476 96,448,033 318,589,945 1,575,425,657 
Total Liabilities 451,147,425 29,789,597 34,568,097 28,328,984 543,834,103 

 

2016 Energy Industries Sport and 
Culture Other Total 

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 
Turnover 82,248,163 12,035,116 11,802,260 382,619 106,468,158 
Operating Result 19,649,834 (40,996,064) (6,690,556) (8,959,907) (36,996,693) 
Profit/(loss) before tax 15,135,846 (44,276,241) (9,056,769) (5,651,509) (43,848,673) 
Profit/(loss) for the financial year 10,676,507 (43,516,912) (8,219,279) (12,021,321) (53,081,005) 
      
Total Assets 687,859,457 63,341,007 102,551,269 340,689,766 1,194,441,499 
Total Liabilities 380,943,153 30,039,111 36,857,560 34,130,916 481,970,740 

 

The allocation of the s turnover and assets by sector are as follows: 

   
The performance and financial Position in each sector are specified and analysed below in the management report. 
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2 CHANGES IN THE EREN GROUPE 

2.1 Subsidiaries 

The Company comprises 116 subsidiaries as of 31st December 2017 compared to 103 on 31st December 2016, 
which represents a net growth of 16 subsidiaries. 

In the course of 2017, the Company created 8 subsidiaries as part of its international development (12 were created 
during 2016). It has not acquired any subsidiaries through business mergers (14 were acquired through 3 business 
mergers in 2016). It did acquire 9 subsidiaries as asset acquisitions (compared to 2 during 2016). The Company 
liquidated 7 subsidiaries, discontinuing projects (12 subsidiaries were liquidated in 2016). Finally, 2 subsidiaries 
merged with other entities within the Company (compared to 3 in 2016). 

2.2 Associates and Joint-Ventures 

The Company created 11 new associations and joint-ventures relating to its operations in India, mainly in the 
development of energy-linked activities. 

3 EREN GROUPE S SECTORS 

3.1 The Energy Sector 

The Company develops, builds and operates renewable energy assets in developed countries (France, Greece, Italy 
and Israel) and in emerging countries where energy needs are growing quickly (particularly India, Africa, South 
East and Central Asia and Latin America), which share the following characteristics: 

- good renewable resources (irradiation, wind speed); 
- ability to secure long-term Power Purchase Agreements (PPAs); 
- growing energy demand; 
- potential to achieve the critical mass. 

To efficiently deal with the various constraints and market idiosyncrasies, the Company progresses its projects in 
partnership with local developers who have a deep understanding and experience of the  markets and key 
stakeholders. 

Eren Groupe possesses a unique expertise all along the value chain, from in-house identification and screening of 
projects to the financing, construction and operation of the plants. By relying on longstanding relationships with 
banks, top-tier suppliers and contractors, the Company can obtain competitive commercial terms and optimize the 
profitability of its projects. 

The main focus for Total Eren is onshore wind and ground-mounted solar PV, both with and without storage. 

As activities linked to renewable energies are very draining on shareholders' equity, in 2015 the Company decided 
to reinforce its financial capacity with significant capital increases. EUR 40m was subscribed by New Eren SA in 
July 2015, and EUR 97.5m (as a first tranche) was provided by a group of long-term investors in October 2015. 

To pursue its aim to develop and create a worldwide portfolio of renewable energy projects, the Company called 
upon the second EUR 97.5m tranche at the start of 2017 and this was received in May that year. 

During the year 2017, the Group entered into partnership with Total to continue developing its activities in the 
sector of production of renewable energy. In this respect, Total has committed to invest EUR 237.5m of which 
half has been invested during the year. The Group has a put option on its investment in Total Eren in favour of 
Total after a period of 5 years. 
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As of 31st December 2017, the following plants controlled by the Company were operational: 
  Place Projects by operational entity Technology Date of 

operation 
Installed 
capacity 
(MWp) 

            

Co
ns

ol
id

at
ed

 d
at

a 

France 
Solaire Habitat Social Rooftop photovoltaic Q3 2016 16.3 

Puyloubier  Solar photovoltaic Q4 2010 6.5 
          

Italy 

Energia Italia Hydro-electric power plant 1998 12.5 

Restituzione Hydro-electric power plant Q2 2009 1.2 

Dogana Hydro-electric power plant 
+ co-generation Q3 2006 5.6 

Ivrea Hydro-electric power plant Q4 2015 2.2 
          

Greece 

Alogomandra Solar photovoltaic 2012 9 

Palaiohora Solar photovoltaic 2012 9 

Lykorahi Solar photovoltaic 2012 6 

Krevatas Solar photovoltaic 2012 5 

Skala projets Solar photovoltaic Q3 2012 29 

EMV Solar photovoltaic Q1 2013 5.9 

Kithaironas Wind farm Q3 2012 25.5 

Maristi Wind farm Q4 2015 42 

Ptoon 
Wind farm 

Q1 2016 40 

Goritsa 
Wind farm 

Q4 2017  33.3 

Koukos Kapsala 
Wind farm 

Q4 2017 20 
          

Israel 

Talmei Elyahu 
Solar photovoltaic 

Q3 2014 10 

Bror Hayil 
Solar photovoltaic 

Q1 2014 8.8 

Mishmar Hanegev 
Solar photovoltaic 

Q1 2014 7.8 

Kerem Shalom 
Solar photovoltaic 

Q1 2014 6.4 

Hazeva 
Solar photovoltaic 

Q2 2015 4.5 
    Solar photovoltaic     

Uganda Soroti 
Solar photovoltaic 

Q4 2016 10 

India 

Haridwar 
Solar photovoltaic 

Q1 2017 24 

Bindookhadak 
Solar photovoltaic 

Q1 2017 6 

Bwagwanpur 
Solar photovoltaic 

Q1 2017 6 

            

    Consolidated data     414.8 

            

Si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
  

sh
ar

eh
ol

di
ng

 

France 

ESS Mangassaye 
Solar photovoltaic 

Q4 2009 5.1 

Saint-  
Solar photovoltaic 

Q4 2010 2.4 

Belise 2 
Solar photovoltaic 

Q4 2011 2.5 

Belise 3 
Solar photovoltaic 

Q4 2011 6.2 

Montjoly 
Solar photovoltaic 

Q3 2015 4.8 
          

Greece Voreas Wind farm Q4 2010 14.6 
          

India 

BAP Solar (ex NSM) 
Solar photovoltaic 

Q3 2015 120.5 

UTT1 
Solar photovoltaic 

Q1 2017 36 

Semli 
Solar photovoltaic 

Q3 2017 15 
            

    Significant shareholding   2017.1 
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3.1.1 Energy Sector Performance and Position 
 2017 2016 

EUR EUR 
Turnover 78,078,390 82,248,163 
Operating Result 25,854,614 19,649,834 
Profit/(loss) before tax 8,614,716 15,135,846 
Profit/(loss) for the financial year 5,271,628 10,676,507 
   
Total Assets 1,097,950,203 687,859,457 
Total Liabilities 451,147,425 380,943,153 

The EBITDA generated by the operational plants increased by EUR 10.25 million in 2017 thanks to generation 
being launched by the Indian parks during the year and the start of production of Ptoon and Maristi in 2016. 

 
En 
millions EUR 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 Variation 

Greece 36.55 31.93 4.62 
Israel 12.82 12.32 0.50 
Italy 3.33 3.45 (0.12) 
France 6.41 4.44 1.97 
Uganda 2.28 0.97 1.31 
India 1.97 - 1.97 
Total 63.36 53.11 10.25 

3.1.2 Operational Performance 
Production en MWh   2017 2016 2015 2014 
        

France Photovoltaic 26,679 24,389 14,662 10,062 
         

Italy 
Hydro-electricity 60,252 65,451 79,545 91,463 

Cogeneration 4,861 5,603 3,900 1,672 
        

Greece 
Photovoltaic 57,755 57,481 57,855 56,617 

Wind 310,264 287,895 82,324 63,621 
        

Israel Photovoltaic 65,382 66,473 61,327 35,952 
  

 
    

Uganda Photovoltaic 16,459 3,714 - - 

India Photovoltaic 29,221 - - - 
        

Total consolidated data (MWh)   570,872 511,006 299,613 259,387 
        

France/Greece/India 
Photovoltaic 271,071 241,366 137,865 25,378 

Wind 46,621 44,311 42,937 40,390 
        

Total significant shareholding   317,332 285,677 180,802 65,767 

Solar Energy 

a France 

resulting in a +2.7% increase in production compared to 2016, and a +3.5% improvement on previous  
average production. 

Solaire Habitat Social develops and operates small solar plants on social housing rooftops in France. It reached its 
full capacity of 16.3 MW during the first quarter of 2016, which explains the production increase in 2017, the first 
full year of operation. 

In Guadeloupe and Martinique (French Overseas) the effect of Hurricane Irma in September 2017 combined with 
bad weather conditions in Q2 2017 resulted in a decrease in production of -4% compared to 2016.  

The Montjoly project (which combines PV and storage) continued to perform above expectation, even though 
2017 production was -5.1% below that of 2016. 
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During the summer of 2017, Total Eren and its partners won 5 solar projects in a tender organized by the French 
government (CRE 4 programme). These projects, with a total capacity of 11.7 MW, are located in non-connected 

Construction will start in 2018. 

b Greece 

Greek PV assets (total capacity of 34.85 MW) produced 57,755 MWh this year, which is in line with historical 
data (2015: 57,85 MWh and 2016: 57,48 MWh). The local teams maintained high levels of performance and 
availability by optimizing preventive maintenance to avoid production losses. 

The Company began construction of a 9 MW project named Xerodima . The PV park is located in the 
Municipality of Evrota, in the Regional Entity of Lakonia, near to the four Skala projects that started operation in 
2012. The project was awarded through a tender and secured a Feed-in-
period of 20 years.  

c Israel 

The overall production of the five PV parks slightly decreased by -1.6% compared to 2016. This variation is due 
to a lower irradiation in 2017 (approx. -2%), while 2016 benefitted from excellent solar conditions. 

 
 
 
 
 

Mishmar Hanegev 7.8 MW 

 

 

 

 

 

 

d Uganda 

The Soroti 10 MW PV plant, located approximately 300 km north-east of the Uganda capital Kampala, achieved 
commercial operation in November 2016.  

ailability has been excellent, but the plant suffered from low irradiation 
compared to yearly averages (-3%), resulting in a lower production than expected. 

e Burkina Faso 

In March 2017 Total Eren and its partner signed a 15-year Power Purchase Agreement (PPA) with IAMGOLD 
Essakane SA, a gold mine which is the largest privately-held business in Burkina Faso, 330 km from 
Ouagadougou.  

Due to its isolated location, the mine is off-grid and was relying solely on an existing 57 MW heavy fuel oil (HFO) 
power plant. The 15 MW solar project was developed by Total Eren and its partner. It 
fuel consumption by approximately 6 million litres per year and reduce its annual CO2 emissions by nearly 18,500 
tons.  
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The construction of the solar plant took 10 months and it started to deliver electricity in March 2018. 

The financing was secured in November 2017 with the BICIAB, which provided a senior limited-recourse loan of 
XOF 9.2 billion (around USD 17.2m).  

This hybrid diesel solar PV project is the largest in the world and opens up new market opportunities for Total 
Eren regarding off-grid solutions.  

f Egypt 

At the end of 2017 Total Eren and its partner secured the financing of two solar PV plants with a total capacity of 
126 MW, located in the Benban complex in the Aswan province of Egypt.  

The projects are financed through non-recourse debts provided by the European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development (EBRD) and Proparco, the private sector financing arm of the French Development Agency (Agence 

 -AFD). EBRD and Proparco have together provided USD 111.6m of senior debt for 
the power plants. 

-in-Tariff (FiT) program, launched by the national Ministry 
of Electricity an & Renewable Energy Authority (NREA). With each of the plants generating 
roughly 143 GWh per year, they will contribute to the reduction of more than 100,000 tons of carbon dioxide 
emissions per year. Construction started at the end of 2017. 

g Argentina 

In September 2017, the Company acquired Ecosol, whose 24.75 MWac project named Caldenes del Oeste won 
the RenovAR 1.5 tender and signed a 20-year PPA with CAMMESA in May 2017. The project is located in the 
vicinity of San Luis city (San Luis Province) and construction of the park started in October 2017. 

h Brazil 

Located in the Bahia area, BJL 11 is a 25 MW solar plant acquired by Total Eren in February 2017. This project 
won the 1st 2015 Brazilian Reserve Energy Auction and benefits from a 20-year PPA. BJL 11 started operation in 
April 2018. 
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BJL11 25MW in Brazil 

 

 

 

 

 

i India 

In 2016 the Company and its partner EDF EN India acquired the PV parks Haridwar (24 MW), Bindookhadak (6 
MW) and Bwagwanpur (6 MW) and construction was completed in Q1 2017. Production started in February and 
March 2017 and together the three parks delivered almost 30 GWh for their first year of operation. The 3 projects 
have contracted 25-year PPAs with UPPCL. 

The partnership jointly acquired UTT1 (36 MW) in August 2016 and Semli in March 2017. UTT1 is located in 
Uttarakhand, benefits from a 25-year PPA signed with UPPCL and started operation in March 2017. Semli is 
located in the state of Madhya Pradesh.  The solar project, with a capacity of 15 MW and a 25-year PPA signed 
with MPPMCL in 2015, began operation in September 2017. 

 

 

 

 

Semli PV 12 MW (Equity method)  

 

j Winch Energy 

Winch is a global off-grid renewable energy developer and operator, providing a 3 Utility solution for people 
without access to electricity, water and Wi-Fi. Winch leverages its own technology, the Remote Power Unit, a 
containerised PV + battery mini-grid solution, to deliver a clean and reliable power supply on a 24/7 basis to 
remote populations, businesses and public infrastructures. 

Winch acts as an integrated and business-driven micro-utility, pulling together project development, financing, 
EPC and O&M capabilities. With the acquisition of 50% of Winch in 2016, the Company intends to extend its 
footprint beyond the power grids to meet the needs of some of the 600 million people with no access to electricity, 
water and Wi-Fi in Africa. 

its technology on its own sites, as well as those of other domestic power distributors and developers. 
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Wind Energy 

Total Eren pursued growth in wind energy in 2017 by adding capacity in Greece and starting construction of new 
projects in France, Greece and Argentina. 

a France 

During September 2017, in the Grand- , north of Martinique (a French island), Total Eren and its 
partners began construction of the first industrial-scale (14MW) wind farm with storage in France. The wind 
turbines reached Martinique in April 2018 and COD is expected in early 2019.   

Debt financing was closed in June 2017 with a pool of French banks. The off-taker is French EDF (through EDF 
Martinique). A detailed production forecast will be submitted every day for the following day, allowing the grid 
operator to handle the intermittence of wind energy production.  

b Greece 

The wind production increased by +7.7% due to: 

- Ptoon (40 MW) & Maristi (42 MW): +6.7% compared to 2016 which was the first year of operation. 

- Kithaironas (25.5 MW): mainly due to a HV line issue in January, production was -3.5% below 2016, 
but higher than the average production since the COD (2012). 

- Voreas (14 MW): 50% owned by the Company, outperformed  average production by 
+8.2% 

The commissioning in November 2017 of two wind parks also contributed to the increase (+12 GWh): 

- Goritsa 33.3 MW in the Goritsa region, located in the Thiva Municipality of the Viotia Prefecture 

- Koukos & Kapsala 12 + 6 MW, located in the Distomo-Arachova-Antikyra Municipality of the Viotia 
Prefecture 

 The Company drove development in Greece with the construction of two wind parks: 

- Flampouro, a 27.6 MW wind farm located in the Arriana Municipality of the Rodopi Prefecture. 
Construction of the project started in October 2017, which benefits from a 20y Feed-in-Premium contract. 

- Sparta & Loupounria - two wind farms of 6.9 MW installed capacity (13.8 MW together).  
Both Sparta Kakorema, located in the Thiveon Municipality (Viotia) in Central Greece, and Loupounaria, 
located in the Evrotas Municipality (Lakonia) in the Peloponnese, signed a FiP contract for a 20-year 
period. 

 

 

 

 

 

Goritsa: last 
milestones before the 
start of operation in 
November 2017  
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c Argentina 

The Vientos Los Hercules wind farm (97.2 MW,) whose Power Purchase Agreement (PPA) was signed in January 
2017 with CAMMESA (the Argentinian administrator of the wholesale electricity market), was among the 12 
winning projects announced in October 2016, following the first round of the national RenovAR program.   

The competitive tender process was launched by the Argentinean government in May 2016 to diversify the national 
electricity mix, while lowering energy-generation costs.  

The debt package consisted of a 16-year ECA covered tranche, guaranteed by Euler Hermes and financed by KfW- 
Ipex, complemented by a 15-year uncovered tranche, financed by DEG and FMO. This financing was the first 
non-recourse ECA financing to close in Argentina in the last 15 years. 

In November 2017, the Company acquired CEMPSA, gaining ownership of a 50 MW wind project located in the 
Chubut area, 300 km from Vientos Los Hercules. CEMPSA has a 20-year PPA signed with CAMMESA and 
construction started at the beginning of 2018. 

Hydro Energy 

The gross hydroelectric capacity of the Company reaches 21.5 MW and is entirely located in Italy. The hydro 
plants are situated on irrigation canals of agricultural fields, both upstream (6 Energia Italia plants and 
Restituzione) and downstream (Ivrea, Dogana and the 7th plant of Energia Italia: Cerea).  

The hydro plants suffered a -11.2% decrease in production compared to 2016 due to low flows in the associated 
canals. 

3.1.3 Future Developments 

The renewable energy business is booming worldwide, as many developing countries try to promote a sustainable 
growth. Over the last few years, the Company has made tremendous efforts to expand its presence in Africa, Asia 
and Latin America through local partnerships and the acquisition of high-potential projects.  

The Company has already secured promising projects in Europe, Africa, Latin America and Indonesia. 
Construction has started or should start during the first quarter of 2018 for more than 433 MW projects. 

The map below shows in blue the current plants which are operating or under construction. Some of the assets, for 
example in French overseas or in India, are joint ventures or associates.  

The orange areas are the countries where the Company is concentrating its development efforts. 
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3.1.4 Principal Risks and Uncertainties 

Currency and Geographical Risk 

At present, most of the  assets are denominated in Euros. However, the geographical diversification of 
the investment portfolio will lead to a different balance between Euros and other currencies. In particular, the 
proportion of USD-based assets will significantly increase over the next few years, for example with projects in 
Egypt or Argentina where PPA and financing are denominated in USD.  

The Company will continue 
denominated in the same currency as the revenues. As an exception, the Essakane financing is Euro-denominated 
whereas the PPA is in USD. The Company has contracted a tunnel option to partially cover this risk. 

Currency risk hedging instruments are also used to cover short-term operations in other currencies, namely during 
the construction phase.  

Interest Rate Risk 

Most of the s bank borrowings are variable interest loans. To reduce interest rate risk, the Company 
uses interest rate swaps on a selective basis to convert variable-rate bank borrowings into fixed-rate borrowings. 
Risk can be further reduced by entering into interest swap agreements for any additional debt contracts in place. 

The Company has limited use of derivative financial instruments, mainly represented by its interest rate swaps. 

Due to the current financial situation on the global market, and specifically the Euro market, the swap instruments 
represent liabilities for the Company, as the fixed rate is currently higher than the variable rate as per the loan 
agreement. 

Technology and Performance Risk 

These two risks are strongly correlated as poor performance usually arises from poor technical choices. To reduce 
technology risk to its minimum and to maximize performance, the Company has based its strategy on: 

- developing in-house expertise in the assessment of projects, to allow an early identification of inherent 
risks; 

- collaborating with best-in-class suppliers and contractors, with longstanding track records and ability to 
provide long-term performance warranties; 

- investing in mature technologies such as hydro, onshore wind farms and PV plants, in which the 
Management has significant experience. 

3.2 Industries Sector 

The rational use of natural resources is the worldwide economic challenge that drives the development 
of sustainable energy technologies - in French and international markets, independently or in partnership with 
leading local stakeholders.  

Confident in the efficiency of its technical solutions combined with the economic strength of its service-based 
model, the Company is seeking to position itself as the top international group devoted to natural resources 
profitability. 

It is currently developing innovative and competitive technologies in three fields: energy saving; water and waste 
treatment; and improving the safety, reliability and working life of substructures. 

 Energy-saving technologies are focused around: 

-  optimisation systems for managing cold 
storage with Fafco and Cryogel solutions;  

-  systems for managing electricity demand 
with Voltalis solutions. 

 

The Company owns the Fafco and Cryogel solutions outright and is developing them, whilst Voltalis solutions are 
developed with the support of other partners. 
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Water and waste treatment technologies are focused around: 

-  the conditioning, pre-treatment, treatment and 
recovery of household and industrial sludge with 
the SLGTM technology perfected ; 

-  water purification systems with the AquastillTM 
and EcostillTM technologies prepared by TMW;  

- the treatment and recovery of complex industrial 
waste with the SophysTM technology developed 

. 

 The safety, reliability and working life of infrastructure 
technology is focused around: 

- the optical-strand technology developed by 
Osmos. 

The performance and financial Position of the industrial sector are as follows: 
 2017 2016 

EUR EUR 
Turnover 11,350,724 12,035,116 
Operating Result (24,756,786) (40,996,064) 
Profit/(loss) before tax (25,298,875) (44,276,241) 
Profit/(loss) for the financial year (23,325,939) (43,516,912) 
   
Total Assets 62,437,476 63,341,007 
Total Liabilities 29,789,597 30,039,111 
   
Including net investment in associates and joint-ventures 85,931 92,967 

During the 2017 financial year, turnover 
was generated by each entity according to 
the graph opposite. 
turnover remains stable with a slight 
decrease of 6% compared to 2016. Among 
the  historical entities, Fafco is 
the one that achieved the most significant 
increase in its turnover: +28%, 
representing 35% of the turnover 
generated by the Industries sector. Voltalis 
achieved a significant decrease in turnover 
of 24%, representing 34% of the sector's 

increased by 38%, representing 9% of the 
total and that of TMW decreased by 11%, 
representing 5% of the total. However, 
these subsidiaries are still in a position of significant development and, consequently, do not yet generate large 
revenues. 

The activities and performance of each of the Company  

3.2.1 TMW 

Founded in 2000 and based in Paris (France), TMW designs and develops innovative treatment solutions for 
industrial waste and the desalination of sea water. The TMW range is now centred around two main product lines: 

 EcostillTM: aggressive liquid waste and toxic product treatment during industrial processes; 

 AquastillTM: sea water desalination and the generation of pure water in isolated places (for example, 
remote living areas). 
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These products use the Multi-Humidification - Dehumidification (MHD) technology held by TMW, the result of 
a 10-year R&D process. MHD is based on evaporation at low temperatures and atmospheric pressure and allows 
polluting materials to be concentrated into a limited space. Used in industrial processes, this technology helps 
users to: 

 concentrate their waste on-site and considerably reduce the volume of waste water to be treated, thereby 
generating substantial savings; 

 contribute effectively to implementing a Zero Liquid Discharge (ZLD) policy. 

rated during industrial 
processes and it produces demineralised water, which can be used by such processes.  

TMW meets the demand of a vast international customer base - primarily industry stakeholders needing to fulfil 
their liquid pollutant treatment requirements in various markets: the treatment of metallic surfaces (aeronautical 
and mechanical industries); chemical and petrochemical products; the environment (concentration of landfill 
leachate); and textiles / leather.  

Thanks to its full and integral range of services including the installation of equipment (plug and play solution), 
monitoring and maintenance, TMW is now focusing on implementing an equipment rental model. 

TMW Activities 

EcostillTM products address the aggressive and toxic liquid waste treatment market, estimated at  
2.5 million cubic metres a year and growing at a fast pace. TMW specifically targets customers in 3 key sectors: 
metallic surface treatment (for example, aerospace and car manufacturing); electronics; and pharmaceuticals / 
cosmetics. In all of these areas, operators must apply a Zero Liquid Discharge (ZLD) policy, which creates 
commercial opportunities for products featuring TMW technology. Niche markets such as hotel laundry are also 
targeted. 

EcostillTM is competing with the conventional solutions of mechanical vapour compression and heat pumps. 
However, thanks to significant cost advantages (operates at atmospheric pressure, cheap plastic design and heat 
recovery), EcostillTM is currently proving popular amongst a number of top-ranking industrial customers. 

AquastillTM products are mainly exported, in particular to Africa, as they address the market for pure water 
production in isolated areas. TMW hopes that its technology will take over from osmosis, which is currently the 
most commonly used process, due to the low level of maintenance required, its plug-and-play ease of use and its 
capability to transform water with a high load of toxic waste into drinking water. 

TMW  

Although the first contracts were difficult to finalise due to the innovative nature of the technology, these became 
benchmarks that have reassured prospective customers and have led to increased new business for TMW, 
consolidating their commercial strategy of developing with other companies. 

At the same time, TMW is offering equipment of greater capacity. Since 2017, the MHD evaporation module is 
now capable of processing up to 50 M3/day on the basis of basic modules of 2M3/day, with technical developments 
aimed at: 

 energy consumption reduction with the commissioning of the new plastic plate heat exchanger; 

 modifications to facilitate maintenance ; 

 external insulation, replacing the former expanded polypropylene cover with one made with an insulating 
textile - a cheaper and easier sourcing solution. 

All these modifications led to a reduction in manufacturing cost prices of 50% per cubic metre of processing 
capacity. 

In 2017, TMW saw its turnover decrease by 11%. The company's EBITDA decreased from -1.7m in 2016 to -
2.3m in 2017. The development planned for 2017 in connection with the ZLD policy has been frustrated by the 
existing collector/caterer players (VEOLIA, SUEZ, Chimirec...), concerned to maintain their market share. 
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Main Risks and Uncertainties 

reasingly strict environmental policies and regulations, as well as the general 
market trend. However, certain factors may hinder development: 

 l ; 

 obligation for potential customers to go through a rigorous and drawn-out regulatory process before 
 - for example, in France this involves several administrative bodies, 

including the DREAL (French Environment and Housing Directorate); 

 the TMW solution does not , so investment decisions may take time 
or be delayed; 

 e , but this risk is mitigated by TMW 
concentrating on high-growth industry. 

Future TMW Developments 

TMW aims to continue its repositioning as a specialist supplier of pure equipment in water treatment solutions and 
has redefined its technical offer to adapt to this new role, pursuing its implementation with key accounts. 

An action plan was launched in 2018 to boost development in China by focusing on 3 objectives: 

 Commercial: an investigation of the Chinese market in 2017 highlighted the following points: 

 A stated willingness of the Chinese government to impose strict environmental standards on 
industrialists, under penalty of closing companies; 

 The absence of organized and efficient collection channels; 

 Treatment costs representing 5 to 10 times the European costs, as a result of the previous point. 
This level allows for much higher selling prices than Europe. 

 The absence of Chinese or European competitors with strong and recognized positions.  

These findings were validated by participation in the Shanghai Surface Treatment Exhibition in 
November 2017. 

 Reduction of purchasing costs: to avoid dissuasive import taxes (22%), TMW has initiated a local 
sourcing process of all components. After analysis, a significant proportion of the components will be 
supplied in China, with prices significantly lower than European costs (50%). 

 Participation in TMW France's overhead costs: to preserve the company's know-how, the teams in 
China will be limited to the sales and production forces (subcontracted assembly). Technical support will 
be provided by French resources. 

3.2.2 Or ge 

Founded in 2005, Or ge is an international company comprising two sites in France (Voisins-Le Bretonneux close 
to Paris and La Duranne close to Marseille), one site in the USA (Atlanta) and one in the United Kingdom (close 
to Birmingham). Or ge designs, develops, industrialises and sells solutions using two unique innovative and 
patented technologies that result from a ten-year R&D process: 

- : technology for treating and processing sludge. The SLG process creates an immediate and clean 
separation of the phases (Solid, Liquid and Gas) by acting on the making it thicken 
faster, improving dewatering and drainage. It also allows a high-quality filtrate to be generated; 

- -biodegradable waste. It is based 
particularly on the combination of an Advanced Oxidation Process (AOP), hydrodynamic functions and 
the separation of the solid and liquid phases. 

Or operators, industrial and local government customers cheaper treatment 
solutions that offer better compliance with new environmental and societal regulation requirements. 

These solutions represent real alternatives in places where conventional solutions have become too expensive, are 
incapable of meeting the required performance level or have reached their technological limits. 
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Or ge is a cleantech company with an international dimension, specialising in the development, manufacture and 
marketing of solutions for the treatment of municipal and industrial sludge and complex effluents. It supports 
customers in around ten countries from its sites in France, the United States and England. 

The company is in the development phase and its commercial and industrial activities are beginning to gain 
momentum. After the completion of Eren's friendly takeover operation and the resulting changes in governance, 
it began to address targeted foreign markets. 

 

The SLG technology has been rewarded with an honorary distinction in the Breakthrough Technology section at 
the 2016 Global Water Intelligence Awards. 

development in several countries targeted as priorities. 

In the United States of America, Or ge 
dewatering: 

- one was installed and delivered during the autumn of 2017 at the Gloucester County Utilities Authority 
(GCUA) processing plant in New Jersey;  

- three were installed in the city of Deland, near Orlando, Florida, mostly by 31 December 2017 with full 
completion in the first months of 2018. 

These two contracts represent a turnover of more than EUR 550,000 in 2017. 

In December 2017, Or ge signed its second contract in New Jersey with Two Rivers Water Reclamation Authority 

2017, and with the municipality of Gresham (Oregon), recently announced, are expected to be executed and 
completed in the first semester of 2018. 

In Germany, Or ge has successfully started its commercial development, completing the acceptance and delivery 

solutions are offered under a 4-year lease and service agreement representing more than EUR 400,000 in revenue 
from 2018. At the same time, Or ge began to structure a team with local consultants for sales and project 
management. 

In the United Kingdom, after a presentation by Anglian Water in November 2017 at the European Biosolids 

solutions for sludge thickening and dewatering) are being discussed with several British water companies.  

Total operating expenses were down 33% compared to the previous year.  This change is explained (i) by the 
rationalization of the  organizational structure in 2017 to reduce its financing requirements until 
commercial activity increases significantly, and (ii) by the recognition in 2016 of an impairment provision related 

-
current operating expenses). 

Or ge is mainly funded by financing the group in capital and loans (following its acquisition by the Company), 
but also by government grants for R&D expenditure. 

Main Risks and Uncertainties 

The risks associated with Or :  

- risk linked to technological progress and alternative solutions; 

Or  success rests on cutting-edge technologies and their continued development. To maintain 
competitiveness, Or ge manages this risk by monitoring the technical changes occurring in this fast-
moving market. New alternative solutions may be introduced in competing markets creating further risk. 

- risk linked to the results and delays of industry surveys and tests; 

Or ge usually has to prepare launch trials and in-situ tests before entering into business with its partners. 
These procedures constitute expenses and do not always translate into contracts with partners. This risk 
is expected to disappear with the growth of Or ge and of its renown among its major customers. 

- risk linked to contracts dependent on reaching certain performance criteria; 
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- risk linked to the cost of solutions related to design and construction; 

- risk linked to supplier and subcontractor shortcomings; 

- risk linked to failed customer cooperation; 

- risk linked to the solution failing to perform; 

- risk linked to the environmental impact of solutions implemented on high-risk Seveso sites. 

Future Or ge Developments 
Or ge has strong development potential in the four countries which have been targeted as international priorities 
(USA, Canada, United Kingdom and Germany). New contracts are expected to be signed and executed during 
2018. 

Research and Development Activities 

Or research and development are key to the Company ongoing objective, which aims to conserve natural 
resources through innovation and solutions that meet new environmental and industrial requirements. 

3.2.3 Fafco 

Founded in 1981 and based in Bienne (Switzerland), Fafco is a specialist in the design, manufacture, installation 
and maintenance of cold production and storage systems, as well as water heating systems for the real estate, 
industrial and commercial sectors. 

a Cold Production and Ice Storage 

Fafco's ice storage technology allows its customers to make substantial savings on their energy costs by optimizing 
their production and refrigeration management processes. Fafco's solution offers different cost-saving levers 
depending on the application, whether for air-conditioning or commercial or industrial refrigeration: 

- cold storage is used to cover peak cooling requirements. The power of the associated refrigeration units 
can therefore be reduced, lowering the cost of all auxiliaries (cooling towers) and the electrical 
connection; 

- the cooling power provided by the storage is adjustable in real time and simplifies regulation, does not 
overproduce or overconsume cold, avoids partial loads and machine start-ups. The refrigeration plant 
therefore requires less maintenance and equipment renewal; 

- cold can be produced taking advantage of low electricity rates or lower outdoor temperatures at night, 
generating energy savings. It can also make it possible to erase the electricity consumption required for 
the production of cold for a few hours; 

- electricity consumption can be reduced and is cheaper; 

- the maintenance of the storage is low compared to that of a cooling unit. Refrigerant gases with high 
greenhouse gas potential are increasingly subject to taxes and permits. The use of storage reduces the size 
of the groups and therefore their gas volume; 

- storage provides flexibility and security in the supply of cold. It can therefore replace other safety systems 
(electrical generator, production overcapacity) and can help reduce the workload of operating teams; 

- storage used to recover cold or optimize a cold production line saves energy; 

- in refrigeration networks, storage is essential to cover peak consumption without oversizing the entire 
system. 

With more than 1350 systems installed in nearly 25 countries, Fafco has a significant global reputation, particularly 
in sectors such as food, pharmaceuticals, chemicals, office buildings and conference rooms. 

Historically based on a traditional installation-sales business model, Fafco now focuses its efforts on the 
development of turnkey solutions, leasing, remote monitoring and maintenance contracts. 

b Water Heating 

Fafco manufactures plastic solar panels for water heating. Used alone, they are the most efficient way to heat 
swimming pools. Coupled with a heat pump, they recover solar energy and heat from the air to produce DHW or 
heated water. Fafco's technology can meet the heating needs of buildings, as well as a wide range of industrial 



EREN Groupe S.A.
Management Report 2017

 
 

20 

processes at a fraction of the cost of traditional heating systems. It can be deployed in a variety of geographical 
areas, including cold climates if the solar conditions are favourable. 

For its Swimming Pool business, Fafco historically sells through wholesalers, mainly in Europe. The 
DHW/Heating activity, which was developed in the 1980s and then abandoned, is currently being launched. To 
begin with Fafco is installing its own projects, and then will develop a network of partner installers, starting in 
France. In the past this solution was marketed mainly in Sweden, where Fafco had a leading partner shareholder 
in the business. 

Thanks to its proprietary technology and global focus, Fafco is particularly well positioned to benefit from the 
growth of the global energy efficiency market, which has a total volume of billions of dollars. 

Fafco  

Fafco is a stakeholder in two main markets:  

a Cold Production and Ice Storage 

of energy tariff policies as well as differences in electricity production/consumption balances, focus on 
refrigeration equipment performance or on the capacity to adopt alternative technologies. Fafco was able to 
successfully develop its skills in navigating the subtleties of the market and adapt its approach for each country. 

Regardless of the possible particularities, Fafco can count on strong underlying world market trends which support 
the development of solutions that improve grid stability such as storage: 

 the growing share of intermittent renewable energies in electricity generation; 

 the constant imbalance in generation and power supply in developing countries; 

 the ageing of electricity generation and grid capacities. 

To benefit from these developing markets, Fafco has devised a range based on turnkey solutions that covers wholly 
profitable heat and cold services, combined with finance systems with a view to maximising return on investment. 

-faceted approach in a handful of pilot countries, namely 
Switzerland, Germany and the France. 

b Water Heating 

Fafco is tackling a vast global market, as water heating needs are universal in commercial and industrial buildings 
around the world, along with the need to make energy savin
potential for expansion is huge. 

Fafco  

Turnover increased from EUR 3.1m to EUR 4m (28%) during 2017, which can be attributed to the new sales force 
for generation and ice storage. 

EBITDA amounts to EUR -0.9m which increased by EUR 0.1m compared to last year. The increase in staff costs 
was offset by the improvement of operational performance (cost control, revenue growth).  

During 2017, the Company moved to France (Dijon) to reduce the fixed cost base. Fafco's Swiss plant ceased 
production at the end of September 2017. The dismantling of the workshops (2500 m2 including  
800 m2 of plastic workshop) began in early October 2017. The transfer of the machines took place between 
October and December. The workshops were mostly reassembled by the end of 2017, and fitting-out work 
continued until March 2018. The adjustment and fine-tuning phase of the production line was spread over the first 
quarter of 2018, in parallel with the upgrading to French and European standards. 

Most of Fafco's workforce in Switzerland (production, assembly, design and administration) did not follow the 
move to France. Only the early hiring of French employees made it possible to maintain a certain continuity  
(one production manager, one engineer and one technician were hired one year before the move, and two 
production operators were hired three months before). However, the move did not have any impact on the sales 
forces working at their home office. 

The impact on Fafco's business was significant, as after the fourth quarter of 2017, there was no production. On 
the other hand, the assembly work at the customers' premises continued, without any significant disruptions. The 
positive impact on the Company's performance will be more noticeable for Fafco France in 2018; when the 



EREN Groupe S.A.
Management Report 2017

 
 

21 

objective will be to rebuild a complete, competent and stable team over time, while completing the upgrading of 
the 40-year-old production line. 

Main Risks and Uncertainties 

The main ident  

- the potential emergence of new competitors or the strengthening of existing ones in the cold storage 
sector. These could be niche players wishing to expand their market or already established ones deciding 
to strengthen their positions through alliances or strategic changes. In the longer term, Asian companies 
could launch as soon as market volume is sufficient, a scenario that should not occur for another 3 or 4 
years; 

- the potential emergence of disruptive technologies that could impact the Fafco ecosystem, such as very 
cheap or efficient refrigeration units or electric batteries. To remain at the forefront, Fafco must follow 
these solutions, join forces with the most innovative players and continue to gain in competitiveness; 

- the potential consequences of currency fluctuations, macro political or economic problems, which could 
affect Fafco like any other entity operating on a global scale. 

Future Fafco Developments 

Commercially, the objective is to strengthen our international position while changing scale in our domestic 
market, first in France and then in Europe. To this end, the head of the French-speaking market will become head 
of France and the French overseas departments and territories, and the hiring of two new sales representatives will 
make it possible to better cover Europe and the Maghreb. South-East Asia, a vast market with a high demand for 
air-conditioning and refrigeration systems, will be developed jointly by two sales representatives to quickly 
identify the most promising opportunities. Each sales representative will be responsible for developing technical 
expertise in specific applications of our solutions, to improve our marketing approach and reactivity in each sector.   

Research and Development at Fafco 

Technically, the upgrading of the production line and the renewal of the team will enable the many innovative 
projects that Fafco has had planned for years to proceed. Tests of new plastic and phase change materials, 
simplified tank design, complete hot and cold solution designs, development of control systems and remote 
monitoring are some of the areas of work to be developed over 2018 and 2019:  

- developing cold storage systems with varied PCM freezing points to adapt to different market needs 
(agro-food and air-conditioning); 

- developing full turnkey solutions for cold production and storage, as well as the smallest systems to rival 
products available in retail stores; 

- developing better monitoring and control systems; 

- developing large steel tanks to house bigger heat exchangers; 

- developing new solar energy panel colours to help buildings blend in better; 

- improving the thermal conductivity of the polymers Fafco uses. 

3.2.4 Cryogel 

In February 2016, the Company acquired Cryogel S.A. via Fafco. Cryogel specialises in the design, manufacture, 
installation and maintenance of cold production and storage systems, as well as water heating systems for real 
estate, industrial and commercial sectors. 

 

Cryogel has developed a product protected by a patent registered in  
 9 countries (Europe, Iran, Malaysia, Japan, India, South Korea, China, Brazil, USA) called Ice Container, which 
has 2 main uses:  

- The Ice Spray system is an original encapsulated ice storage system that works by spraying glycol water 
on the Ice Containers. Heat exchange is achieved by cooling and heating the Ice Containers, alternately 
freezing or thawing the water contained in the capsules ; 
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- The Ice Containers Immersed system works by filling a tank with Ice Containers in a mixture of glycol 
water. Refrigeration compressors freeze the water contained in the Ice Containers. The glycol water, 
cooled by the frozen Ice Containers, is used in the cooling systems and then re-injected into the tank, 
melting the ice contained in the Ice Containers. 

These systems are used to reduce the cooling capacity normally required by an air-conditioned building, without 
affecting the level of comfort in the building. Generally, refrigeration energy is stored at night (when electricity 
prices are low) and used during the day (when electricity prices are higher) instead of or simultaneously with 
cooling systems. 

Used in combination with the centralized refrigeration production plant that supplies large buildings or chilled 
water distribution networks, these systems affect the following parameters: 

- the dimensions of cooling systems (air conditioning units), which can be greatly reduced while increasing 
their power; 

- electrical energy consumption, that can be spread over 24 hours and/or stopped during peak hours; 

- production reliability, which is improved due to a double supply (Coolers & Storage). 

To develop activity in its target markets, Cryogel has two subsidiaries in Singapore and Malaysia. 

Cryogel Performance and Position 

The turnover generated by Cryogel for the year 2017 amounts to EUR 235k. The EBITDA amount to EUR (438k) 
for the same period. 

Cryogel has developed a manufacturing model that allows it to be established in any country, significantly reducing 
manufacturing and transport costs, making the product very competitive. 

Main Risks and Uncertainties 

The main risks associated with : 

 the potential emergence of new competitors in the cold storage sector, which range from very small, 
specialised stakeholders to large international companies trying to expand their product reach;  

 the potential emergence of disruptive technologies that could impact on the Cryogel ecosystem, such as 
more profitable refrigeration systems/lower consumption or more effective electrical energy storage 
solutions; 

 fluctuations in the exchange rate may affect Cryogel, as they would any company operating globally.  

Future Cryogel Developments 

Cryogel is looking to implement their products in the following areas: 

- commercial buildings (offices, shopping centres, airports, banks, universities, etc.); 

- district cooling - ice water loops around major cities are increasingly being installed across the world, 
requiring large-capacity storage facilities for which the Cryogel system is particularly well suited; 

- gas turbines - Cryogel's Ice Turboost system increases turbine power by up to 30% by cooling the air at 
the turbine inlet.  

The locations targeted for development are: 

- South East Asia (Malaysia, Indonesia, Japan, Korea) 

- Middle East (UAE, Saudi Arabia) 

- Europe 

- West Africa 

- India 

Research and Development at Cryogel 

Cryogel has studied several possible developments using Ice Containers, for example the Rolltainer and the ISAC. 
These systems will have to be the subject of industrial prototypes, tested before being launched on the market. 
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3.2.5 Osmos 

Created in 2001 and based in Paris, OSMOS is a pioneer in surveillance engineering used during the construction, 
maintenance and restoration of buildings and structures. OSMOS is present in a dozen countries with subsidiaries 
in France, Belgium, Greece, and Finland and partnerships in Italy, Turkey, Saudi Arabia, Russia, Taiwan, Japan, 
Hong Kong and Canada. 

OSMOS offers its customers innovative solutions to monitor the health of their structures. Thanks to a turnkey 
system based on optical fibre 
peace of mind and allowing long-term maintenance budgets to be optimised. 

This system could be applied across a large variety of sectors, bringing benefits to four key areas - building work, 
allaying doubt, managing crises (post-landslide, earthquake, flooding, fire, etc.) and in the constantly changing 
field of preventive maintenance. 

In short, by offering customers a clear view of the state of their optical fibre sensor 
technology allows them to sustainably manage their building projects and carry out the right work at the right time, 
thus avoiding unnecessary expense. 

Optical Strands are high-precision sensors that measure the deformation between two points in micrometric 
resolution. The main advantage of these sensors is that they operate without dead time and they are also 
synchronised.  Dynamic events can therefore be monitored with a measurement frequency of up to 100 Hz. If no 
dynamic events occur, the dynamic measurements are averaged over 10 minutes to obtain a static measurement. 

 

Thanks to the use of optical fibre 
collect real behavioural data continuously. In contrast to traditional methods, which only give a partial and punctual 
overview, this Osmos value proposition is based on a unique technological foundation divided into two ranges: 

-  the OASYS Expert Acquisition System - a monitoring station accessible remotely through the Internet, 
it collects data from various sensors at a frequency of 100 Hz in real time and without dead time. In 
addition to the Optical Strings, this station integrates all the sensors available on the market 
(extensometers, inclinometers, etc.) and automatically transmits all data automatically via the integrated 
3G modem. In 2018 Osmos launched the new version (V5.2) of its OASYS station, which features 
improved hardware and software components. 

- the LIRIS - -station. 
As with the OASYS station, it continuously records the structural deformations of the elements to which 
it is attached. Measurements are made at a frequency of 50 Hz to capture the effect of dynamic stresses 
on the structure (vehicle traffic, impacts, etc.). If there is no dynamic load, the measurement is performed 
once an hour to define a so-called static measurement. Each LIRIS also includes a temperature sensor, 
making it possible to correlate structural deformations considering this factor and therefore distinguish 
natural deformations of the structure from those related to external stresses. The data recorded by LIRIS 
is returned in the form of synthetic reports containing the precise deformations of the instrumented 
structures and the correlation with thermal variations.  

Osmos' four-point development strategy is as follows: 

- Offer a quality service with a range of calibrated and certified products for monitoring the behaviour of 
structures (OASYS V5.2 wireline products and LIRIS wireless products). In 2017, Osmos completed an 
important phase of its technological development by rationalizing its product catalogue with sensor 
ranges whose performance and reliability have been improved. 

- Develop large projects based on key accounts and key geographies, with clients who have several 
structural assets (e.g. bridge fleet). The addition of technology partners will be a particularly effective 
offer for clients in problem areas (e.g. earthquake). 

 In 2017, Osmos was awarded major contracts with motorway concessionaires in France and 
Italy. These first contracts will allow Osmos to further assert its credibility as a leader in the 
field of Structural Health Monitoring (SHM) in the important domain of bridge monitoring, for 
which major developments are expected in 2018. 

 During the same period, Osmos set up a strategic alliance with San Lien Technology, a 
Taiwanese leader in geotechnical monitoring. 
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- Develop services in the field of intelligent data (these decision support tools are supported by engineering, 
mathematical and statistical analyses of structures) which are integrated into a software suite (SAFE 

him with the information 
required for the structural management of these assets. In 2017, Osmos completed the development of: 

 the SAFE V1 software suite with various automatic calculation modules, in particular an 
algorithm for correcting deformation data due to temperature effects; 

 the SAFE WiM+D Weigh-in-Motion moving weighing module, a very competitive and non-
intrustive software (compared to other systems) for monitoring heavy goods vehicles on 
motorway bridges. 

- Strengthen R&D efficiency and supply chain optimization by reducing the organization's overheads 
including R&D costs, optimize the supply and production service to proactively support business 
development, and achieve a minimum 25% reduction in product costs. In 2017, Osmos rationalized its 
supply chain by closing the Bezon facility and outsourcing its logistics. In addition, partnership contracts 
have been set up with the main subcontractors, particularly for the production of OASYS V5.2 stations. 

Osmos  

The Company has had a stake in Osmos since its creation. It has always been consolidated on an equity basis and 
since 2016 has been fully consolidated. 

Over the course of 2017, Osmos generated a EUR 1.620k turnover and an EBITDA of EUR (3.282k). 

Osmos has EUR 2.8m of tangible assets of which EUR 2.6m of assets correspond to the production value of the 
OASYS and LIRIS devices leased to customers. 

Some R&D spending has been capitalised, notably a EUR 500k sum to redesign integrated software. 

Main Risks and Uncertainties 

The main risks associated with : 

 the potential emergence of new competitors in the structural surveillance sector, which range from 
smaller, specialised stakeholders to large international companies trying to expand their product (e.g. Six 
Sense by the VINCI Group); 

 the huge emergence of companies analysing data (data analytics, machine learning, AI and Big Data), 
from industrial facilities, building and infrastructure for the monitoring and maintenance of structural 
assets; 

 ess in picking up major customers (with active client bases such as APRR in France, 
Arcelor Mittal around the world, Lafarge Holcim in Switzerland, ASPI in Italy and NEXCO in Japan) by 
offering them a range of services (with detailed and operational information services) with an undeniable 
return on investment. 

Research and Development at Osmos 

OSMOS is completing: 

- certification on all products sold by OSMOS in accordance with the new (European) RED and national 
regulations in target countries (particularly Japan); 

- development of its (wired) data acquisition expert station OASYS (V5.2), which will be on sale from 
mid-October 2017; 

- development of its new wireless Bluetooth low energy connected device LIRIS for market release in 
spring 2018; 

- the release to mar
manage monitoring with LIRIS. The full version will be released in spring 2018; 

- the integration of various mathematical algorithms to the cloud (server) for in-depth analysis of 
information collated by OSMOS sensors, which will provide customers with useful information about 
the monitoring of their structural assets. 
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Future Osmos Developments 

Market analysis encourages further technical developments of (mini) wireless acquisition and processing stations, 
powered by rechargeable batteries, that can communicate or pre-process a large amount of data and send the result. 
Osmos will also expand its offering to improve its strategic positioning in high-potential application segments, 
launching the development of complementary sensors for its LIRIS range (Dual axis inclinometer, magnetic 
extensometer, accelerometer). These products which are compatible with BLE technology will be an excellent 
addition to its catalogue of competitive solutions. 

The development of algorithms and models will have to be accelerated to provide customers with specific facts 
for decision-making in terms of preventive and predictive maintenance. 

The continuation of these various developments, as well as the implementation of an ambitious and targeted 
commercial strategy (Key Accounts that operate hundreds of bridges) should enable Osmos to write a new page 
in its evolution, and to become the world leader in this field. 

3.3 Sport Sector 

The TETC tennis academy, founded in 1997, is dedicated to training elite tennis players. Thanks to the reputation 
of its founder, Patrick Mouratoglou, it has attracted professional tennis players such as Novak Djokovic, Serena 

David Goffin. Initially based in Montreuil (Paris 
suburbs) and then in Thiverval Grignon, it is now located in Biot (Sophia Antipolis). The new academy was opened 
on the 19th September 2016 with the generous 
patronage of the best players in the world, 
Serena Williams and Novak Djokovic. 

The Company 
existing infrastructure by offering a new 
complex to welcome students for a whole year. The renovated complex comprises a hotel/restaurant with a spa 
and two swimming pools, 34 tennis courts and several outdoor padel courts, a fitness centre with indoor and 
outdoor swimming pools, a restaurant, a bar, a shop selling tennis items, a first-class medical center, meeting 
rooms and a lounge for hosting seminars and VIPs. The complex also includes the necessary infrastructure to 
welcome students with a new academy and a boarding house. 

3.3.1 Sporting Activities 

r. 

The tennis school offers a week of intensive tennis, weekend training or a year-round tennis school for future stars. 
The average age of students at the school is 14. The tennis academy relies on tennis players from around the world 
with more than 35 nationalities represented - on average 20% are French and 80% international players. The fitness 
center is a secondary activity and has around 2,000 members. The hotel and restaurant are partly occupied by the 
tennis students and their families. The rest is made up by business customers and seminars. 

The Biot tennis academy is one of the best in the world
players, and most of its pupils are ready to enter American universities.  

In 2017 : 

- there were 166 sports studies students (2016: 64), of whom 135 studied tennis. Of these 166 students, 95 
were there the previous year and 70 were newly enrolled; 

- of these 166 students, 6 are pro team players and 4 are school-based. Pro team players are very high-level 
with the potential to be among the top 500 performers in the world; 

- 3,031 tennis coaching courses were given over the year (2016:2,752), 601 to adults (384 tennis coaching 
and 217 weekend courses);  

- the multi-sport club had 689 members at the end of the year (2016: 34), 382 for the fitness centres, 82 for 
tennis and 85 for full access. 

These figures should continue to rise in the future. 
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3.3.2 Performance and Position 

The performance and financial Position of the Sport sector are as follows: 
 2017 2016 

EUR EUR 
Turnover 18,757,942 11,802,260 
Operating Result (5,116,466) (6,690,556) 
Profit/(loss) before tax (6,931,501) (9,056,769) 
Profit/(loss) for the financial year (7,550,172) (8,219,279) 
   
Total Assets 96,448,033 102,551,269 
Total Liabilities 34,568,097 36,857,560 

The Company has significantly increased its total assets in the Sport sector through the continued development of 
the Biot academy. 

Turnover increased by EUR 7m during the year 2017 as a result of the reopening of the hotel following a period 
of closure for renovation (EUR +4,4m). There was also an increase in revenue generated by the tennis academy's 
activities (EUR +1.4m). 

The operating result improved compared to 2016 by EUR 1.5m. EBITDA also increased by EUR 2.4m. 

3.3.3 Main Risks and Uncertainties linked to Sport 

The Sport sector is facing several risks and uncertainties: 

 r ; 

damage to this would 
have serious repercussions on the number of students and people taking weekly courses. The Company 
is constantly working with its trainers to maintain a very high-level of performance. 

 risks linked to meteorological conditions; 

The Company decided to move its current tennis academy from the Paris region to the South of France, 
as its new location on the French Riviera means that it now enjoys 320 days of sunshine a year. They also 
built shaded open-air courts to allow tennis to be played over the hottest period of the year. 

 uncertainties linked to improving the Biot academy; 

There is a risk that improvements made at the Biot academy might not lead to the expected increase in 
demand for weekly coaching and bursaries for young athletes. This uncertainty could have serious 

re, as large sums have been committed to making 
these improvements. 

3.3.4 Future Developments in Sport 

The Thiverval site has now been returned to a sports club configuration, with a fitness focus, added to which are 
two swimming pools and several tennis courts. An extension with a golf course is part of the medium-term plan. 

The new tennis academy in Biot has been operational since the 1st July 2016 and its structure should only see 
marginal adjustments. The objective is now to use the facilities to full capacity and develop events that earn the 
site visibility and prestige, such as the first APT Verrazzano tournament that took place in April 2017. 
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3.4 Other 

This sector pools the available funds that finance the three main activities: Energy, Industries and 
Sport. 

The Company diversifies its funds in several investments that are primarily: listed and unlisted long-term 
investments; short-term listed investments; and real-estate investments. 

The performance and financial Position for this Other sector are as follows: 
 2017 2016 

EUR EUR 
Turnover 2,373,238 382,619 
Operating Result (10,057,844) (8,959,907) 
Profit/(loss) before tax 11,566,115 (5,651,509) 
Profit/(loss) for the financial year 11,022,444 (12,021,321) 
   
Total Assets 318,589,945 340,689,766 
Total Liabilities 28,328,984 34,130,916 

During 2017, the Company finalised the sale of the Ponthieu building. The turnover generated by this building 
during 2017 amounts to EUR 205k. 

Revenues, excluding discontinued operations, mainly consist of invoicing for management services and for the 
sale of properties held for sale. 

Gains resulting from short-term investments are recorded in financial income. Gains from long-term investments 
are recognized in financial income on disposal of investments, and if unrealized, gains are recognized in other 
comprehensive income. 

Assets are divided between the investment types as follows: 

 

 

2017 2016 

EUR EUR 

Long-term investments 82,405,843 93,508,260 
Short-term equity investments 141,144,593 166,176,806 
Real estate assets 996,346 15,670,685 
Cash and deposits 54,486,170 26,932,372 
Other 39,556,993 38,401,643  

318,589,945 340,689,766 

 

3.4.1 Long-term Investments 

The  long-term investments are classed in three categories: investments in associates and joint ventures; 
loans and receivables; and available-for-sale financial assets. 

The division of investments by category is as follows: 
 2017 2016 

EUR EUR 
Investment in associates and joint ventures 2,765,904 2,387,954 
Loans and receivables 2,988,889 11,714,542 
Available-for-sale financial assets and other financial assets 76,651,050 79,405,764  

82,405,843 93,508,260 

The Company holds stakes where it exerts particular influence on operations and financial decisions through its 
presence on the Investment Management Board. These investments are further specified and analysed, as follows. 

The Company has provided funding for these investments, which is included in Loans and receivables. 

Available-for-sale and other financial assets represent investments held for long-term purposes in funds and small 
private companies. These are further specified and analysed, as follows. 
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Associates and Joint-Ventures 

Investments in associates and joint ventures represent private investments in the following entities: 
 2017 2016 

EUR EUR 
Bois Fleuri SA 1,758,666 2,387,954 
Eco Chic LLC 1,007,238 11,714,542 
Infralion DGGN SAS - 79,405,764  

2,765,904 93,508,260 

Bois Fleuri manages a 5-star campsite and a residential leisure resort in the South of France. Eco Chic is a 
cosmetics retail company specialising in organic beauty products. Infralion manages a real-estate investment. 

Over the course of 2017, the Company recorded a loss of EUR 3,385,215 stemming from its stake in associates 
and joint ventures (2016: EUR 323.768 of losses). 

These losses result mainly from the adjustment to fair value of the building held by Infralion DGGN and losses 
incurred by Eco Chic for the continued development of its retail activities through the opening of new points of 
sale. Eco Chic also had to face the sudden death of its creator, resulting in a delay in the development and 
reorganization of the management. 

This situation should continue in future years as long as the level of development of Eco Chic's points of sale does 
not make it possible to absorb the costs of setting up new stores. 

Available-For-Sale Financial Assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets primarily represent investments in unlisted investments. Likewise, the 
Company has also made investments in listed shares. The largest investments managed by the Company are 
detailed as follows: 

 2017 2016 
EUR % EUR % 

Socotec 12,445,015 16% 8,473,774 11% 
NovEnergia II 9,506,163 12% 9,818,531 12% 
Five Arrows Principal Investments International Feeder II 8,761,317 11% 9,816,305 12% 
Five Arrows Principal Investments International II SCSp 6,519,378 9% 2,279,317 3% 
MI Homair Vacances FPCI 5,822,150 8% 6,659,735 8% 
Montefiore Investment III 4,838,555 6% 5,567,690 7% 
Qumra Capital I 2,983,310 4% 2,384,272 3% 
Nautilus Co-Invest 2,522,101 3% 2,324,550 3% 
Editura Adevarul 2,252,675 3% 2,210,912 3% 
QS Donuts 2,062,925 3% 2,099,432 3% 
Gryphon 3-5 Capital 1,844,387 2% 3,359,446 4% 
QS Direct SI 1,618,815 2% 2,199,325 3% 
PAI Europe VI SCSP 1,571,756 2% 806,828 1% 
PAI Europe VI FPCI 1,546,751 2% 1,065,335 1% 
I-Ten 1,499,993 2% - 0% 
Five Arrows Secondary Opportunities III Feeder 1,189,472 2% 1,576,108 2% 
Winch Capital 3 FPCI 905,867 1% 494,809 1% 
Truffle Capital II 900,849 1% 1,186,358 1% 
Next World Capital II LP 722,829 1% 905,711 1% 
La maison 667,581 1% 667,581 1% 
Oceanshore Ventures - 0% 2,987,600 4% 
Fleet Topco - 0% 2,771,605 3% 
Bioclimatic Building Construction Galaxidi LLC - 0% 1,152,034 1% 
Other 2,175,083 3% 2,230,286 3% 
     
Total unlisted capital investment 72,356,972 94% 73,037,544 91% 
     
Attica Bank 304,167 1% 241,667 1% 
Equipe de France 3,989,911 5% 6,126,553 8% 
     
Total available-for-sale financial assets 76,651,050 100% 79,405,764 100% 
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The Company
investments in funds and small private businesses. These can be divided 
by the nature of the investment as shown in the graph below. 

In relation to available-for-sale financial assets, the Group recorded EUR 
22,046,940 as of the 31st December 2017 (2016: EUR 15,633,676). Over 
the course of 2017, the Company recorded net recoveries on available-
for-sale securities on the reserve of EUR 6,518,021 and the reserve on the 
profit and loss account was reclassified as EUR 31,459. 

 

3.4.2 Long-term Investment in Securities 

During the course 2017, the Company recorded an overall net profit on its securities investment portfolio of  
EUR 17,167,820 (2016: EUR 4,745.851). 

The net profit includes profits and losses stemming from divesture of investment, re-evaluation at fair value and 
investment dividends. 

3.4.3 Real-estate Assets 

During the course 2017, the Company sold its remaining investment property located in Paris. Following this sale, 
their real-estate is mainly represented by a building located in Germany (Hagen), two unallocated plots in France 
and two apartments in Greece (Athens). 

The Company also owns several properties (included in their inventory) built or renovated for the sole purpose of 
selling them. This stock represents properties located mainly in Luxembourg, France and Greece. 

Hagen 

The Company acquired the Hagen property, comprising of 14 individual flats and a retail area, in 2009 for EUR 
542k. 

It was in a very poor state and complete renovation was necessary, so the Company has committed EUR 2m since 
its acquisition. 

Renovation works were finished in 2013. 

In 2016, the Company . From 31st December 2017, all the 
apartments and the commercial space were rented. 

Luxembourg 

The Company acquired parts of the Embassy of France in Luxembourg city for EUR 3.7m over the course of 2016. 
The property comprises four plots including office space and flats covering a total of  

Leases were finalised in the first quarter of 2017 to allow for a full renovation of the building. 

The first lot was sold on 2 th April 
2018 for EUR 925,000. 

3.4.1 Main Risks and Uncertainties  

The  main risks and uncertainties associated with the Other sector relate to the valuation of these 
investments. 

Quoted investments are mainly listed on the French Stock Exchange, for which the risks are linked to changes in 
the French market. 

The main real-estate investments are located in Paris, the valuation of which is strongly linked to the Paris market 
for office real-estate. 
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4 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT  

esearch and development activities contribute towards their ongoing objective of preserving 
natural resources, thanks to innovative solutions designed to meet new environmental and industrial requirements.  

The Company is committed to the existing 
technologies and investment in the identification of new and more effective alternatives. 

5 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The financial assets and liabilities are mainly made up of the following: 

 Assets: cashflow, commercial and other amounts owing, investments and listed and unlisted loans; 

 Liabilities: loans and credit, commercial and other debts and swap instruments. 

The Company prudently uses derivative financial instruments, in the form of interest rate swaps. 

Company policy is to invest available resources via its Other sector, and to maximise returns to finance activities 
in the three primary segments. 

The Company has several bank loans based on variable interest rates and it hedges the variable interest rate risk 
by using swap instruments. Due to the current worldwide financial Position, and the Euro market in particular, 
swap instruments represent liabilities for the Company, as the fixed rate is currently higher than the variable rate 
according to the loan contract. 

It has also entered into a call and put option agreement on the shares of Total Eren Holding with Total. These 
options are exercisable in 2023. 

6 POST-CLOSING EVENTS 
The s significant post-closing events are as follows: 

6.1 Greece Xerodima 

The 9 MW PV solar plant started production end of March 2018. 

6.2 Burkina Faso  Essakane Solar 

 
of Burkina Faso and other members of its Government, as well as representatives of local communities.  

  
the Essakane Solar project. 

6.3 Brazil  BJL 11 

The 25 MW solar plant started production in April 2018. 

6.4 Brazil  BJL 4 

BJL4, the twin of BJL11, is also a 25 MW solar plant located in the Bahia area. It was acquired by the Company 
in January 2018 and benefits from a 20-year PPA (2nd 2015 Brazilian Reserve Energy Auction).  

The construction of BJL 4 started in February 2018. It will connect with the BJL 11 sub-station. 
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6.5 Australia 

The Company is actively developing a 240 MW PV farm named Kiamal Solar Farm, located north of the Ouyen 
township in North-West Victoria, approximately 400 km north-west of Melbourne. On
largest solar farm. 

The project has a high-quality offtake contracting structure with different creditworthy counterparties, such as 
Meridian Energy Australia, and different offtake types (Energy-only, LGC-only or Bundled).  

6.6 Puyloubier 

The debt of the Puyloubier PV plant has been refinanced in April 2018 with BPI Financement. The 6.5 MW plant 
was commissioned in November 2010 and benefits from a 20 years PPA. Refinancing reduces the debt cost by 
more than 300 bps, extends the maturity and releases distribution constraints which will enable optimized cash 
pooling. 

 

 

 

Luxembourg, 5th October 2018 

Director 
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As of the 31st December 2017, the members of the Managing Board are as follows: 

 

Managing Board: Pierre Dagallier (Chairman) 

 Alain Robillard 

 Nathalie Rehm 

 

Supervisory Board  

 Catherine Mouratoglou 

 Patrick Mouratoglou 

 Philippe Mouratoglou 

 David Corchia 

 Elie Cohen 

 Armando Manca di Villahermosa 

 

 

The C  

 

Certified Auditors: Grant Thornton Audit & 
Assurance S.A. 

 89A, Pafebruch 

 L-8308 Capellen 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 Notes 31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016 

 
ASSETS    
Non-current assets    
Property, plant and equipment 15 590,817,530 451,806,743 
Investment properties 16 1,554,709 16,229,048 
Intangible assets 17 50,102,156 31,495,750 
Investment in associates and joint ventures 9-10 43,045,147 45,005,173 
Other non-current financial assets 26.1 108,656,258 120,670,890 
Non-current other receivables 24 22,193,171 21,634,333 
Non-current cash restricted or pledged 20 34,633,151 17,798,523 
Non-current prepayments  1,287,846 71,337 
Deferred tax assets 14 43,495,348 37,590,536 

  895,785,316 742,302,333 
    

Current assets    
Inventories 19 8,934,970 4,909,983 
Other current financial assets 26.1 159,007,611 207,603,466 
Current cash restricted or pledged 20 1,886,397 15,821,912 
Income tax receivables  3,785,027 2,337,498 
Trade and other receivables 24 199,029,678 100,022,556 
Current prepayments  1,927,712 2,312,991 
Cash and short-term deposits 20 305,068,946 119,130,760 

  679,640,341 452,139,166 
    

Total assets  1,575,425,657 1,194,441,499 
    

EQUITY & LIABILITIES    
Equity 21   
Share capital  561,986,227 561,986,227 
Share premium  6,860,958 6,860,958 
Treasury shares  (4,000,000) (4,000,000) 
Other capital reserves  332,592 414,908 
Retained earnings  164,995,851 53,784,395 
Other components of equity  19,611,162 14,557,147 
Equity attributable to the equity holders of the Parent  749,786,790 633,603,635 

    
Non-controlling interest  8 281,804,763 78,867,124 
Total equity  1,031,591,553 712,470,759 

    
LIABILITIES    
Non-current liabilities    
Non-current bank borrowings 26.2 200,550,385 175,810,373 
Other non-current loans and borrowings 26.2 133,355,181 130,197,107 
Other non-current financial liabilities 26.3 2,836,069 3,081,684 
Non-current provisions 22 5,068,785 2,690,251 
Non-current other payables 25 1,593,764 4,441,482 
Non-current employee benefit liabilities  305,026 201,962 
Non-current government grants 23 23,030,824 25,936,003 
Non-current deferred income 23 2,693,686 1,736,628 
Deferred income tax liabilities 14 37,703,471 33,462,751 

  407,137,191 377,558,241 
Current liabilities    
Current bank borrowings 26.2 50,300,273 17,106,069 
Other current loans and borrowings 26.2 29,097,726 17,080,902 
Other current financial liabilities 26.3 15,929 94,937 
Current provisions 22 1,129,015 2,449,634 
Current employee benefit liabilities  6,010,858 4,969,579 
Current income tax payables  3,312,589 7,842,647 
Trade and other payables 25 40,425,628 48,339,424 
Current government grants 23 1,634,356 1,661,317 
Current deferred income 23 4,770,539 4,867,990 

  136,696,913 104,412,499 
    

Total liabilities  543,834,104 481,970,740 
    

Total equity and liabilities  1,575,425,657 1,194,441,499 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 DECEMBER 2017 

 Notes 2017 2016 
 

    
    
Revenue 11 110,560,294 106,468,158 

    
Raw materials and consumables used  (7,323,861) (18,130,838) 
Employee benefit expenses 12.1 (28,949,317) (27,815,274) 
Other operating expenses 12.3 (65,385,651) (58,533,152) 
Other operating income 12.4 14,418,436 15,336,453 
Other operating results 12.5 (4,404,758) (285,281) 
Changes in fair value of investment property 7-15 992,687 (453,207) 
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-financial assets 12.7 (33,984,311) (53,583,552) 
Operating result  (14,076,481) (36,996,693) 

    
Finance costs 13 (15,755,785) (12,825,761) 
Finance income 13 15,386,179 10,636,055 
Other financial gains/(losses) 13 5,805,709 (4,849,898) 
Share of profit (loss) from equity accounted investments 9-10 (3,409,166) 187,624 
Profit/(loss) before income tax  (12,049,544) (43,848,673) 

    
Income tax (expenses) / income 14 (2,532,495) (1,897,928) 
Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations  (14,582,039) (45,746,601) 
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued operations 7 - (7,334,404) 
Profit/(loss) for the year  (14,582,039) (53,081,005) 

    
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to:    
Equity holders of the parent  (12,573,467) (49,307,252) 
Non-controlling interests  (2,008,572) (3,773,753) 

  (14,582,039) (53,081,005) 
    
Other comprehensive income    
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 

periods: 
   

Net gain/(loss) on hedging instruments  (4,651,527) 2,234,284 
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations  6,362,508 (3,016,185) 
Net gain/(loss) on available-for-sale financial assets  378,808 4,767,178 
Net gain/(loss) on share of OCI of equity accounted investments  (14,001) (190,825) 
    
Net other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss in 

subsequent periods 
 2,075,788 3,794,452 

    
Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit or loss in 

subsequent periods: 
   

Remeasurement gains (losses) on defined benefit plans  5,247 4,186 
    
Net other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit or loss in 

subsequent periods 
 5,247 4,186 

    
Total other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  2,081,035 3,798,638 
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  (12,501,004) (49,282,367) 
    
Total comprehensive income attributable to:    
Equity holder of the parent  (8,527,818) (45,798,111) 
Non-controlling interest  (3,973,186) (3,484,256) 
  (12,501,004) (49,282,367) 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
  Attributed to equity holders of the Parent   
 Notes Share capital Share 

premium 
Treasury 

shares 
Other 
capital 

reserves 

Other 
components of 

equity 

Retained 
earnings 

Total Non-
controlling 

interests 

Total equity 

           
As at January 1, 2016  561,986,227 6,860,958 (4,000,000) 167,622 11,013,710 122,248,425 698,276,942 88,434,075 786,711,017 
           
Profit/(loss) for the year  - - - - - (49,307,252) (49,307,252) (3,773,753) (53,081,005) 
Other comprehensive income  - - - - 3,509,141 - 3,509,141 289,497 3,798,638 
Total comprehensive income  - - - - 3,509,141 (49,307,252) (45,798,111) (3,484,256) (49,282,367) 
           
Business combination  - - - - - - - 2,132,805 2,132,805 
Changes in consolidation perimeter  - - - - 34,296 (19,156,778) (19,122,482) (5,381,857) (24,504,339) 
Dividend distribution 8 - - - - - - - (2,440,295) (2,440,295) 
Losses absorption  - - - - - - - (478,272) (478,272) 
Share-based payments 29 - - - 247,286 - - 247,286 84,924 332,210 
           
As at December 31, 2016  561,986,227 6,860,958 (4,000,000) 414,908 14,557,147 53,784,395 633,603,635 78,867,124 712,470,759 
           
           
Profit/(loss) for the year  - - - - - (12,573,467) (12,573,467) (2,008,572) (14,582,039) 
Other comprehensive income  - - - - 4,045,649 - 4,045,649 (1,964,614) 2,081,035 
Total comprehensive income  - - - - 4,045,649 (12,573,467) (8,527,818) (3,973,186) (12,501,004) 
           
Acquisition of minority interests  - - - - - (3,611,223) (3,611,223) (4,404,899) (8,016,122) 
Contribution and dilution of minority 
interests 

 - - - - 670,753 127,396,146 128,066,899 206,719,727 334,786,626 

Changes in consolidation perimeter  - - - - 337,613 - 337,613 5,727,963 6,065,576 
Share-based payments  - - - (82,316) - - (82,316) 103,550 21,234 
Dividend distribution   - - - - - - - (1,235,516) (1,235,516) 
           
As at December 31, 2017  561,986,227 6,860,958 (4,000,000) 332,592 19,611,162 164,995,851 749,786,790 281,804,763 1,031,591,553 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 
DECEMBER 2017 

 Notes 2017 2016 
    

Profit/(loss) before tax from continuing operations  (12,049,544) (43,848,673) 
Profit/(loss) before tax from discontinued operations  - (7,334,404) 
Profit/(loss) before tax  (12,049,544) (51,183,077) 

    

Adjustment to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows:  31,115,268 69,810,819 
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment 15 30,199,238 25,532,324 
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 17 4,539,658 27,493,500 
Gain/Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  171,223 157,655 
Gain/Loss on disposal of intangible assets  49,477 66,093 
Net foreign exchange differences  (872,204) (1,932,141) 
Share of profit (loss) from equity accounted investments 9-10 3,409,166 (187,624) 
Change in fair value of investment properties 16 (992,687) (1,427,567) 
Other financial gains/(losses) 13 (5,805,709) 16,804,262 
Share-based payment expenses 29 47,500 332,277 
Finance income 13 (15,386,179) (10,636,146) 
Finance costs 13 15,755,785 13,608,186 

    

Movements in provisions, deferred income and government grants  (1,488,350) (10,558,621) 
Movements in employee benefit liabilities  1,263,861 (126,481) 
Variation in working capital  (16,381,062) (16,967,285) 
Interest paid  (267,666) (82,010) 
Interest received  361,969 201,249 
Income tax paid  (9,920,123) (2,567,416) 
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities  (7,365,647) (11,472,822) 
    

Investing activities    
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 15 (175,156,135) (74,104,680) 
Purchase of intangible assets 17 (1,548,238) (4,066,135) 
Expenditures for internally developed software 17 (2,280,398) (46,721) 
Purchase of investment properties 16 (255,923) (4,464,765) 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  2,219,076 1,075,909 
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets  38,879 - 
Proceeds from sale of investment properties  11,798,610 109,251,683 
Net variation of finance lease operations  150,722 (2,053,125) 
Purchase of financial instruments at fair value  (51,506,589) (33,946,177) 
Proceeds from the sale of financial instruments at fair value  102,624,893 60,463,704 
Dividend received from financial instruments at fair value  13,859,584 6,768,737 
Acquisition of joint ventures and associates  (2,947,145) (22,682,695) 
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 6 (16,411,209) 2,441,255 
Proceeds from sale of joint ventures and associates  1,085,735 18,065,549 
Disposal of subsidiary companies, net of cash disposed of  80,104 - 
Dividend received from joint ventures and associates  1,874,654 1,722,487 
Net variation of loans granted to 3rd parties  2,648,968 (15,312,930) 
Interests received on loans to 3rd parties  2,495,547 871,663 
Net variation of cash restricted/pledged  (3,257,428) (14,008,137) 
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities  (114,486,293) 29,975,622 
    

Financing activities    
Proceeds from issue of bonds and notes  4,440,535 68,686,815 
Reimbursement of bonds and notes  (13,868,317) (4,335,647) 
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests 8 (1,538,014) (2,569,671) 
Capital of subsidiaries paid by non-controlling interests  217,875,856 19,958 
Payment of finance lease liabilities  (31,579) (66,445) 
Proceeds from bank borrowings  109,552,700 52,128,274 
Repayment of bank borrowings  (21,004,167) (114,760,462) 
Proceeds from other borrowings  7,620,543 788,315 
Repayment of other borrowings  (1,894,953) (11,252,759) 
Transaction costs on issue of borrowings  (26,792,180) (852,718) 
Interest paid on borrowings  (13,557,178) (13,472,785) 
Net cash flow from financial liability instrument at fair value  - (6,484,000) 
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities  260,803,246 (32,171,125) 

    

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 20 160,242,611 173,490,080 
Exchange difference of cash and cash equivalents  (2,571,812) 729,266 
Changes of fair value of AFS as cash equivalents  (50,357) (308,410) 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 20 296,571,748 160,242,611 
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION 
EREN Groupe S.A. (the “Company” or “EREN Groupe”) was incorporated on 23 December 1991 and is organised 
under the laws of Luxembourg as a public limited company (Société Anonyme) for an unlimited period of time.  

The registered office is established in 4, rue Willy Goergen L-1636 Luxembourg. 

The Company is the parent company of the EREN group which includes the Company and its subsidiaries, 
collectively referred as the “Group”. Information on the group’s structure is provided in note 5. 

The Company’s financial year starts on 1 January and ends on 31 December of each year. 

The Group has 3 primary business activities: Energy, Industry and Sport. 

The Company’s primary activity is to take and manage direct or indirect investments in businesses. The Company 
develops and monitors the operations of its subsidiaries. 

1.1 Statement of compliance with IFRS 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and endorsed 
by the European Union. 

The consolidated financial statements of EREN Groupe for the year ended 31 December 2017 have been approved 
by the Managing Board (Directoire) on 5 October 2018. 

1.2 Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements of EREN Groupe have been prepared using the accounting principles 
described in note 2. 

The Company is not eligible for mandatory application of IFRS 8 Operating Segments and IAS 33 Earning per 
Share and the Company has decided not to apply those standards. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for 
investment properties, derivative financial instruments, available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial assets that have been 
measured at fair value. The consolidated financial statements are presented in euro and all values are rounded to 
the nearest euro, except as otherwise indicated. 

On the basis of Managing Board’s assertion, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis. 

The consolidated financial statements provide comparative information with respect to the previous period.   

1.3 Scope of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. 

These subsidiaries are entities over which the Company has direct or indirect control, as defined in the accounting 
policies. 

The Group also has investments in associates and joint ventures in which the Group has either a significant 
influence or a joint control. 

The composition of the Group and the investments in associates and joint ventures is disclosed in note 5. 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out 
below. 

2.1 Consolidation 

2.1.1 Subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries as at 31 
December 2017. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Company has direct or indirect control. 

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group 
controls an investee if and only if the Group has: 

- Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities 
of the investee), 

- Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and 

- The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights in an investee, the Group considers all 
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including: 

- The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee 

- Rights arising from other contractual arrangements 

- The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights 

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group 
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. The result of the 
year and other comprehensive income of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 
statement of comprehensive income from the date on which the Group gains control until the date on which the 
Group ceases to control the subsidiary. 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the 
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having 
a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, 
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions within the Group are fully eliminated on consolidation. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it: 

- Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary 

- Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests 

- Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity 

- Recognises the fair value of the consideration received 

- Recognises the fair value of any investment retained 

- Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss 

- Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in OCI to profit or loss or retained 
earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or 
liabilities. 
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2.1.2 Investment in an associate and joint venture 

An associate is an entity over which the Group has a significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but has no control or joint control over 
those policies. 

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have 
rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an 
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the 
parties sharing control. 

The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those necessary to 
determine control over subsidiaries. 

The Group’s investments in its associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. 

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The 
carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the 
associate or joint venture since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associate or joint venture is included 
in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment. 

The statement of comprehensive income reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate or 
joint venture. Any change in OCI of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s OCI. In addition, when 
there has been a change directly recognised in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its 
share of any changes, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting 
from transactions between the Group and the associate or joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest 
in the associate or joint venture. 

The total of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate and a joint venture is shown on the statement of 
comprehensive income outside operating profit and represents profit or loss after tax and non-controlling interests 
in the subsidiaries of the associate or joint venture. 

The financial statements of the associate or joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. 
When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group. 

After the application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an 
impairment loss on its investment in its associate or joint venture. At each reporting date, the Group determines 
whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate or joint venture is impaired. If there is such 
evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the 
associate or joint venture and its carrying value, then recognises the loss as ‘Other financial gains and losses” in 
the statement of comprehensive income. 

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures 
and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the 
associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained 
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in comprehensive income. 

2.2 Business combinations 

The Group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations. The cost of an acquisition is 
measured as the total of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of 
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group decides whether to 
measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets. For the current business combinations, the Group has elected to measure the non-controlling 
interests at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs are expensed as 
incurred. 

The Group recognises identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination regardless of 
whether they have been previously recognised in the acquiree’s financial statements prior to the acquisition. Assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed are measured at their acquisition-date fair values. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition 
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. 
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Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition 
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope 
of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, is measured at fair value with changes in fair 
value recognised either in profit or loss or as a change to OCI. If the contingent consideration is not within the 
scope of IAS 39, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate IFRS. Contingent consideration that is classified 
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost. It is calculated as the excess of the sum of a) fair value of consideration 
transferred, b) the recognised amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and c) acquisition-date fair 
value of any existing equity interest in the acquiree, over the acquisition-date fair values of identifiable net assets. 
If the fair values of identifiable net assets exceed the sum calculated above, the excess amount (ie gain on a bargain 
purchase) is recognised in profit or loss immediately. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of 
the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other 
assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. 

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed 
of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when 
determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the 
relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 

2.3 Current versus non-current classification 

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current/non-current 
classification. An asset is classified as current when it is: 

- Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle 

- Primarily held for the purpose of trading 

- Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or 

- Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 
twelve months after the reporting period 

All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is classified as current when: 

- It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle 

- It is held primarily for the purpose of trading 

- It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or 

- There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the 
reporting period 

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities. 

2.4 Foreign currency translation 

2.4.1 Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in Euro (“EUR”) which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. 
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2.4.2 Transactions and Balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and 
from the translation at the year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the income statement. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated into the functional currency at the foreign exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates when the values were determined. 

2.4.3 Group Companies 

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a different functional currency from the 
presentation currency are translated into the Group’s functional currency as follows: 

• assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at 
the balance sheet date; and 

• income and expenses of each statement of comprehensive income are translated at the average exchange 
rate; and 

• all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income within the currency 
translation reserve. 

When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income as part of the gain or loss on the sale. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities 
of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. 

2.5 Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses, if any. Property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) is composed of items build by the Group and items acquired 
from a third party. 

2.5.1 Elements of cost 

The construction of the PPE required the capitalisation of significant direct costs and borrowing costs (refer to 
note 2.6) incurred to bring the asset to the condition necessary for it to be operated in the manner intended by the 
Group. 

The Group also includes in the cost of the PPE an estimate of the present value for the costs of dismantling and 
removing the PPE in order to restore the site on which it is built, when the entity has a legal or constructive 
obligation to restore the site. This point is further explained in the note on significant accounting judgments, 
estimates and assumptions (note 3). 

The Group has not allocated within the cost of construction any specific amount for the major inspections. The 
cost of the major inspections will be included in the cost of the property, plant and equipment when incurred. 

2.5.2 Depreciation 

The Group depreciates the items of property, plant and equipment in accordance with the estimated useful life of 
each item. The Group also determines the residual value of each item at the end of the useful life. The depreciation 
is computed on the cost value less the estimated residual value over the remaining useful life. These points are 
further explained in the note on significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (note 3). 

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method. The Group considers this 
method as the most representative of the pattern in which the future economic benefits from the item will flow to 
the Group. This judgement is based on the fact that the PPE will generate similar profits throughout their useful 
life by the Group. 

The Group reassesses at every closing date the estimates for useful life, residual value and depreciation method. 
Any change is applied prospectively as a change in accounting estimate. 

The initial cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is allocated between various significant types. These 
items are each depreciated using their individual useful life and residual value. 
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The depreciation on property, plant and equipment starts when the asset is available for use in the manner intended 
by management. Depreciation ceases at the earlier of the date on which the asset is classified as held for sale and 
the date the asset is derecognised. 

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write down the cost of each asset to their residual value, 
over their estimated useful life. In average, the annual depreciation periods are as follows: 

- Land not depreciated 

- Buildings 10 to 50 years 

- Plant and machinery  

o Energy 19 to 30 years 

o Industry 1 to 10 years 

o Other 5 to 20 years 

- Motor Vehicles 3 to 8 years 

- Other items 3 to 25 years 

2.5.3 Impairment 

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down to its 
recoverable amount. 

The Group reviewed its main assets for impairment and has determined that no significant write down is required 
on any plant. 

2.5.4 Maintenance costs 

Expenditure for repairs and maintenance of property, plant and equipment is charged to the statement of 
comprehensive income of the year in which they are incurred. The costs of major renovations are included in the 
carrying amount when it is probable that the future economic benefit in excess of the originally assessed standard 
of performance of the existing asset will flow to the Group. Major renovations are depreciated over the remaining 
useful life of the related asset.  

2.5.5 Derecognition 

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon 
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the asset) is included in the statement of comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised. 

2.5.6 Revaluation 

The Group does not apply the revaluation model for any class of item within property, plant and equipment. 

2.6 Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset are capitalized 
during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use as part of the cost 
of the respective assets. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with 
the borrowing of funds. 

The Group capitalizes borrowing costs for all eligible assets where construction was commenced on or after 
1 January 2012. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. 

2.7 Intangible assets 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, 
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, if any. 

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. 
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2.7.1 Finite life - Amortisation 

For intangible assets with finite useful lives, the Group depreciates the items of intangible assets in accordance 
with the estimated useful life.  

The amortisation is made by considering a nil residual value for each item as the Group does not have any 
commitment by a third party to acquire the asset and there is no active market for the asset. 

The Group applies the straight-line method for amortisation of the finite useful life intangible assets. The Group 
considers this method as the most representative of the pattern in which the future economic benefits from the item 
will flow to the Group. This judgement is based on the fact that the intangible assets are mainly represented by 
rights related to the production of electricity which is considered to be linear over the rights’ useful life. 

The Group reassesses at every closing date the estimates for useful life, residual value and amortisation method. 
Any change is applied prospectively as a change in accounting estimate. 

The amortisation on finite useful life intangible asset starts when the asset is available for use in the manner 
intended by management. Amortisation ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is classified as held for sale 
and the date the asset is derecognised. 

Amortisation is calculated on the straight-line method to write down the cost of each asset to their residual value, 
over their estimated useful life. The useful life is usually representative of the length of the rights or licence 
provided which is varying from 5 to 30 years. 

2.7.2 Indefinite life – impairment 

Indefinite useful life intangible assets are not amortised, but are tested for impairment. 

2.7.3 Derecognition 

An item of intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from 
its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of comprehensive income 
when the asset is derecognised. 

2.8 Investment Properties 

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. After initial recognition, 
investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the reporting date. Gains or losses 
arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in profit or loss in the period in which 
they arise, including the corresponding tax effect. Fair values are determined based on an annual valuation 
performed by an accredited external independent valuer applying a valuation model recommended by the 
International Valuation Standards Committee. 

Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of or when they are permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from their disposal. The difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in profit or loss in the period of 
derecognition. 

Transfers are made to (or from) investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from 
investment property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at 
the date of change in use. If owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for 
such property in accordance with the policy stated under property, plant and equipment up to the date of change 
in use. 

2.9 Leases 

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement 
at the inception date, whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or 
the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement. 
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2.9.1 Group as a lessee 

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified 
as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the statement of comprehensive income 
on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalized at the lease’s commencement date at the lower of 
the fair value of the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is 
allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance 
outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in long-term and short-
term borrowings. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the statement of comprehensive income 
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability 
for each period. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter 
of the useful life of the asset or the lease term. 

The Group has determined that it does not have any financial lease as a lessee. 

2.9.2 Group as a lessor 

Leases of where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessor are 
classified as financial leases. 

Property, plant and equipment leased under financial leases are derecognised and recognised as a financial lease 
liability. The financial lease liability is initially measured at the lower of the leased asset fair value or the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. The financial lease receivables is subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
The lease payment received is allocated between the receivable and finance income. 

The Group has determined that it has financial leases as a lessor. 

2.9.3 Arrangements containing a lease 

According to the interpretation IFRIC 4, the Group identifies arrangements that do not have the legal form of a 
lease but convey a right to use an asset or a group of specific assets. 

The arrangements identified are assimilated to lease agreements and analysed in accordance with IAS 17 to 
determine whether they are financial or operating leases. 

2.10 Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. 

Cost is determined using the first-in first-out method. 

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion 
and selling expenses. When the net realizable value of inventory is lower than its cost, provisions for impairment 
are created to reduce the value to its net realizable value. 

2.11 Impairment of non-financial assets  

At each reporting date and according to IAS 36, assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to 
amortization and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortization and other non-financial 
assets, such as inventory, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the 
carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of an asset’s net selling price and 
value in use or fair value less cost to sell determined by using discounted cash flow method. For the purposes of 
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows 
(cash generating units). 

The Group has not realised impairment test on any CGU as the Group does not have any indefinite useful life and 
the Group has not identified events or changes in circumstances that would indicate the carrying amount of a non-
financial asset may not be recoverable. 
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2.12 Financial instruments 

2.12.1 Financial assets 

Initial recognition and measurement 

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit and loss, loans and 
receivables, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments 
in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were 
acquired. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition and re-evaluates this 
designation at every reporting date. 

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through 
profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 

The Group’s financial assets include: 

- Cash and cash equivalents short-term deposits classified at fair value through profit and loss, 

- Trade and other receivables, cash restricted or pledged, other current and non-current financial assets 
which are classified in the category of loans and receivables. 

- Available-for-sale. 

The Group does not have held-to-maturity investments financial assets. 

Subsequent measurement 

a Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: 

This category has two sub-categories: “financial assets held for trading”, and those designated at fair value through 
profit and loss at inception. A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of 
selling in the short term or is so designated by management. This category includes derivative financial instruments 
entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IAS 
39. Assets in this category are classified as current assets if they are either held for trading or are expected to be 
realised within 12 months of the balance sheet date. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value 
with changes in fair value recognised in other financial gains and losses in the statement of comprehensive income. 

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is not 
active (and for unlisted securities), the Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. The Group’s 
investments at fair value through profit or loss are mainly represented by quoted investments. 

b Loans and receivables: 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. They are included in current assets except for maturities greater than 12 months after the 
balance sheet date. These are classified as non-current assets. 

After initial measurement, they are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method (EIR), less impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on 
acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in finance 
income in the statement of comprehensive income. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the other 
financial gains and losses in the statement of comprehensive income. 

c Available-for-sale financial assets: 

Available-for-sale financial investments include equity and debt securities. Equity investments classified as 
available-for-sale are those, which are neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair value through 
profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of 
time and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in the market conditions. 

After initial measurement, available-for-sale financial investments are subsequently measured at fair value with 
unrealised gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale reserve until the 
investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in other financial gains and 
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losses, or determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative loss is reclassified to the statement of 
comprehensive income in other financial gains and losses. 

Available-for-sale financial assets may be stated at cost if they correspond to investment in equity instruments that 
do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured. 

Further information on the valuation method applied for the valuation of the available-for-sale is provided in note 
26. 

De-recognition 

A financial asset is derecognised when: 

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired 
• The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to 

pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ 
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has substantially transferred all the risks and rewards of the asset, 
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, 
but has transferred control of the asset. 

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a ‘pass-through’ 
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset nor 
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the 
asset. 

In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are 
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained. 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of 
the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be 
required to repay. 

Impairment of financial assets 

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group 
of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only 
if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that have occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset and that event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or 
the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include, but are not limited 
to, indications that the debtors or a group of debtors are experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or 
delinquency in interest or principal payments. 

a Financial assets carried at amortized cost: 

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment 
exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are 
not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an 
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets 
with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually 
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a 
collective assessment of impairment. 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the assets carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding 
future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash flows 
is discounted at the financial assets original effective interest rate. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount 
rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate. 

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced 
carrying amount and is accrued using the interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of 
measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part of finance income in the statement of 
comprehensive income. Loans together with the associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic 
prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Group. If, in a 
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subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by 
adjusting the allowance account. If a future write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other financial 
gains and losses in the statement of comprehensive income. 

b Available-for-sale financial investments: 

In the case of equity securities classified as available for sale, a significant (being higher than EUR 1m or 30% of 
the investment’s gross value) or prolonged (over two consecutive periods) decline in the fair value of the security 
below its cost is considered as an indicator that the securities are impaired. ‘Significant’ is evaluated against the 
original cost of the investment and ‘prolonged’ against the period in which the fair value has been below its original 
cost. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the 
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset 
previously recognised in profit and loss – is removed from equity and recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. Impairment losses recognised on equity instruments are not reversed through the statement 
of comprehensive income. Increases in their value after impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive 
income. 

In the case of debt instruments classified as available-for-sale, impairment is assessed based on the same criteria 
as financial assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for impairment is the cumulative loss 
measured as the difference between the amortised cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that 
investment previously recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Future interest income continues to be accrued based on the reduced carrying amount of the asset, using the rate 
of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The interest 
income is recorded as part of finance income in the statement of comprehensive income. If, in a subsequent year, 
the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after 
the impairment loss was recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, the impairment loss is reversed 
through the statement of comprehensive income. 

2.12.2 Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, 
or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines 
the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of loans and borrowings, plus directly 
attributable transaction costs. 

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, interest-bearing borrowings, other financial 
liabilities at amortised costs and derivatives, such as interest rate swap. 

Subsequent measurement 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows: 

a Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired to be sold in the near term. This category 
includes derivatives financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments 
in hedge relationships as defined by IAS 39. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading 
unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. 

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

The Group has not designated any financial liabilities upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or 
loss. 
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b Loans and borrowings: 

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method (EIR). Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate method amortization process. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that 
are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in finance costs in the statement of comprehensive 
income. Loans and borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to 
defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date. 

De-recognition 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are subsequently modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a de-
recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

2.12.3 Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of 
financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

2.13 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting 

2.13.1 Initial recognition and subsequent measurement 

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as interest rate swaps to hedge its interest rate risks. Such 
derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is 
entered into and are subsequently re-measured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as financial assets when the 
fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value is negative. 

Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives are taken directly to profit or loss, except 
for the effective portion of cash flow hedges, which is recognised in OCI and later reclassified to profit or loss 
when the hedge item affects profit or loss. 

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as: 

- Fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to change in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability 
or an unrecognised firm commitment 

- Cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a 
particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction or 
the foreign currency risk in an unrecognised firm commitment 

- Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation 

The Group has only cash flow hedges. 

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge relationship to 
which the Group wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking 
the hedge. The documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, 
the nature of the risk being hedged and how the entity will assess the effectiveness of changes in the hedging 
instrument’s fair value in offsetting the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows 
attributable to the hedged risk. Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in 
fair value or cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually have been highly 
effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which they were designated. 

Hedges that meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for, as described below: 
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Cash flow hedges 

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in OCI in the cash flow hedge 
reserve, while any ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss as other operating 
expenses. 

The Group uses interest rate swaps as hedges for its exposure to the volatility of interest rates. The ineffective 
portion relating to interest rate contracts is recognised in finance costs. Further information is provided in the note 
on significant judgments, estimates and assumptions (note 3). 

Amounts recognised as OCI are transferred to profit or loss when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss, such 
as when the hedged financial income or financial expense is recognised or when a forecast sale occurs. When the 
hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability, the amounts recognised as OCI are 
transferred to the initial carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability. 

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover (as part of the 
hedging strategy), or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, or when the hedge no longer meets the criteria for 
hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI remains separately in equity until the 
forecast transaction occurs or the foreign currency firm commitment is met. 

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows comprise cash at banks and on hand, short-term deposits, 
bank overdrafts and financial assets that meet the definition of cash equivalents. These financial assets are easily 
convertible in cash and with insignificant change in value, in general these are investments within Money market 
UCITS. Cash and cash equivalents represent cash usable by the Group for its cash management and subject to 
insignificant risk of change in value. 

2.15 Equity, reserves and dividend payments 

Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued. 

Share premium includes any premiums received on the issue of share capital. Any transaction costs associated 
with the issuing of shares are deducted from share premium, net of any related income tax benefits. 

Other components of equity include the following: 

- Foreign exchange currency reserve – comprises foreign currency translation differences arising from the 
translation of financial statements of the Group’s foreign entities into the Group’s presentation currency, 

- Hedge reserve – comprises the cumulative portion of gains or losses on the hedging instrument that are 
determined to be an effective hedge, 

- Benefit plan reserve – comprises the gains and losses from remeasurement of the net defined benefit 
liability (asset). 

- Share of OCI in equity accounted investments reserve – comprises share of OCI in investments 
recognised through equity method, 

- Reserves for available-for-sale financial assets – comprises gains and losses relating to these types of 
financial instruments. 

Other capital reserves include the following: 

- Share-based payments reserve – comprises the costs incurred in relation with the unexercised equity-
settled share-based payment transactions issued by the Group. 

Retained earnings includes all current and prior period retained profits. 

All transactions with owners of the parent are recorded separately within equity. Dividend distributions payable 
to equity shareholders are included in other liabilities when the dividends have been approved in a general meeting 
prior to the reporting date. 

2.16 Treasury shares 

Own equity instruments that are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost and deducted from equity. No 
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity 
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instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount and the consideration, if reissued, is recognised in share 
premium. Share options exercised during the reporting period are satisfied with treasury shares. 

2.17 Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, 
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the 
amount of the obligation can be made. Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, for example under 
an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is 
virtually certain. In those cases where the possible outflow of economic resources as a result of present obligations 
is considered improbable or remote, no liability is recognised. 

The expense relating to any provision is presented in the statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement. 
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. 

2.17.1 Decommissioning liability 

The Group records a provision for decommissioning costs of photovoltaic and wind farm power plants. 
Decommissioning costs are provided at the present value of expected costs to settle the obligation and are 
recognised as part of the cost of the particular asset. 

The Group has estimated the decommissioning costs to be 5% of the total construction cost of the plant assets to 
be decommissioned. The estimated decommissioning costs are discounted using the interest risk-free rate for the 
period until the asset has to be decommissioned. 

The unwinding of the discount is expensed as incurred and recognised in the statement of profit or loss as an other 
financial gains and losses. The estimated future costs of decommissioning are reviewed annually and adjusted as 
appropriate. Changes in the estimated future costs or in the discount rate applied are added to or deducted from 
the cost of the asset. 

2.18 Government grants 

Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all 
attached conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income 
on a systematic basis over the periods that the related costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed. 
When the grant relates to an asset, it is recognised as income in equal amounts over the expected useful life of the 
related asset. 

The Group has decided to present government grants relating to assets in the statement of financial position as a 
government grant. The government grant is recognised as income on a systematic and rational basis over the useful 
life of the asset related by the grant. 

2.19 Pension and other post-employment benefits 

The Group has not subscribed for any defined contribution or defined benefit plan. The Group does not have any 
pension or other post-employment benefits in relation with its employees. 

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive 
on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation. A defined 
contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The 
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient 
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. 

2.20 Share-based payments 

2.20.1 Equity-settled transactions 

During the year, the Group has issued equity-settled share-based payments transactions to third parties. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant is made using an 
appropriate valuation model. 

That cost is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in other capital reserves in equity, over the period 
in which the vesting conditions must be fulfilled by the Company. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
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settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has 
expired and the Group’s best estimate of the amount of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The statement 
of profit or loss expense or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the 
beginning and end of that period and is recognised in other operating expenses. 

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for equity-settled transactions for which 
vesting is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition. These are treated as vesting irrespective of whether 
or not the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service 
conditions are satisfied. 

When the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognised is the expense had the 
terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. An additional expense is recognised for 
any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment transaction as measured at the date 
of modification. 

Further information on equity-settled share-based payments transactions is provided in note 29. 

2.21 Taxation 

2.21.1 Current income tax 

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities based on the income tax base of each entity. A provision is made for income 
tax for the reporting period using the tax rates that have been substantially enacted, at the reporting date in the 
countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income. 

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the statement 
of profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in 
which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretations and establishes provisions where appropriate. 

2.21.2 Deferred income tax 

Deferred income tax is provided for using the liability method on all temporary differences arising from tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and the carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except: 

- When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss 

- In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 
interests in joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled 
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits 
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits 
and unused tax losses can be utilised, except: 

- When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of 
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss 

- In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 
interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the 
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be utilised 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be 
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent 
that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered, further 
information on the judgment applied for recognition of deferred tax assets is provided in the note on significant 
judgment, estimates and assumptions (note 3). 
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset 
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax 
items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in equity. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax 
assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same 
taxation authority. 

2.22 Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 
revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue is measured at the fair 
value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and 
excluding taxes or duty. The Group assesses its revenue arrangements against specific criteria in order to determine 
if it is acting as principal or agent. The Group has concluded that it is acting as a principal in all of its revenue 
arrangements since it is the primary obligor in all the revenue arrangements and is also exposed to credit risks. 

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised: 

2.22.1 Sales of goods 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have 
been transferred to the buyer. The transfer of risks and rewards is realised upon production by the Group. The 
Group does not retain any interest in the quantity produced immediately after its production due to the 
impracticability to store the electricity. 

2.22.2 Rendering of services 

Revenue from sport and industrial activities includes rendering of services. The revenue is recognised in reference 
to the stage of completion of the rendered services. Stage of completion is measured by reference to the actual 
elapse period of services rendered over the period of the contract. 

2.22.3 Interest income 

For all financial assets at amortised cost, interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate method (EIR), 
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of 
the financial asset or shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. Interest 
income is included in finance income in the statement of profit or loss. 

2.22.4 Dividend income 

Revenue is recognised when the Group’s right to receive the payment is established, which is generally when 
shareholders approve the dividend. 

2.22.5 Rental income 

Rental income arising from operating leases on investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis over 
the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. 

2.23 Fair value measurement 

The Group measures financial instruments, such as derivatives and financial assets available-for-sale, at fair value 
at each balance sheet date. The fair value of financial instruments measured at amortised cost is omitted. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption 
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

- In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 

- In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability 
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The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group. 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate to the circumstances and for which sufficient data are 
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole: 

- Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

- Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly observable 

- Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable. This level is applicable mainly for unconsolidated equity investments. 

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines 
whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

2.24 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures 

At the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and 
interpretations to existing standards have been published by the IASB but are not yet effective, and have not been 
adopted early by the Group. 

The Group anticipates that all of the relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policies 
for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on new standards, 
amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial statements 
is provided below. Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued but are not expected to have 
a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

These changes are listed below and detailed below. 

2.24.1 Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and 
have not been adopted early by the Group (adopted by IASB) 

Standard Nature of change Effective for 
period beginning 
on or after 

Description of nature of change Description of expected 
impact for the Company 

IFRS 16 – Leases* New 01 Jan 2019 This new standard represents a major overhaul of 
lease accounting by revising the entire accounting 
treatment and definitions. 
Subject to the optional accounting simplifications 
for short-term and low-value asset leases (see 
below), a lessee will be required to recognise its 
leases on the balance sheet. This involves 
recognising: 
• a ‘right-of-use’ asset; and 
• lease liability. 
Lessees have the option to apply the model to a 
portfolio of similar leases if the effect is 
reasonably expected to be materially the same as 
a lease-by-lease approach. 

The Group’s management has 
yet to assess the impact of 
this new standard on the 
Group’s consolidated 
financial statements. 
However, Management 
considers that this new 
standard will have significant 
implications regarding the 
assets used through rental 
agreements. 

IAS 40 - Transfers 
of investment 
property 

Amendment 01 Jan 2018 The amendment clarifies that transfers to, or 
from, investment property are required when, 
and only when, there is a change in use of 
property supported by evidence. The amendment 
also modified the circumstances characterizing a 
change of use by modifying the list in the 
standard as a non-exhaustive list of examples of 

Management believes the 
application of  the 
requirements of  this standard 
will not affect the financial 
statements of  the Group. 
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Standard Nature of change Effective for 
period beginning 
on or after 

Description of nature of change Description of expected 
impact for the Company 

evidence. It also clarifies that changes in 
management's intention does not provide by 
itself sufficient evidence that a change in use has 
occurred. 

IFRIC 22 - Foreign 
currency 
transactions and 
advance 
consideration 

Interpretation 01 Jan 2018 The interpretation clarifies that the date of 
transaction for the purpose of determining the 
exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the 
related asset, expense or income is the date on 
which an entity initially recognizes the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising 
from the payment or receipt of advance 
consideration. 

Management believes the 
application of  the 
requirements of  this standard 
will not affect the financial 
statements of  the Group. 

IFRS - 
Improvements to 
IFRSs 2014-2016 

Amendment 01 Jan 2018 Small changes and clarifications: 
- IFRS 1: Deletion of short-term exemptions for 
first-time adopters 
   Relief period as per standard is no longer 
relevant 
- IFRS 12: Clarification on the scope of 
application that disclosure requirements apply 
also to entity's interests classified as held for sale 
or as discontinued operations. 

Management believes the 
application of  the 
requirements of  this standard 
will not affect the financial 
statements of  the Group. 

IFRS 4 - Applying 
IFRS 9 with IFRS 4 

Amendment 01 Jan 2018 The amendment addresses temporary accounting 
consequences of the different effective dates of 
IFRS 9 and the new insurance contract standard 
regarding concerns over the potential increased 
volatility in profit or loss. The amendment 
introduces the following concepts to respond to 
the concerns: the overlay approach (option to 
remove additional accounting volatility from 
IFRS 9 requirements) and the temporary 
exemption (option to temporarily exempt the 
application of IFRS 9). 

Management believes the 
application of  the 
requirements of  this standard 
will not affect the financial 
statements of  the Group. 

IFRS 2 - 
Classification and 
measurement of 
share-based 
payment 
transactions 

Amendment 01 Jan 2018 The amendment brings within IFRS 2 matters 
previously analyzed in IFRIC, regarding the 
accounting for the effects of vesting conditions 
on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based 
payment, the classification of share-based 
payment transactions with a net settlement 
feature for withholding tax obligations and the 
accounting for a modification to the terms and 
conditions of a share-based payment that changes 
the classification of the transaction from cash-
settled to equity-settled. 

Management believes the 
application of  the 
requirements of  this standard 
will not affect the financial 
statements of  the Group. 

IFRS 9 - Financial 
instruments* 

New 01 Jan 2018 The complete version of IFRS 9 replaces most of 
the guidance in IAS 39. IFRS 9 retains but 
simplifies the mixed measurement model and 
establishes three primary measurement categories 
for financial assets: amortized cost, fair value 
through OCI and fair value through P&L. The 
basis of classification depends on the entity’s 
business model and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the financial asset. Investments 
in equity instruments are required to be measured 
at fair value through profit or loss with the 
irrevocable option at inception to present 
changes in fair value in OCI. There is now a new 
expected credit losses model that replaces the 
incurred loss impairment model used in IAS 39. 
For financial liabilities there were no changes to 
classification and measurement except for the 
recognition of changes in own credit risk in other 
comprehensive income, for liabilities designated 
at fair value, through profit or loss. IFRS 9 
relaxes the requirements for hedge effectiveness 
by replacing the bright line hedge effectiveness 
tests. It requires an economic relationship 
between the hedged item and hedging instrument 
and for the ‘hedged ratio’ to be the same as the 
one management actually use for risk 
management purposes. 

The Group’s management has 
yet to assess the impact of 
this new standard on the 
Group’s consolidated 
financial statements. 
However, Management does 
not expect to implement IFRS 
9 until all of its chapters have 
been published and they can 
comprehensively assess the 
impact of all changes. 
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Standard Nature of change Effective for 
period beginning 
on or after 

Description of nature of change Description of expected 
impact for the Company 

IFRS 15 - Revenue 
from Contracts with 
Customers* 

New + Amendment 01 Jan 2018 IFRS 15: 
• replaces IAS 18 ‘Revenue’, IAS 11 
‘Construction Contracts’ and some revenue-
related Interpretations 
• establishes a new control-based revenue 
recognition model 
• changes the basis for deciding whether revenue 
is recognized at a point in time or over time 
• provides new and more detailed guidance on 
specific topics 
• expands and improves disclosures about 
revenue. 

Management believes the 
application of  the 
requirements of  this standard 
will not affect the financial 
statements of  the Group. 

* The European Union has yet to approve these amendments. 

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, JUDGMENTS AND ASSUMPTIONS 
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates are by 
definition seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below. 

3.1 Critical judgments of the Management in applying the entity`s accounting policy 

3.1.1 Consolidation method 

Energia Italia investments 

The entity Energia Italia is the parent company of four hydroelectric production plant entities. The Group has 
determined that it has control over these investments. The Group has an investment in three entities of 50% of 
their share capital. The operating manager of these entities has been directly appointed by the Group and is 
reporting exclusively to the Group. The other shareholders are not involved in the operating management of these 
entities. In relation with these three entities, the Group considers to control the investments as it takes solely all 
decisions related to relevant activities without requiring approval of other shareholders. 

The fourth entity is held by the Group for 49% of its share capital, the operations of this entity are not managed 
by the Group but by the other shareholder. 

As a result, the Group has decided to consolidate its investment in the three entities held for 50% but not on the 
fourth entity, in which it has significant influence and is then classified as associate. 

Evias 

The Group holds an investment of 20% in Eoliki Energiaki Evias SA. The Group owns the majority of the voting 
rights of the Board of Directors. As a result, the Group has sufficient rights to exert its power over operations and 
decides to consolidate the entity. 

Total Eren 

The management considered the agreements in relation to the investment released by Total into the Energy 
Business of the Group. As a result, the management concludes that the Group still has the control on Total Eren 
Holding and Total Eren as at 31 December 2017. 

3.1.2 Recognition of deferred tax assets 

The Group has recorded deferred tax assets in subsidiaries where the Group had sufficient assurance that the 
subsidiary would generate taxable profits in future periods which would allow for the use of the deferred tax assets. 
The Group has based its analysis on the actual results of the subsidiaries and the expected profits to be realised 
according to business plans drawn for each entity. 

The Group has mainly recorded deferred tax assets in relation with its operating entities. Deferred tax assets are 
mainly generated from tax losses, due to PPE tax accelerated depreciation, and deferred tax on swap valuation. 
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3.1.3 Interest rate swap 

The Group reviewed the documentation regarding the hedge instruments and concluded that it could opt for the 
hedge accounting policy. 

The hedge instruments are related to some loan agreements entered into by the Group. There is close relationship 
between the hedge instrument and the hedged item, furthermore, the hedge is expected to be highly effective as 
the changes in cash flows are directly correlated to the changes in interest rates. As a result, the effectiveness in 
achieving offsetting changes in cash flows is expected to be closed to 1. 

3.1.4 Land lease 

The Group has several long-term leasehold lands. The Group analysed the main indicators for classification as 
financial lease (transfer of ownership, purchase option, lease term, present value of lease payments and nature of 
leased assets) and concluded that those indicators were not sufficiently applicable to determine that there is a 
substantial transfer of risks and rewards to the Group. As a result, the Group classified those leaseholds as 
operational lease. 

3.2 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

3.2.1 Useful life, residual value and depreciation method of power plants 

In determining the depreciation of the power plants, the Group has applied estimates in relation with the useful 
life, residual value and depreciation method for the plants. 

The Group has determined the useful life, residual value and depreciation method for each plant by reference to 
the particular situation of each plant. 

The Group has applied a straight-line method for the depreciation as it has estimated it as reflecting the most 
appropriately the pattern in which the economic benefits from the asset will be consumed by the entity, considering 
that the use of the plant will generate a quantity of electricity which will be constant over the useful life of the 
plant. The Group considers this method as being the most appropriate to reflect the model wherein assets economic 
benefits are going to be consumed by the entity. 

The Group has applied the component approach for the depreciation of its power plants when the components 
could be individually identified and measured. 

The Group has estimated the useful life of wind farms and ground-mounted photovoltaic plants by reference to 
the term of the Power Purchase Agreement (“PPA”) contracted exclusively with national electricity offtaker. The 
term of these agreements varies from 20 to 25 years. In relation with each plant, the Group has received license 
rights from local administrations to produce electricity on the specific place. These licenses have terms slightly 
longer than the PPA. The Group has considered this period as representative of how the plants will be used. After 
this period, the Group cannot precisely determine how the plants would be used. Therefore, the Group has not 
considered that the use of a longer period would be a more appropriate estimation. In case the PPA has period 
shorter than 20 years, the Group analyses the appropriate period for depreciation corresponding to the effective 
period of use, including the period estimated after the PPA. 

Regarding the hydroelectric plants, the Group has estimated the useful life of various components between 10 and 
30 years from their construction date. The main component is depreciated accordingly to the land use rights 
provided to the Group. After the initial land use right period, the Group has the possibility to extend it. 

The Group also owns cogeneration plant and small roof mounted photovoltaic plants (installed on social housing) 
which are depreciated using useful life of 18 and 20 years. 

The Group has estimated the residual value of the plants as being nil. The depreciation is computed on the entire 
amount of the construction. 

3.2.2 Provision for decommissioning costs 

The Group has recognised a provision for decommissioning obligations where it had a legal or constructive 
obligation to restore the site at the end of use. In determining the best estimate of the provision, assumptions and 
estimates are made in relation to discount rates, the expected cost to dismantle and remove the plant from the site 
and expected timing of those costs. The carrying amount of the provision as at 31 December 2017 is  
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EUR 1,605,161 for the French entities and EUR 469,608 for Greek entities (as at 31 December 2016: EUR 
1,620,968 and EUR 318,047 respectively). 

In determining the provision, the Group has estimated the discount rate as at 2.98% and 12.95% for French and 
Greek entities respectively. The estimate of the cost for site restoration has been determined at 5% of the initial 
construction cost or EUR 30,000 per MWp for French entities and EUR 30,000 per wind turbine or EUR 10,000 
per PV MWp for Greek entities.  

3.2.3 Valuation of share-based transactions 

The Group has issued through its subsidiary Solaire Habitat Social options to acquire equity instruments to third 
parties. The valuation of these transactions has been done at the grant date of the instruments. The valuation of the 
shares granted has been determined by reference to the subscription price paid by the Group to enter into the share 
capital of the subsidiary. This subscription has been realised shortly after the issue of the instruments granted by 
the subsidiary. Further information regarding the instruments granted is provided in note 29. 

3.2.4 Acquisition of non-controlling interests 

In prior year, the Group entered into negotiation with a minority shareholder in order to acquire all its remaining 
non-controlling interests within the Group. The transaction price for the acquisition has been determined by 
reference to valuation of the underlying investments. During the year, the Group finalized the negotiation with the 
related party and revised the investments included in the transaction.   

The transaction price will be paid in two tranches, in 2021 and 2024. At each closing, the transaction price 
valuation will be reassessed to reflect the evolution of the underlying investments value.  

As at 31 December 2016, the transaction price has been estimated at EUR 21.5m. The liability has been discounted 
to its present value, using a discount rate of 2.1% and 2.5% for each tranche respectively, at EUR 18,301,158. The 
liability will be amortised using the discount rate being representative of the effective interest rate. The gain from 
discount for EUR 3,183,842 has been recognised within other financial gains and losses. Following the finalisation 
of the negotiations, the Group revised the list of investments included in the transaction and recognized an 
additional debt valued at EUR 7.7m having a maturity date in 2024. As a result, an actualized debt of EUR 
6,453,346 and a discount gain of EUR 1,217,654 has been recognized. Following the amortization, the debts 
amounts to EUR 25.1m as at 31 December 2017. 

Further information regarding the impact of the acquisition of non-controlling interests is provided in note 5.5.3. 

4 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
The Company's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in 
order to provide returns to its shareholders and benefits to other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital 
structure. 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 

The Company monitors its capital on the basis of the net equity, as shown in the statement of financial position.  
  



EREN Groupe S.A.  
Consolidated Financial Statements 2017 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
(All amounts are in Euro, unless indicated otherwise) 

58 

5 GROUP INFORMATION 

5.1 Parent 

The Group’s ultimate shareholder is the Mouratoglou family who owns the majority of the rights in the Group. 

Several subsidiaries have non-controlling shareholders. 

5.2 Subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group includes the financial information of the following subsidiaries: 
   % equity interest  

Name Principal activity Country of 
incorporation 31/12/2017 31/12/2016  

Vientos Los Hércules S.A Project (Wind park) Argentina 45% 79%  
Ecosol San Luis SA Project (Solar plant) Argentina 32% -  
Eren Services Argentina SAU Holding Argentina 45% -  
Central Eolica Pampa de Malaspina SA Wind park Argentina 45% -  
Société Belge de Gestion Financière Internationale 
SPRL Holding Belgium 100% 100%  

Tréfoncière d'Arlon S.A. Tréfonds Belgium 100% 100%  
Eren Uganda SA Holding Belgium 45% 79%  
Osmos Benelux SPRL Structural Health Monitoring Belgium 76% 76%  
Eren Do Brasil Participaçoes E Consultoria Em 
Energia Solar Ltda Project (Solar plant) Brazil 45% 79%  

Eren Renewable Energy do Brasil Participaçoes 
SA Project (Solar plant) Brazil 45% 79%  

BJL11 Solar SA Project (Solar plant) Brazil 45% -  
Essakane Solar SAS Project (Solar plant) Burkina Faso 45% 79%  
Osmos Nordic Structural Health Monitoring Finland 53% 53%  
Parc Photovoltaique du Puyloubier SAS Solar plant France 45% 79%  
Solaire Habitat Social SAS Solar plant France 43% 75%  
Toitures Solaires de France SAS Solar panel installation France 32% 55%  
JPM Malesherbes SCI Real Estate France 95% 95%  
JPM Ponthieu SCI Real Estate France 85% 85%  
JPM Vigny SCI Real Estate France 90% 90%  
Osmos Group SA Structural Health Monitoring France 76% 76%  
Société d'investissements immobiliers et 
financiers - SIIF SNC Real Estate France 100% 100%  

Société du lac Alain Cami SAS Real Estate France 100% 100%  
Hotel Victoria SAS Holding (Tennis project) France 100% 100%  
TETC SAS Tennis club France 100% 100%  
Orège SA Water treatment France 69% 69%  
TMW SA Water treatment France 67% 67%  
Eren Gestion SAS Holding France 100% 100%  
Foncière Hotel Country Club SNC Real Estate France 100% 100%  
Société d'exploitation de l'hotel country club SNC Hotel management France 100% 100%  
Mouratoglou Tennis Etude SNC Tennis school France 100% 100%  
Foncière Académie Mouratoglou SNC Tennis club France 100% 100%  
Foncière Internat Mouratoglou SNC Hotel management France 100% 100%  
Voltalis SA Electricity demand management France 54% 54%  
Foncière Sophia Résidence de Tourisme SNC Real Estate France 100% 100%  
Total Eren SA Holding France 45% 79%  
Eren Siam SAS Holding France 45% 79%  
iVoltalis SAS Electricity demand management France 54% 54%  
VPK1 SAS Electricity demand management France 54% 54%  
VPK2 SAS Electricity demand management France 54% 54%  
Ren Argentina SAS Project (Solar Plant) France 45% 79%  
Sunrise Wind One SAS Project (Solar Plant) France 45% 79%  
New wind 1 SAS Project (Solar Plant) France 45% 79%  

Fafco SAS Cooling management and storage 
systems France 100% 100%  

Cryogel SA Cooling management and storage 
systems France 100% 97%  

Total Eren Holding S.A. Holding France 66% -  
Eren TES SAS Holding France 100% -  
Eren MALI SAS Holding France 45% -  
Global Solar Services SAS Holding France 27% -  
New Green Energy Services Holding France 42% -  
SCI de Mérigot Real Estate France 50% -  
Elliniki Eoliki Energiaki SA Wind farm Greece 39% 68%  
EMV Energy Investments SA Solar plant Greece 45% 79%  
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   % equity interest  

Name Principal activity Country of 
incorporation 31/12/2017 31/12/2016  

Aiolos Kritis SA Project (Wind farm) Greece 45% 79%  
Ananeosimes Piges Kritis Paragogi Ilektrikis 
Energeias SA Project (Hybrid) Greece 45% 79%  

East Photovoltaics Energy Production and 
Exploitation SA Project (Solar Plant) Greece 45% 79%  

Eren Hellas Energy SA Holding Greece 45% 79%  
Goritsa Aiolos Energy SA Wind farm - Under construction Greece 45% 79%  
Iliaki Energy Production and Exploitation SA Project (Solar Plant) Greece 45% 79%  
Lekka Energy Production and Trade SA Project (Solar Plant) Greece 45% 79%  
Lithos Aiolos Energy SA Project (Solar Plant) Greece 45% 79%  
Notias Energy SA Project (Solar Plant) Greece 45% 79%  
Wind Storage SA Wind farm Greece 45% 79%  
Bioclimatic Building Construction Galaxidi LLC Real Estate Greece 100% -  
Osmos Hellas - Structural Health Monitoring SA Structural Health Monitoring Greece 69% 69%  
Energiaki Ptoon SA Wind farm Greece 45% 79%  
Energiaki Maristi SA Wind farm Greece 45% 79%  
Livadia Aiolos SA Wind farm Greece 45% 79%  
Eoliki Energiaki Evias SA Wind farm - Under construction Greece 20% -  
Eren Industries Hellas Holding Greece 100% 100%  
Aioliki Energeiaki Achladotopos SA Wind farm - Under construction Greece 95% -  
Aktina Skalas SA Wind farm - Under construction Greece 45% -  
Drymari Energiaki SA Wind farm - Under construction Greece 49% -  
Anemopetra SA Wind farm - Under construction Greece 45% -  
Haridwar Solar Projects Private Ltd* Solar plant - Under construction India 23% -  
Bindookhadak Solar Projects Pvt Ltd* Solar plant - Under construction India 23% -  
Bwagwanpur Solar Projects Pvt Ltd* Solar plant - Under construction India 23% -  
Eren Management Israel Ltd Holding Israel 45% 79%  
SIIF EDF EN Israel Ltd Holding (Solar plant) Israel 23% 40%  
Brur Haill Power 2009 Ltd General Partner Israel 20% 35%  
Kerem Shalom Sun LP Solar plant Israel 20% 35%  
Kerem Shalom Power Ltd General Partner Israel 20% 35%  
Mishmar Hanegev Sun LP Solar plant Israel 20% 35%  
Mishmar Hanegev Power Ltd General Partner Israel 20% 35%  
Talmei Eliyahu Green Energies Ltd Solar plant Israel 21% 37%  
Hazeva Green Energies Ltd Solar plant Israel 45% 79%  
Energia Italia SRL Hydro Plant Italy 36% 63%  
Idroelettrica Ivrea SRL Hydro Plant Italy 18% 31%  
Idroelettrica Dogana SRL Hydro Plant Italy 18% 31%  
Idroelettrica Restituzione SRL Hydro Plant Italy 18% 31%  
Eren Grèce SA Holding Luxembourg 45% 79%  
Eren Participations Holding Luxembourg 100% 100%  
SIIP SA Holding Luxembourg 45% 79%  
Eren India Sàrl Holding Luxembourg 45% 79%  
Eren Brazil Sàrl Holding Luxembourg 45% 79%  
Eren Industries SA Holding Luxembourg 100% 100%  
New Eren SA Holding Luxembourg 100% 100%  
International Sport Mouratoglou and Partners SA Holding Luxembourg 100% 100%  
Eren Eco Chic Sàrl Holding Luxembourg 100% -  
Skala Lux Holding SA Holding Luxembourg 45% 79%  
Eren Financements SeNC Holding Luxembourg 100% -  
Slim SA Holding Luxembourg 38% -  

Cryogel ITS (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. Cooling management and storage 
systems Malaysia 100% 97%  

Access Quaint Solar Nigeria Ltd Holding (Solar Plant) Nigeria 22% -  
Eren Asia Pte. Ltd. Holding Singapore 45% 79%  
Eren Development Asia Pte. Ltd. Holding Singapore 45% 79%  
Eren Development Indonesia Pte. Ltd. Holding Singapore 45% 79%  
Pace Energy Pte. Ltd. Project (Wind Farm) Singapore 45% 55%  

Cryogel Singapore Ltd. Cooling management and storage 
systems Singapore 100% 97%  

Fafco SA Cooling management and storage 
systems Switzerland 97% 97%  

Delroc SA Cooling management and storage 
systems Switzerland 97% 97%  

Access Uganda Solar Ltd. Solar Plant - Under construction Uganda 32% 55%  
Orège UK Water treatment UK 69% 69%  

Access Eren RE JAFZA Holding (Solar Plant) United Arab 
Emirates 32% 55%  

Osmos Inc Structural Health Monitoring USA 76% 76%  
Orege North America Inc. Water treatment USA 69% 69%  
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* These entities have been reclassified from associates and joint venture recognised though equity method to subsidiaries recognised through 
full consolidation method. 

5.3 Associates and joint ventures 

The Group has investments in the following joint ventures and associates. 
    % control interest  

Name Short name Principal activity 
Country of 
incorporation 

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

Building Energy Egypt JSC Building Energy Solar plant Development Egypt 20% 20%  
Access Building Energy Solar One Building Solar 1 Solar plant Egypt 75% 45%  
Access Egypt Wind One Egypt Wind 1 Solar plant Egypt 50% 50%  
Access Egypt Solar One Egypt Solar 1 Solar plant Egypt 100% 50%  
Corsica Solaire Services SAS Corsica Project (Solar plant) France 33% 33%  
Bélise 2 Solaire Services SAS Bélise 2 Solar plant France 50% 50%  
Bélise 3 Solaire Services SAS Bélise 3 Solar plant France 50% 50%  
Bois fleuri SAS Bois Fleuri Hotel Management France 50% 50%  
Form'Sport Developpement SAS Form Sport Sport Centre France 50% 57%  
Infralion DGGN Infralion DGGN Real Estate France 50% 50%  

BH Industries SA BH Industries Structural Health 
Monitoring France 10% 10%  

Montjoly Solaires Services SAS Montjoly Solar plant France 33% 33%  
Musical Trévise SAS Musical Trévise Music France 54% -  
Montjoly 2 Solaire Services SAS Montjoly 2 Project (Solar plant) France 33% 33%  
Piémontaise Solaire Services SAS Piémontaise Project (Solar plant) France 33% 33%  
Desvarieux Solaire Services SAS Desvarieux Project (Solar plant) France 33% 33%  
Saint François 3 Solaire Services 
SAS Saint François 3 Solar Plant France 50% 50%  

Energy Solaire Services SAS Energy Solaire Solar Plant France 50% 50%  
Antilles Solaire Services SAS Antilles Project (Solar plant) France 33% 33%  
Grand Rivière Eolien Stockage 
Services SAS GRESS Project (Wind farm) France 33% 33%  

Voreas Technical, Commercial, 
Manufacturing and Construction 
SA 

Voreas Solar plant Greece 50% 50% 
 

Delta Hyperion Renewable Energy 
Sources SA Delta Hyperion Real Estate Greece - 20%  

EDEN Renewables India LLP EDEN RE India Holding (Solar plant) India 50% 50%  
Eden Renewable Ranji Pvt Ltd  Ranji Solar Project (Solar plant) India 50% 50%  
Medha Energy Pvt Ltd Medha Project (Solar plant) India 50% 50%  
Eden Mumbai Solar Pvt Ltd Mumbai Project (Solar plant) India 50% 50%  
Eden Solar Rajdhani Pvt Ltd Rajdhani Project (Solar plant) India 50% 50%  
Eden Solar Gurgaon Pvt Ltd Gurgaon Project (Solar plant) India 50% 50%  
Ballupur Solar Power Projects Pvt 
Ltd Ballupur Project (Solar plant) India 50% 25%  

Chiudiala Solar Power Projects Pvt 
Ltd Chiudiala Project (Solar plant) India 50% 25%  

Shakumbhari Solar Power Project 
Pvt Ltd Shakumbhari Project (Solar plant) India 50% 25%  

Bastille Solar Pvt Ltd Bastille Project (Solar plant) India 51% 50%  
Cambronne Solar Pvt Ltd Cambronne Project (Solar plant) India 50% 50%  
Duroc Solar Pvt Ltd Duroc Project (Solar plant) India 50% 50%  
Eden Solar Opera Pvt Ltd Opera Project (Solar plant) India 50% 50%  
Eden Solar Raspail Pvt Ltd Raspail Project (Solar plant) India 50% 50%  
Segur Solar Pvt Ltd Segur Project (Solar plant) India 51% 50%  
Haridwar Solar Projects Pvt Ltd Haridwar Project (Solar plant) India - 25%  
Bindookhadak Solar Projects Pvt 
Ltd Bindookhadak Project (Solar plant) India - 25%  

Bhagwanpur Solar Projects Pvt Ltd Bhagwanpur Project (Solar plant) India - 25%  
Avengers Solar Pvt Ltd Avenger Project (Solar plant) India 25% -  
Eden Renewable Anvers Private 
Ltd Avers Project (Solar plant) India 50% -  

Eden Renewable Concorde Private 
Ltd Concorde Project (Solar plant) India 50% -  

Eden Renewable Villiers Private 
Ltd Villiers Project (Solar plant) India 50% -  

Eden Renewable Lourmel Private 
Ltd Lourmel Project (Solar plant) India 50% -  

Eden Renewable Iena Private Ltd Iena Project (Solar plant) India 50% -  
Eden Renewable Simplon Private 
Ltd Simplon Project (Solar plant) India 50% -  
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    % control interest  

Name Short name Principal activity Country of 
incorporation 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

Eden Renewable Jasmin Private 
Ltd Jasmin Project (Solar plant) India 50% -  

Eden Renewable Blanche Private 
Ltd Blanche Project (Solar plant) India 50% -  

Eden Renewable Varenne Private 
Ltd Varenne Project (Solar plant) India 50% -  

Eden Renewable Cite Private Ltd Cite Project (Solar plant) India 50% -  
Idro Mazze SRL Mazze Hydro Plant Italy 49% 49%  
SC Metropolis & Partenaires SRL Metropolis Real Estate Romania 45% 45%  
AREN Energy Ltd Aren Holding (Solar plant) South Africa 50% 50%  
Wind Hill Wind Hill Project (Wind farm) Thailand 49% 49%  
Wind Valley Wind Valley Project (Wind farm) Thailand 49% 49%  
Wind Mountain Wind Montain Project (Wind farm) Thailand 49% 49%  
Winch Energy Ltd Winch Energy Project (Solar plant) UK 50% 50%  

Access Consultants JLT Limited Access  Holding United Arab 
Emirates 20% 20%  

Access Infra Central Asia JAFZA AICA Holding (Solar plant) United Arab 
Emirates 20% 20%  

Eco Chic LLC Eco Chic Cosmetics USA 27% 27%  

5.4 Interests in unconsolidated structured entities 

The Group has no interests in unconsolidated structured entities. 

5.5 Changes in Group structure 

5.5.1 New subsidiaries 

In 2017, the Group has incorporated 5 new subsidiaries and acquired 7 project entities to support the development 
of its activities in the Energy sector. The Group has incorporated 1 new subsidiary to support the development of 
its activities in the Industry sector. The Group has also incorporated 2 other subsidiaries and acquired 2 other 
entities for its other activities. There were no other acquisitions of subsidiaries made during the year.  

With effect from 22 December 2017 , the Group merged the activities of Aktina Peloponnisou SA within EMV 
Energy Investments SA. 

In 2016, the Group incorporated 9 new subsidiaries and acquired 18 project entities to support the development of 
its activities in the Energy sector. The Group incorporated 4 new subsidiaries and acquired 1 project entity to 
support the development of its activities in the Industry sector. There were no other acquisitions of subsidiaries 
made during the year.  

In January 2016, Eren Development was merged into the Eren RE (“transmission universelle de patrimoine”). 

In January 2016, the Group reorganized the governance structure of its investment in Osmos, and now assumes 
executive roles. Following this reorganization, the Group obtained the control over the entity and its subsidiaries. 
As at 31 December 2016, these entities are consolidated through full consolidation method. 

In January 2016, the investment Voltalis reorganised its capital structure. As a result of the reorganisation, the 
Group obtained exclusive control over the entity and its subsidiaries. As at 31 December 2016, these entities are 
consolidated through full consolidation method. 

In February 2016, the Group acquired the entity Cryogel SA and its subsidiairies: Cryogel ITS (Malaysia) Sdn. 
Bhd. and Cryogel Singapore. These new entities are within the industrial sector for cooling management and 
storage systems.  

With effect from 30 December 2016, the Group merged the activities of Aktina Aigaiou SA and Aktina Chanion 
SA within EMV Energy Investments SA. 

The Group obtained control over the subsidiary Pace Energy Pte. Ltd. during the year 2016. 

Several project and holding entities were liquidated during the year. 
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5.5.2 Incorporation of Total Eren Holding 

In relation with the equity stake Total has taken within the Energy sector of the Group, “Total Eren Holding” has 
been incorporated. This entity owns all the Group’s interests in Total Eren. Total Eren Holding is owned by the 
Group and Total by respectively about 2/3 and 1/3. This proportion is susceptible to evolve in the coming years in 
order to realize future capital increase aiming at developing the development of Total Eren. However, the 
percentage of the Group cannot fall below 51%. 

During the year, Total Eren (previously named Eren Renewable Energy) proceeded with a capital increase, 
corresponding to the second part of the fundraising for EUR 97,500,000. 

The aforementioned equity stake taken by Total within Total Eren Holding and the capital increase of Total Eren, 
have had a significant impact on the Group’s net equity being materialised by an increase of the Group’s retained 
earnings of EUR 127.4m and EUR 206.7m of non-controlling interests. 

5.5.3 Acquisition of non-controlling interests 

The Group acquired non-controlling interests in relation to several Greek entities, which were all held by the 
same non-controlling shareholder. The acquisition was made by acquiring the non-controlling shareholder’s 
entity instead of acquiring separately all non-controlling stakes in each entity. The acquisition price has been 
determined based on the estimated value of the projects for which non-controlling interests were acquired. As at 
31 December 2016, the price has been estimated at EUR 21,492,750 with payments in 2021 and 2024. The value 
of the non-controlling interests acquired amounts to EUR 917,732 and the Group recognized a negative impact 
within retained earnings for EUR 20,524,930 and available-for-sale reserve for EUR 54. The Group also acquired 
EUR 50,034 of other assets of which EUR 51,341 of cash. 

In 2017, the Group finalized the negotiation for the acquisition of the minority shareholder’s entity. The 
acquisition price had been adjusted to EUR 28,874,000. The difference with the initial estimation of EUR 
7,671,000 has been directly recognized in the retained earnings and the non-controlling interests.  

During the year, the Group obtained the full control over the subsidiary Pace Energy Pte Ltd by acquiring the 
remaining non-controlling interests without financial considerations. The Group acquired non-controlling 
interests for EUR 316,383 and recognized a loss in the retained earnings and the non-controlling interests of EUR 
301,367 and a loss in the reevaluation reserve of EUR 15,016.  
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6 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 

6.1 Acquisition in 2017 

There was no business combination in 2017. 

6.2 Acquisition in 2016 

6.2.1 Acquisition of Cryogel 

On 22 February 2016, the Group acquired 100% of the voting shares of Cryogel SA (“Cryogel”) and its 
subsidiaries, Cryogel Singapore, Cryogel Its (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. Cryogel is specialized in the design, 
manufacturing, installation and maintenance of cold production and storage systems, for the industrial, commercial 
and real estate sectors. 

The Group primarily acquired Cryogel to expand its investment portfolio in the cold production sector and to make 
synergy with its subsidiary Fafco. The control was obtained through acquiring a majority of the voting rights of 
the entity in the shareholders’ meeting. 

Upon acquisition, the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed of Cryogel were as 
follows: 

 Fair value  on 
acquisition 

 EUR 
Assets  
Property, plant and equipment 3,464 
Investments 1 
Deferred tax assets 374,616 
Trade and other receivables 234,995 
Current income tax receivable 1,395 
Current prepayments 2,721 
 617,192 
Liabilities  
Employee benefits liabilities 324,793 
Trade and other payables 963,916 
Current bank overdrafts 3,360 
 1,292,069 
  
Total identifiable net assets at fair value (674,877) 
  
Non-controlling interest’s share of net assets at fair value 25,435 
Deferred purchase consideration (114,535) 
Goodwill arising on acquisition 1,232,517 
Purchase consideration transferred 468,540 

The fair value of the receivables equals their carrying value. The gross contractual amount of receivables is  
EUR 234,995. None of the receivables have been impaired and it is expected that the full contractual amounts can 
be collected. 

The Group recognised a goodwill of EUR 1,232,517 as a result of the acquisition. With a conservative approach, 
the Group has estimated the recoverable value of the cash generating unit Cryogel as nil considering the inherent 
difficulties for a commercial development mainly oriented on international markets far from production sites of 
Cryogel. Consequently, the Groupe has immediately impaired the goodwill within profit or loss. 

From the date of acquisition, Cryogel contributed EUR 490,157 of revenue and EUR 472,599 of losses before tax. 
These amounts have been calculated using the subsidiary’s results and adjusting them for differences in the 
accounting policies between the Group and the subsidiary. 

The Group incurred a net cash variation of EUR 471,900 detailed as follows: 
 EUR 
Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (included in cash flows from investing activities) (3,360) 
Cash paid (included in cash flows from investing activities) (468,540) 
Net cash flow on acquisition (471,900) 

  



EREN Groupe S.A.  
Consolidated Financial Statements 2017 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
(All amounts are in Euro, unless indicated otherwise) 

64 

6.2.2 Acquisition of Osmos 

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had shareholding of 77% within the entity Osmos Group SA. However, the 
Group had determined not to have the exclusive control over the entity which was then classified as an associate 
and measured at equity method. 

Through a change in governance structure of Osmos Group SA during January 2016, the Group obtained the 
exclusive control over the entity. As at 31 December 2016, the Group holds 76% of the voting shares in Osmos 
Group SA (“Osmos”). The Group assumes to have acquired control over the entity as at 1 January 2016. 

Founded in 2001, Osmos is a pioneer of monitoring engineering. Unique in the world, its optical fibre-based 
system provides information extremely early on about the health of all structures. By improving the monitoring of 
the structures, Osmos extends their lifetime, thus cutting out the need for major renovations with strong economic 
and environment impacts. 

The Group primarily acquired Osmos to diversify its investment portfolio and to invest in new and promising 
environmental technologies. 

Upon acquisition, the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed of Osmos were as 
follows: 

 Fair value on 
acquisition 

 EUR 
Assets  
Property, plant and equipment 1,982,893 
Intangible assets 1,688,247 
Investments 69,738 
Cash restricted or pledged 87,910 
Deferred tax assets 7,202 
Inventories 402,315 
Trade and other receivables 1,389,732 
Current income tax receivable 13,421 
Current prepayments 238,317 
Cash and short-term deposits 432,671 
 6,312,446 
Liabilities  
Loans and borrowings 160,291 
Other financial liabilities 32,849 
Government grants 381,337 
Provisions 40,868 
Employee benefits liabilities 214,205 
Trade and other payables 2,825,925 
Deferred income 94,547 
 3,750,022 
  
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 2,562,424 
  
Fair value of previous investment in Osmos (1,968,198) 
Non-controlling interest’s share of net assets at fair value (594,226) 
Purchase consideration transferred - 

The fair value of the receivables equals their carrying value. The gross contractual amount of receivables is  
EUR 1,389,732. None of the receivables have been impaired and it is expected that the full contractual amounts 
can be collected. 

As the control acquisition resulting solely from changes in management’s organization within the entity, there has 
been no cash consideration paid for the acquisition.  

The Group recognised a loss of EUR 1,515,501 as a result of remeasuring to fair value the equity interest held in 
the entity before the business combinations. The loss has been recognised within other financial gains/(losses).  

From the date of control acquisition , Osmos contributed EUR 1,949,231 of revenue and EUR 5,706,226 of losses 
before tax. 
  



EREN Groupe S.A.  
Consolidated Financial Statements 2017 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
(All amounts are in Euro, unless indicated otherwise) 

65 

The Group received a net cash variation of EUR 432,671 detailed as follows: 
 EUR 
Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (included in cash flows from investing activities) 432,671 
Cash paid (included in cash flows from investing activities) - 
Net cash flow on acquisition 432,671 

6.2.3 Acquisition of Voltalis 

On 12 January 2016, the Group acquired an additional 26.27% of the voting shares of Voltalis SA (“Voltalis”). 
Voltalis has been founded in 2006 by experts from energy, internet of things, software and telecom sectors with 
the ambition to raise awareness of the potential of demand-side management and propose an innovative solution 
to grid operators and utilities. 

The Group primarily acquired Voltalis to diversify its investment portfolio and to invest in new and promising 
environmental technologies. The control was obtained through obtaining a majority of the voting rights of the 
entity in both the shareholders’ and board of directors’ meetings. 

Upon acquisition, the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed of Voltalis were as 
follows: 

 Fair value on 
acquisition 

 EUR 
Assets  
Property, plant and equipment 53,756 
Cash restricted or pledged 219,589 
Deferred tax assets 1,598,172 
Trade and other receivables 16,576,947 
Current prepayments 70,380 
Cash and short-term deposits 19,066,245 
 37,585,089 
Liabilities  
Loans and borrowings 3,060,000 
Provisions 3,558,726 
Employee benefits liabilities 992,821 
Trade and other payables 29,312,872 
 36,924,419 
  
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 660,670 
  
Fair value of previous investment in Voltalis (189,216) 
Non-controlling interest’s share of net assets at fair value (297,897) 
Goodwill arising on acquisition 14,552,700 
Purchase consideration transferred 14,726,257 

The fair value of the receivables equals their carrying value. The gross contractual amount of receivables is  
EUR 16,576,947. None of the receivables have been impaired and it is expected that the full contractual amounts 
can be collected. 

The Group recognised a loss of EUR 1,545,541 as a result of remeasuring to fair value the equity interest held 
before the business combinations. The loss has been recognised within other financial gains/(losses).  

Upon acquisition of Voltalis the Group recognised goodwill of EUR 14,552,700. With a conservative approach, 
the Group has estimated the recoverable value of the cash generating unit Voltalis as nil as the regulatory 
environment does not enable the Group to realise reliable analysis of the information. Therefore, the goodwill has 
been immediately impaired within profit or loss. 

From the date of acquisition, Voltalis contributed EUR 5,118,922 of revenue and EUR 1,871,925 of losses before 
tax. 

The Group received a net cash variation of EUR 4,339,988 detailed as follows: 
 EUR 
Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (included in cash flows from investing activities) 19,066,245 
Cash paid (included in cash flows from investing activities) (14,726,257) 
Net cash flow on acquisition 4,339,988 



EREN Groupe S.A.  
Consolidated Financial Statements 2017 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
(All amounts are in Euro, unless indicated otherwise) 

66 

7 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

7.1 Description 

In June 2016, the entity JPM Malesherbes sold its building located at 140 Boulevard Malesherbes, 75017 Paris for 
a gross price of EUR 71,900,000. 

In June 2016, the entity JPM Vigny sold its building located at 5 rue Alfred de Vigny, 75008 Paris for a gross price 
of EUR 42,460,000. 

Given the significant nature of the sales in 2016, the Group decided to reclassify these entities as discontinued 
operations for the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2016. Financial information relating to the 
discontinued operations during 2016 are set out below. 

In November 2017, the entity JPM Ponthieu sold its building located at 38 rue de Ponthieu, 75008 Paris for a gross 
price of EUR 12,000,000. 

The Group considers this sale as non-significant in the Group activities taken as a whole.  Therefore, the results of 
this activity are not reclassified as discontinued operations. However, the financial information of this entity for 
the year 2017 are set out below. 

Following these sales, these entities are not engaged in the investment property activities anymore. These entities 
will be liquidated by the Group. 

7.2 Financial performance and cash flow information 
 

  2017 2016 
  EUR EUR 
Revenue  204,565 2,481,407 

    
Other operating expenses  (263,105) (1,063,109) 
Other operating income  - 1,955 
Changes in fair value of investment property  912,687 1,880,774 
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-financial assets  - (2,754) 
Operating result  854,147 3,298,273 

    
Finance costs  (449,553) (782,425) 
Finance income  - 91 
Other financial gains/(losses)  (9,051) (9,850,343) 
Profit/(loss) before income tax  395,543 (7,334,404) 

    
Income tax (expenses) / income  - - 
Profit/(loss) for the year  395,543 (7,334,404) 
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to:    
Equity holders of the parent  336,212 (6,613,417) 
Non-controlling interests  59,331 (530,580) 
    
Net cash inflow from operating activities  (3,607,319) 431,834 
Net cash inflow from investing activities  11,743,311 107,391,274 
Net cash outflow from financing activities  (4,958,641) (61,469,899) 
Net increase in cash generated by the entities  3,177,351 46,353,209 
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8 SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 
The Group includes subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests (NCI): 

2017 Summarised as 
Proportion of 

ownership held by 
NCI 

Profit 
allocated to 

NCI 

Accumulated 
NCI 

EUR EUR 
Orège SA Orège 31% (3,496,270) 8,913,599 
TMW SA TMW 33% (884,633) (5,496,260) 

Total Eren Holding S.A. (Subgroup) Total Eren 
(Subgroup) 34% 5,808,765 285,514,161 

   1,427,863 288,931,500 
     

The Group has decided to present non-controlling interests at the level of Total Eren Holding sub-group as it best 
represents the Group’s view. 
 
During the year 2017, the Group created a new company, Total Eren Holding S.A., for the equity stake of Total in 
Total Eren (previously called Eren Renewable Energy). 

2016 Summarised as 
Proportion of 

ownership held by 
NCI 

Profit 
allocated to 

NCI 

Accumulated 
NCI 

EUR EUR 
Orège SA Orège 31% (4,916,203) (5,460,251) 
TMW SA TMW 33% (126,249) 6,342,684 

Total Eren S.A. (Subgroup) Total Eren 
(Subgroup) 21% 4,325,871 78,479,044 

   (716,581) 79,361,477 

The summarized financial information of these subsidiaries are provided below. This information is based on 
amounts before inter-company eliminations. Some entities with similar nature and similar non-controlling interests 
have been grouped. 

Summarised statement of profit or loss for 2017: Orège TMW Total Eren 
(Subgroup) 

EUR EUR EUR 
Revenue 972,811 576,545 76,994,272 
Raw materials and consumables used (627,959) (773,302) (1,757,796) 
Operating expenses (11,255,611) (2,132,829) (28,329,319) 
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-financial assets (1,364,411) (260,598) (23,173,710) 
Operating income 1,467,645 364,250 4,548,710 
Finance result (1,658,573) (226,960) (16,944,122) 
Profit/(loss) before tax (12,466,098) (2,452,894) 11,338,036 
Income tax 1,187,807 (195,707) (3,468,328) 
Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations (11,278,290) (2,648,601) 7,869,708 
Other comprehensive income 208,665 - (3,166,787) 
Total comprehensive income (11,069,626) (2,648,601) 4,702,921 

Attributable to non-controlling interests (3,496,270) (884,633) 5,808,765 
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests - - (1,538,014) 

    

Summarised statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017: Orège TMW Total Eren 
(Subgroup) 

EUR EUR EUR 
Property, plant and equipment 995,216 842,460 490,299,111 
Other non-current assets 665,997 27,788,522 373,010,592 
Current assets 8,123,710 919,483 269,245,027 
Cash and short-term deposits 441,928 169,710 239,398,074 
Non-current financial liabilities (32,715,967) (989,000) (293,561,418) 
Other non-current liabilities (1,225,469) (6,972,011) (59,183,331) 
Current financial liabilities (339) (3,863) (119,813,786) 
Other current liabilities (5,038,621) (5,299,434) (33,680,420) 
Total equity (28,753,545) 16,455,868 865,713,849 
Attributable to non-controlling interests 8,913,599 (5,496,260) 285,514,161 
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Summarised statement of profit or loss for 2016: Orège TMW Total Eren 
(Subgroup) 

EUR EUR EUR 
Revenue 702,594 650,955 82,248,163 
Raw materials and consumables used (256,955) (429,063) (14,926,308) 
Operating expenses (12,893,969) (1,969,150) (30,250,685) 
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-financial assets (9,144,678) (130,282) (21,558,850) 
Operating income 7,264,971 21,112 3,864,908 
Finance result (916,232) (86,905) (4,733,754) 
Profit/(loss) before tax (15,244,269) (1,943,333) 14,643,474 
Income tax (614,451) 1,563,064 (4,459,339) 
Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations (15,858,720) (380,269) 10,184,135 
Other comprehensive income (292,564) - (1,708,670) 
Total comprehensive income (16,151,284) (380,269) 8,475,465 

Attributable to non-controlling interests (4,916,203) (126,249) 4,325,871 
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests - - 2,440,295 

    

Summarised statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016: Orège TMW Total Eren 
(Subgroup) 

EUR EUR EUR 
Property, plant and equipment 1,454,887 1,358,376 373,568,487 
Other non-current assets 799,619 27,989,366 98,591,928 
Current assets 6,939,716 1,046,487 136,211,859 
Cash and short-term deposits 808,051 202,716 79,075,609 
Non-current financial liabilities (20,756,193) (3,209,151) (262,737,461) 
Other non-current liabilities (2,420,548) (7,171,181) (51,506,955) 
Current financial liabilities (2,797) (3,305) (32,106,167) 
Other current liabilities (4,436,448) (1,108,839) (39,300,177) 
Total equity (17,613,713) 19,104,469 301,797,123 
Attributable to non-controlling interests (5,460,251) 6,342,684 78,479,044 
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9 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 
The Group’s interest in joint ventures is accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial 
statements. The Group has investment in the following joint ventures. 

 

 
 
 
 

Acquisition 
cost as at 31 
December 

2017 

 
 
 

Share of 
result for 
the year 

2017 

 

 
 

Share of 
result for 
the year 

2016 

Carrying 
amount as 

at 
31 

December 
2017 

  

Carrying 
amount as 

at 
31 

December 
2016 

 

 

Name  EUR EUR EUR       EUR EUR   
Joint Ventures        
France ZNI (1) 5,100,200 1,104,352 1,094,517 10,596,125 10,157,326  
Greece Voreas 5,953,023 986,014 1,738,189 9,854,220 9,978,474  
India (2) 15,707,837 68,471 1,817,203 18,196,460 18,066,488  
United Kingdom Winch Energy 2,214,437 (1,378,060) (964,903) - 1,103,031  
France (Mainland) Infralion DGGN 50,000 (2,657,095) 26,829 - 76,829  
        

  29,025,497 (1,876,318) 3,711,835 38,646,805 39,382,148  

(1) The entities included within the France ZNI group of joint ventures are ESS, Bélise 2, Bélise 3 and SF3SS. 

(2) As at 31 December 2017, the entities included within the India Group of joint venture are Eden RE India, Ranji Solar, Medha, Mumbai, 
Rajdhani, Gurgaon, Ballupur, Chiudiala, Shakumbhari, Bastille Cambronne, Duroc, Opera, Raspail, Segur, Avenger, Anvers, Concorde, 
Villiers, Lourmel, Iena, Simplon, Jasmin, Blanche, Varenne et Cité. 

Summarised financial information of the joint ventures, based on its IFRS financial statements, and reconciliation 
with the carrying amount of the investment in consolidated financial statements are set out below.  

For the purpose of the reconciliation, the significant investments are disclosed separately. The other investments 
have been grouped by nature of industry. The information below corresponds to the standalone accounts of the 
entity, without considering the shareholding by the Group. 

Within the investments in joint ventures, the Group does not consider that there is individually significant 
investment. All the investments are within the Energy production industry, the Group presented the information 
summarised by country of incorporation to provide more relevant information. 
 

Summarised statement of profit or loss for 2017: France Greece India UK Total 
EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 

Revenue 9,754,324 4,777,226 19,240,423 34,000 33,805,973 
Raw materials and consumables used - - - (231,147) (231,147) 
Operating expenses (4,611,727) (944,969) (3,973,990) (2,555,534) (12,086,220) 
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-
financial assets (3,569,013) (719,801) (5,130,887) (10,301) (9,430,002) 

Operating income 686,093 21,492 1,139,327 92,944 1,939,856 
Change in fair value of investment properties (11,974,065) - - - (11,974,065) 
Finance result (5,821,457) (377,135) (10,598,097) (86,082) (16,882,771) 
Profit/(loss) before tax (15,535,845) 2,756,813 676,776 (2,756,120) (14,858,376) 
Income tax (4,487,054) (784,786) 1,241,975 - (4,029,865) 
Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing 
operations (20,022,900) 1,972,027 1,918,751 (2,756,120) (18,888,242) 
Other comprehensive income 591,349 257,878 (1,834,023) 60,181 (924,615) 
Total comprehensive income (19,431,551) 2,229,905 84,728 (2,695,939) (19,812,857) 
Group’s share of result for the year (1,552,743) 986,014 68,471 (1,378,060) (1,876,318) 
Group’s share of total comprehensive income 295,675 (226,917) (142,716) - (73,958) 
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Summarised statement of financial position as at 

31 December 2017: 
France Greece India UK Total 
EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 

Property, plant and equipment 46,664,212 12,411,518 121,797,651 48,773 180,922,154 
Other non-current assets 134,994,298 1,759,233 12,361,817 6,040 149,121,388 
Current assets 2,483,250 3,196,916 15,480,872 770,824 21,931,862 
Cash and short-term deposits 8,068,463 1,806,350 4,937,043 237,078 15,048,934 
Non-current financial liabilities (161,516,672) (7,746,340) (78,895,968) - (248,158,980) 
Other non-current liabilities (13,140,492) (103,405) (22,368,610) (4,268,961) (39,881,468) 
Current financial liabilities (372,214) (1,071,400) (11,967,653) - (13,411,267) 
Other current liabilities (2,471,839) (1,105,365) (7,019,248) (133,993) (10,730,445) 
Total equity 14,709,006 9,147,507 34,325,904 (3,340,239) 54,842,178 
Group's carrying amount of the investment 11,932,242 8,518,102 18,196,460 - 38,646,804 

 

Summarised statement of profit or loss for 2016: France Greece India UK Total 
EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 

Revenue 10,567,023 4,578,230 15,978,802 - 31,124,055 
Raw materials and consumables used - - - 20,817 20,817 
Operating expenses (1,805,275) (841,842) (1,982,872) (2,086,257) (6,716,246) 
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-
financial assets (3,549,026) (736,813) (2,305,387) (1,892) (6,593,118) 

Operating income 265,531 - 925,479 137,527 1,328,537 
Finance result (2,275,395) (417,102) (8,088,906) - (10,781,403) 
Profit/(loss) before tax 3,202,858 2,582,473 4,527,116 (1,929,805) 8,382,642 
Income tax (960,164) (721,002) (901,469) - (2,582,635) 
Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing 
operations 2,242,694 1,861,471 3,625,647 (1,929,805) 5,800,007 
Other comprehensive income (173,124) - - - (173,124) 
Total comprehensive income 2,069,570 1,861,471 3,625,647 (1,929,805) 5,626,883 
Group’s share of result for the year 1,121,346 1,738,189 1,817,203 (964,903) 3,711,835 
Group’s share of total comprehensive income (86,563) - - - (86,563) 
      
Summarised statement of financial position as at 

31 December 2016: 
France Greece India UK Total 
EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 

Property, plant and equipment 50,096,616 13,119,544 117,015,839 277,539 180,509,538 
Other non-current assets 9,002,067 508,690 12,625,367 20,817 22,156,941 
Current assets 1,252,729 3,465,536 6,560,604 144,140 11,423,009 
Cash and short-term deposits 7,376,326 2,215,840 7,353,958 165,262 17,111,386 
Non-current financial liabilities (44,931,547) (8,351,945) (73,650,244) - (126,933,736) 
Other non-current liabilities (5,678,009) (89,833) (23,661,701) - (29,429,543) 
Current financial liabilities (415,951) (1,032,500) (13,232,768) (1,110,162) (15,791,381) 
Other current liabilities (1,438,378) (439,317) (2,205,260) (142,409) (4,225,364) 
Total equity 15,263,853 9,396,015 30,805,795 (644,813) 54,820,850 
Group's carrying amount of the investment 10,234,155 9,978,474 18,066,488 1,103,031 39,382,148 

 
  



EREN Groupe S.A.  
Consolidated Financial Statements 2017 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
(All amounts are in Euro, unless indicated otherwise) 

71 

10 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 
The Group’s interest in associates is accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial 
statements. The Group has investment in the following associates: 

 

 Acquisition 
cost as at 31 
December 

2017 

Share of 
result for 
the year 

2017 

Share of 
result for 
the year 

2016 

Carrying amount 
as at 

  

 31 
December 

2017 

31 
December 

2016 
  

 Name EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR    
Group of associates         
France ZNI (1) 528,542 242,346 249,262 1,063,339 476,680   
France (Industry) (2) 92,967 (7,036) - 85,931 92,967   
France (Sport) Form'Sport 1,640,000 (841,728) (2,056,014) 21,555 910,098   
France (Other) Bois Fleuri, FMK 255,424 118,184 79,216 1,758,666 1,725,483   
Italy Mazze 220,329 (310,000) (327,157) - -   
Egypt (3) 335,192 256,741 (575,765) 461,613 238,928   

Greece Eoliki Energiaki Evias, 
Delta Hyperion 

- - (5,704) - 1,448,175   

Romania Metropolis 45,000 - - - -   
United Arab Emirates Access Consultant AICA 1,841,334 (145,051) (458,236) - 145,052   
United States of America Eco Chic 2,708,357 (846,304) (429,813) 1,007,238 585,642   
         

  7,667,145 (1,532,848) (3,524,211) 4,398,342 5,623,025   

(1) The entities included within the France ZNI group of associates are Montjoly, Monjoly 2,  Corsica, Antilles, Piémontaise, Desvarieux and 
GRESS. 

(2) The entities included within the France (Industry) group of associates are Osmos Group (subgroup), Voltalis (subgroup) and BH Industries. 

(3) The entities included within the Egypt group of associates are BEE, ABESO, AESO and AEWO. 

Summarised financial information of the associates, based on its IFRS financial statements, and reconciliation with 
the carrying amount of the investment in consolidated financial statements are set out below. 

For the purpose of the reconciliation, the significant investments are disclosed separately. The other investments 
have been grouped by nature of industry. The information below corresponds to the standalone accounts of the 
entity, without considering the shareholding by the Group. 

Summarised statement of profit or loss for 2017: France Italy Other Total 
EUR EUR EUR EUR 

Revenue 24,591,152 554,143 8,773,891 33,919,186 
Raw materials and consumables used (2,399,933) - (2,589,445) (4,989,378) 
Operating expenses (9,356,921) (1,345,104) (13,965,279) (24,667,304) 
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-financial assets (4,519,038) (16,896) (40,302) (4,576,236) 
Operating income 929,181 21,953 - 951,134 
Finance result (1,226,827) 52 (111,283) (1,338,058) 
Profit/(loss) before tax 8,017,614 (785,852) (7,932,418) (700,656) 
Income tax (721,955) 153,199 - (568,756) 
Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations 7,295,659 (632,653) (7,932,418) (1,269,412) 
Other comprehensive income 121,141 - 12,489 133,630 
Total comprehensive income 7,416,800 (632,653) (7,919,929) (1,135,782) 
Group’s share of result for the year (488,234) (310,000) (734,614) (1,532,848) 
Group’s share of total comprehensive income 43,186 - - 43,186 
     

Summarised statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017: France Italy Other Total 
EUR EUR EUR EUR 

Property, plant and equipment 49,253,089 82,189 11,672,362 61,007,640 
Other non-current assets 9,465,367 - 2,210,600 11,675,967 
Current assets 4,988,664 1,110,277 10,131,093 16,230,034 
Cash and short-term deposits 3,086,042 32,778 865,897 3,984,717 
Non-current financial liabilities (28,975,339) - (1,662,253) (30,637,592) 
Other non-current liabilities (419,112) (64,062) (15,156,547) (15,639,721) 
Current financial liabilities (11,994,009) - (604,444) (12,598,453) 
Other current liabilities (19,803,470) (1,822,343) (16,660,657) (38,286,470) 
Total equity 5,601,232 (661,161) (9,203,949) (4,263,878) 
Group's carrying amount of the investment 2,929,491 - 1,468,851 4,398,342 
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Summarised statement of profit or loss for 2016: France Italy Other Total 
EUR EUR EUR EUR 

Revenue 24,937,403 720,181 2,171,045 27,828,629 
Raw materials and consumables used (1,588,749) - (1,146,929) (2,735,678) 
Operating expenses (18,706,442) (1,312,948) (5,457,917) (25,477,307) 
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-financial assets (4,141,239) (11,128) - (4,152,367) 
Operating income 328,952 10,920 418,260 758,132 
Finance result (1,173,354) 269 (214,377) (1,387,462) 
Profit/(loss) before tax (343,429) (592,706) (4,229,918) (5,166,053) 
Income tax (422,448) (76,280) - (498,728) 
Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations (765,877) (668,986) (4,229,918) (5,664,781) 
Other comprehensive income (244,966) - 26,052 (218,914) 
Total comprehensive income (1,010,843) (668,986) (4,203,866) (5,883,695) 
Group’s share of result for the year (1,727,536) (327,157) (1,469,518) (3,524,211) 
Group’s share of total comprehensive income (77,916) - - (77,916) 
     

Summarised statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016: France Italy Other Total 
EUR EUR EUR EUR 

Property, plant and equipment 35,098,510 93,486 10,278,449 45,470,445 
Other non-current assets 6,160,670 - 2,060,828 8,221,498 
Current assets 3,516,108 961,876 6,078,776 10,556,760 
Cash and short-term deposits 3,504,734 55,709 2,539,323 6,099,766 
Non-current financial liabilities (18,246,122) (406,386) (1,136,157) (19,788,665) 
Other non-current liabilities (369,340) (64,062) (15,062,267) (15,495,669) 
Current financial liabilities (8,797,763) - - (8,797,763) 
Other current liabilities (16,089,407) (1,319,966) (9,323,322) (26,732,695) 
Total equity 4,777,390 (679,343) (4,564,370) (466,323) 
Group's carrying amount of the investment 3,205,228 - 2,417,797 5,623,025 
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11 REVENUE 
The Group realises its revenue in the following countries: 

2017 France Greece Italy Rest of 
Europe Israel Rest of the 

world TOTAL 

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 
Sales of goods 11,766,665 40,632,164 7,361,696 3,575,230 15,370,769 5,228,068 83,934,592 

Energy production 9,140,499 40,605,289 7,281,373 - 15,370,769 3,927,549 76,325,479 
Industry 2,318,790 26,875 80,323 1,865,230 - 1,300,519 5,591,737 
Sports 307,376 - - - - - 307,376 
Other - - - 1,710,000 - - 1,710,000 

Rendering of services 24,907,404 375,324 - 78,102 - 650,452 26,011,282 
Energy 1,086,218 244,198 - - - 82,098 1,412,514 
Industry 5,040,450 131,126 - 13,102 - 568,354 5,753,032 
Sports 18,450,565 - - - - - 18,450,565 
Other 330,171 - - 65,000 - - 395,171 

Property rental income 209,808 216,182 - 188,430 - - 614,420 
Regular rent 98,306 207,322 - 188,430 - - 494,058 
Service charge 
income 

115,502 8,860 - - - - 120,362 

 36,883,877 41,223,670 7,361,696 3,841,762 15,370,769 5,878,520 110,560,294 

2016 France Greece Italy Rest of 
Europe Israel Rest of the 

world TOTAL 

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 
Sales of goods 24,239,042 36,815,233 7,635,003 1,755,145 14,864,702 841,597 86,150,722 

Energy production 21,938,250 36,645,816 7,593,923 - 14,864,702 171,665 81,214,356 
Industry 2,058,746 169,417 41,080 1,755,145 - 669,932 4,694,320 
Sports 242,046 - - - - - 242,046 

Rendering of services 19,760,254 59,810 30,944 222,343 - 81,467 20,154,818 
Industry 7,127,196 - - 132,133 - 81,467 7,340,796 
Sports 8,739,751 - - - - - 8,739,751 
Other 3,893,307 59,810 30,944 90,210 - - 4,074,271 

Property rental income 84,961 10,209 - 67,448 - - 162,618 
Regular rent 77,747 10,209 - 50,482 - - 138,438 
Service charge 
income 

7,214 - - 16,966 - - 24,180 

 44,084,257 36,885,252 7,665,947 2,044,936 14,864,702 923,064 106,468,158 

12 OPERATING EXPENSES AND INCOME 

12.1 Employee benefit expenses 

Expenses recognised for employee benefits are analysed below: 
 2017 2016 

EUR EUR 
Wages and salaries  20,954,043 19,801,364 
Social security contributions 7,405,523 7,008,634 
Other short-term employee benefits 197,637 941,971 
Post-employment benefit charges 179,387 26,814 
Termination benefits (1,232) 17,855 
Share-based payments 213,959 18,636 
Total employee benefit expenses 28,949,317 27,815,274 

12.2 Headcount 

The Group had an average full-time equivalent headcount as follows: 
 2017 2016 
Management 54 69 
Employees 289 265 
Workers 14 10 
Total average FTE 357 344 

As at each period end, the Group had a total of headcount as follows: 
 2017 2016 
Management 54 69 
Employees 286 272 
Workers 14 11 
Total headcount 354 352 
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12.3 Other operating expenses 

The Group’s other operating expenses are detailed by their nature as follows: 
 2017 2016 

EUR EUR 
Administrative expenses 26,836,123 20,464,797 

Office property lease expenses 3,274,349 2,107,478 
Office property lease expenses - contingent rents 11,711 2,896 
Other office property lease expenses 783,865 628,390 
General office expenses 2,136,722 1,942,629 
Incorporation expenses 2,927,597 21,920 
Legal fees for litigation 324,509 179,762 
Audit fees 586,811 555,080 
Tax fees 65,379 105,388 
Consultant fees 10,641,469 9,219,071 
Travel and representation expenses 4,076,855 3,701,391 
Advertising and promotion expenses 1,506,945 1,112,355 
Car expenses 285,433 435,918 
Low-value assets 21,384 - 
Other 193,094 452,519 

   
Investment properties 129,808 158,138 

Direct property expenses which generates rental income 88,919 130,550 
Direct property expenses which does not generate rental income 40,889 27,588 

   
Energy and Industry 17,414,195 17,885,825 

Research and development costs 4,203,711 6,102,526 
Selling and distribution expenses 490,651 471,634 
Taxes specific to Energy and Industry activities 711,346 620,622 
Land and building operational lease expenses 1,924,693 1,688,151 
Other specific expenses 10,083,794 9,002,892 

   
Sports/Entertainment 7,821,693 6,479,969 

Rental expenses 8,365 38,727 
Other general expenses for sport centres 780,908 752,836 
Other specific expenses 7,032,420 5,688,406 

   
Other expenses 13,183,832 13,544,423 

Business combination transaction costs 838 65,825 
Net wealth tax 345,360 82,172 
Other taxes 2,882,954 - 
Allowance for bad debtors 189,631 1,533,487 
Bad debt written off 1,455,577 - 
Provision for risks and litigations 965,062 1,292,173 
Share-based payment expenses - 313,641 
Bank fees and other related expenses 2,950,790 2,669,081 
Director's fees 1,360,231 1,263,921 
Net foreign exchange loss 59,259 - 
Other 2,974,130 6,324,123 

   
Total other operating expenses 65,385,651 58,533,152 

The audit fees for the year 2017 amounts to EUR 586,811 (2016: EUR 555,080), including EUR 146,250 for Grant 
Thornton (2016 : EUR 150,930) 

12.4 Other operating income 

The Group’s other operating income are detailed by nature as follows: 
 2017 2016 

EUR EUR 
Government grants 2,417,154 7,663,675 
Operational grants 1,674,759 - 
Net gain on disposal of PPE and intangible assets - 510,073 
Reversal of provision for risks and litigations 45,000 879,674 
Reversal of allowance for bad debtors 1,882,777 337,741 
Operating loss insurance 182,539 - 
Other 8,216,207 5,945,290 
   
 14,418,436 15,336,453 
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12.5 Other operating items  

The other operating items of the Group are detailed as follows: 
 2017 2016 

EUR EUR 
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of PPE and intangible assets (791,797) (662,592) 
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) (3,612,961) 377,311 
 (4,404,758) (285,281) 

12.6 Research and development costs 

The Group’s research and development focuses on the development of new technologies related to the industrial 
businesses operated by the Group. They represent improvements of existing or development of new solutions 
which are registered in patents. 

The Group has incurred in the period expenses for research and development that are not eligible for capitalisation 
for EUR 4,203,711 (2016: EUR 6,102,526). These costs have been recognised within Other operating expenses. 

12.7 Depreciation and amortisation and impairment on non-financial assets 

The depreciation, amortisation and impairment on non-financial assets is as following: 
 2017 2016 

EUR EUR 
Amortisation on Property, plant and equipment 30,025,161 25,292,750 
Amortisation on Intangible assets 1,175,278 3,454,763 
Impairment on Property, plant and equipment 174,077 236,820 
Impairment on Intangible assets and goodwill 3,364,380 24,038,737 
Write-down of inventory 405,830 906,165 
Reversal of write-down on inventory (1,160,415) (345,683) 
 33,984,311 53,583,552 

13 FINANCE COSTS AND INCOME 
The Group’s financial income and expenses are detailed by nature as follows: 
 2017 2016 

EUR EUR 
Finance costs (15,755,785) (12,825,761) 

Interest expenses on loans & borrowings (15,726,718) (12,730,104) 
Interest expenses on other financial liabilities at amortised cost (20,197) (84,510) 
Finance charges on finance leases (8,870) (11,147) 
   

Finance income 15,386,179 10,636,055 
Interest income on cash and cash equivalents 267,724 173,543 
Interest income on financial assets carried at amortised cost 4,003,155 2,934,781 
Interest income on other financial assets at fair value (AFS + through PL/OCI) - 211,376 
Dividend income 11,115,300 7,316,355 
   

Other financial gains/(losses) 5,805,709 (4,849,898) 
Gain/loss from financial instruments classified as held for trading 17,167,820 4,745,851 
Impairment loss on available for sale equity investments (2,211,336) (9,342,747) 
Unwinding of discount and effect of changes in discount rate (22,166) (27,897) 
Gain/loss on loss of control of a subsidiary (658,475) 701,095 
Gain/loss on disposal of equity accounted investments 976,838 326,323 
Gain/loss on hedge instruments 112,578 -  
Gain/loss from other financial instruments (9,559,550) (1,252,524) 
   

Total finance costs and income 5,436,103 (7,039,604) 

The gain and loss from other financial instruments results primarily from the disposal of investments classified as 
available-for-sale. 
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14 INCOME TAX 

14.1 Income tax 

The major components of tax (expense) income for the year ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 
Consolidated statement of profit or loss 2017 2016 

EUR EUR 
Current income tax (4,120,021) (7,292,358) 

Current income tax (charge) / income (3,834,825) (7,179,611) 
Amount of benefit arising from previously unrecognised tax loss, tax credit or temporary difference used 
to reduce current tax expense 

- 17,349 

Adjustment to prior year income tax (285,196) (130,096) 
Deferred income tax 1,587,526 5,394,430 

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences 367,410 3,167,246 
Relating to changes in tax rates or the imposition of new taxes 26,386 2,206,869 
Amount of benefit arising from previously unrecognised tax loss, tax credit or temporary difference 
used to reduce deferred tax expense 

1,193,730 22,543 

From write-down, or reversal of a write-down of deferred tax asset - (2,228) 
Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit or loss (2,532,495) (1,897,928) 

 
Deferred tax related to items recognised in OCI during the year 2017 2016 

EUR EUR 
Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of hedging instruments (370,297) (382,331) 
Unrealised (gain)/loss on AFS financial assets (71) 91 
Net (gain)/loss on foreign exchange differences 139 (139) 
Net loss/(gain) on actuarial gains and losses 4,133 (2.093) 
Net (gain)/loss on share of profit of equity accounted investments - (26,347) 
Deferred tax reported in the statement of Other Comprehensive Income (366,096) (410,819) 

14.2 Reconciliation of income tax expense 

Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by the average effective tax rate for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 is as follows: 
 2017 2016 

EUR EUR 
Profit/(loss) before tax (12,049,544) (43,848,673) 
Average effective tax rate* 33% 31% 
Theoretical tax expense/(income) (4,009,675) (13,557,156) 
   
Income tax expense/(income) reported in the statement of profit or loss 2,532,495 1,897,928 

   
Reconciliation   

Adjustment in respect of current income tax of previous years 162,437 130,096 
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses, tax credits and temporary differences - (17,349) 
Adjustment related to changes in accounting policies and errors - (2,198,127) 
Share of results of equity accounted investments (15,385) 843,745 
Minimum flat tax expense (4,611) 7,481 
Non-deductible expenses   

Director's fees non-deductible 114,294 263,971 
Fines charges non-deductible 74,020 3,015 
Taxes non-deductible 94,409 (281,688) 
Interest expenses non-deductible 926,835 1,041,095 
Other non-deductible expenses 935,344 35,584 

Non-taxable income   
Dividend, gain and valuation of financial instruments (13,729,400) 1,506,769 
Tax credit non-taxable (200,130) (1,987,680) 
Other non-taxable income (326,446) (2,979,281) 

Other   
Capitalised costs within PPE and intangible assets (1,276,964) (705,630) 
Notional interest expenses (44,925) (436,414) 
Tax charge supported by minority shareholders (1,144,199) (3,335,656) 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets 21,302,154 18,872,102 
Other (325,263) 4,693,051 

 6,542,170 15,455,084 

* The theoretical tax expense is the sum of theoretical tax expense computed for each subsidiary using its local 
effective tax rate. The average effective tax rate represents the tax rate applicable on result before tax to match the 
theoretical tax expense. 
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14.3 Deferred tax  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are composed of the following items: 
 

2017 

As at 1 January Charged to 
profit or loss 

Recognised 
in OCI 

Other Transfer Foreign 
exchange 
difference 

As at 31 
December 

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 
Accelerated depreciation for tax 

purposes 
(12,047,808) (3,052,519) - - (1,530,668) 308,344 (16,322,651) 

Capitalised costs within PPE and 
intangible assets 

(13,838,994) (2,047,453) - 32,190 (258,718) 181,112 (15,931,863) 

Revaluations of investment properties to 
fair value 

(847,543) 847,544 - - - - 1 

Valuation of investments at fair value (772,566) 133,104 608 - - - (638,854) 
Revaluation of derivatives at fair value 524,587 (1) (128,968) - 328,710 - 724,328 
Share of results of equity accounted 

investments 
(22,538) 22,538 - - - - - 

Finance leases (1,591,722) 121,737 - - (856,628) - (2,326,613) 
Measurement of bank borrowings (158,804) 16,909 - - - - (141,895) 
Contingent liability 500,363 - - - - - 500,363 
Deferred income - (13,032) - - - - (13,032) 
Temporary deductible extraordinary 

contribution tax 
295,998 (259,316) - - - - 36,682 

Other temporary taxable and deductible 
differences 

- 151,428 - 731 245,483 - 397,642 

Tax losses, tax credits and temporary 
deductible differences available for 
offsetting future taxable income 

32,354,232 5,247,487 80,776 28,584 2,562,551 (456,723) 39,816,907 

Grants (221,313) (72,068) - - - - (293,381) 
Other (46,107) 491,168 47,336 - (490,730) (17,424) (15,757) 
 4,127,785 1,587,526 (248) 61,505 - 15,309 5,791,877 
Deferred tax assets 37,590,536      43,495,348 
Deferred tax liabilities (33,462,751)      (37,703,471) 

 

2016 
 

As at 1 January Charged to 
profit or loss 

Recognised 
in OCI 

Acquired from 
business 

combinations 

Transfer Foreign 
exchange 
difference 

As at 31 
December 

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 
Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes (10,769,076) (922,732) - - - (356,000) (12,047,808) 
Capitalised costs within PPE and 

intangible assets 
(13,337,509) (397,711) - - (87,920) (15,854) (13,838,994) 

Revaluations of investment properties to 
fair value 

(10,873,219) 10,025,676 - - - - (847,543) 

Valuation of investments at fair value (726,621) (88,123) 100 - 42,078 - (772,566) 
Revaluation of derivatives at fair value 1,970,536 - (1,445,949) - - - 524,587 
Share of results of equity accounted 

investments 
(251,014) 297,040 (68,675) - 111 - (22,538) 

Finance leases (1,822,785) 143,143 - - 87,920 - (1,591,722) 
Adjustments relating to straight lining of 

lease incentives 
(759,512) 759,512 - - - - - 

Measurement of bank borrowings (431,611) 187,032 - - 85,775 - (158,804) 
Contingent liability 500,363 - - - - - 500,363 
Deferred income - - - - - - - 
Temporary deductible extraordinary 

contribution tax 
676,053 (380,054) - - - - 295,998 

Other temporary taxable and deductible 
differences 

- - - - - - - 

Tax losses, tax credits and temporary 
deductible differences available for 
offsetting future taxable income 

34,356,851 (3,712,173) 14,338 1,414,993 - 280,223 32,354,232 

Grants (260,782) 39,466 - - - 3 (221,313) 
Other (57,228) (556,646) 88,501 564,997 (85,775) 44 (46,106) 
 (1,785,555) 5,394,430 (1,411,685) 1,979,990 42,189 (91,584) 4,127,785 
Deferred tax assets 36,732,177      37,590,536 
Deferred tax liabilities (38,517,732)      (33,462,751) 
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT 
 

2017 
Construction 
in progress 

Land and 
buildings 

Plant and 
equipment 

Motor 
vehicles 

Fixtures and 
fittings 

Leasehold 
improvements TOTAL 

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 
Cost as at 1 January 9,838,978 73,805,712 487,723,925 5,633,609 532,259 1,539,414 579,073,897 
Additions 101,456,898 1,431,018 76,797,239 358,206 203,842 232,176 180,479,379 
Disposals (872,089) (168,126) (20,753,240) (91,964) (43,837) (378,114) (22,307,370) 
Transfers (28,176,114) (6,146) 28,898,251 89,447 - - 805,438 
Exchange differences (4,265,704) (30,142) (5,506,012) (11,685) (15,471) (1) (9,829,015) 
Cost as at 31 
December 

77,981,969 75,032,316 567,160,163 5,977,613 676,793 1,393,475 728,222,329 

        
Depreciation as at 1 
January 

(169,291) (6,349,349) (117,239,142) (2,590,984) (366,408) (551,980) (127,267,154) 

Depreciation charge 
for the year 

- (3,143,328) (26,335,120) (773,221) (96,293) (219,833) (30,567,795) 

Impairment charge for 
the year 

69,217 - 158,615 - - (54,409) 173,423 

Additions from 
business acquisition 

- - (7,703) 7,067 (31,665) - (32,301) 

Disposals - 47,559 20,065,772 31,285 20,117 250,303 20,415,036 
Other / transfers - 623 (788,798) (17,263) - - (805,438) 
Exchange differences - 258 658,141 9,377 11,654 - 679,430 
Depreciation as at 31 
December 

(100,074) (9,444,237) (123,488,235) (3,333,739) (462,595) (575,919) (137,404,799) 

        
Net book value as at 
1 January 

9,669,687 67,456,363 370,484,783 3,042,625 165,851 987,434 451,806,743 

Net book value as at 
31 December 

77,881,895 65,588,079 443,671,928 2,643,874 214,198 817,556 590,817,530 

2016 
Construction 
in progress 

Land and 
buildings 

Plant and 
equipment 

Motor 
vehicles 

Fixtures and 
fittings 

Leasehold 
improvements TOTAL 

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 
Cost as at 1 January 131,940,639 39,335,989 286,552,256 600,973 2,685,701 868,673 461,984,231 
Additions 31,615,799 566,524 35,299,389 23,424 1,251,144 531,626 69,287,906 
Addition from 
business acquisition 

1,821,586 - 44,992,331 15,799 895,313 133,039 47,858,068 

Disposals (1,031,119) (1,034,297) (947,039) (109,398) (373,261) - (3,495,114) 
Transfers (154,510,115) 34,931,602 116,527,651 - 1,172,370 6,075 (1,872,417) 
Exchange differences 2,188 5,894 5,299,337 1,461 2,342 1 5,311,223 
Cost as at 31 
December 

9,838,978 73,805,712 487,723,925 532,259 5,633,609 1,539,414 579,073,897 

        
Depreciation as at 1 
January 

- (4,187,266) (50,421,283) (339,300) (1,287,627) (309,248) (56,544,724) 

Depreciation charge 
for the year 

- (2,430,437) (21,741,893) (93,284) (819,229) (210,661) (25,295,504) 

Impairment charge for 
the year 

(13,942) - (222,878) - - - (236,820) 

Additions from 
business acquisition 

(155,349) - (44,848,976) (10,819) (770,740) (32,071) (45,817,955) 

Disposals - 268,354 621,890 78,161 288,268 - 1,256,673 
Other / transfers - - 527 - (527) - - 
Exchange differences - - (626,529) (1,166) (1,129) - (628,824) 
Depreciation as at 31 
December 

(169,291) (6,349,349) (117,239,142) (366,408) (2,590,984) (551,980) (127,267,154) 

        
Net book value as at 
1 January 

131,940,639 35,148,723 236,130,973 261,673 1,398,074 559,425 405,439,507 

Net book value as at 
31 December 

9,669,687 67,456,363 370,484,783 165,851 3,042,625 987,434 451,806,743 
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16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

 

Investment 
property 

completed 

TOTAL 

EUR EUR 
1 January 2016 119,588,398 119,588,398 
Additions 4,464,766 4,464,766 
Disposals (109,251,683) (109,251,683) 
Gain/(loss) from fair value adjustment 1,427,567 1,427,567 
31 December 2016 16,229,048 16,229,048 
Additions 255,922 255,922 
Disposals (11,798,610) (11,798,610) 
Gain/(loss) from fair value adjustment 992,687 992,687 
Reclassification (4,124,338) (4,124,338) 
31 December 2017 1,554,709 1,554,709 

Reclassifications correspond to buildings developed exclusively in view to be sold which have been reclassified 
as inventory. 

The Group’s investment properties are detailed by nature as follows: 
 2017 2016 

EUR EUR 
Rental income from investment properties 2,157,676 162,618 
Direct operating expenses that generated rental income (88,919) (130,550) 
Direct operating expenses that did not generate rental income (40,889) (27,588) 
Change in fair value 992,687 (453,207) 
Total investment property profit/(loss) from continued operations 3,020,555 (448,727) 
Rental income from investment properties - 2,481,409 
Direct operating expenses that generated rental income - (741,647) 
Direct operating expenses that did not generate rental income - (217,128) 
Change in fair value - 1,880,774 
Total investment property profit/(loss) from discontinued operations - 3,403,408 
Total 3,020,555 2,954,681 

16.1 Reconciliation of level 3 fair value measurement 
 2017 2016 

EUR EUR 
1 January 16,229,048 119,588,398 
Gain/(loss) recognised in profit or loss 992,687 1,427,567 
Purchases 255,923 4,464,766 
Sales (11,798,610) (109,251,683) 
Reclassifications (4,124,338) - 
31 December 1,554,709 16,229,048 

 
17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

2017 

Goodwill Internally 
developed 
intangible 

assets 

Other 
intangible 

assets 

TOTAL 

EUR EUR EUR EUR 
Cost as at 1 January 34,851,444 96,547,486 12,890,173 144,289,103 
Additions - 2,280,398 22,383,397 24,663,795 
Disposals - - (92,276) (92,276) 
Transfers - - (510,910) (510,910) 
Exchange differences - - (1,248,777) (1,248,777) 
As at 31 December 34,851,444 98,822,590 33,426,901 167,100,935 
     
Depreciation as at 1 January (34,851,444) (70,643,258) (7,298,651) (112,793,353) 
Depreciation charge for the year - (35,824) (1,319,896) (1,355,720) 
Impairment charge for the year - (3,149,629) (214,751) (3,364,380) 
Additions from business combinations - 2,750 (3,016) (266) 
Disposals - - 3,920 3,920 
Other / Transfers - - 510,910 510,910 
Exchange differences - - 110 110 
As at 31 December (34,851,444) (73,825,961) (8,321,374) (116,998,779) 
     
Net book value as at 1 January - 25,904,228 5,591,522 31,495,750 
Net book value as at 31 December - 24,996,629 25,105,527 50,102,156 
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2016 Goodwill Internally 
developed 
intangible 

assets 

Other 
intangible 

assets 

TOTAL 

 EUR EUR EUR EUR 
Cost as at 1 January 19,066,227 77,088,893 8,388,389 104,543,509 
Additions - 3,645,620 1,711,569 5,357,189 
Additions from business combinations 15,785,217 17,118,752 2,268,169 35,172,138 
Disposals - (769,739) (14,305) (784,044) 
Others / Transfers - (536,040) 536,040 - 
Exchange differences - - 311 311 
As at 31 December 34,851,444 96,547,486 12,890,173 144,289,103 
     
Depreciation as at 1 January (19,066,227) (46,183,064) (2,351,794) (67,601,085) 
Depreciation charge for the year - (2,204,380) (1,250,383) (3,454,763) 
Impairment charge for the year (15,785,217) (7,213,509) (1,040,012) (24,038,737) 
Additions from business combinations - (15,578,345) (2,120,329) (17,698,674) 
Other / Transfers - 536,040 (536,040) - 
Exchange differences - - (94) (94) 
As at 31 December (34,851,444) (70,643,258) (7,298,651) (112,793,353) 
     
Net book value as at 1 January - 30,905,829 6,036,595 36,942,424 
Net book value as at 31 December - 25,904,228 5,591,522 31,495,750 

 

The internally developed intangible assets comprise mainly the value of the Orège and TMW proprietary 
technologies for EUR nil and EUR 23,628,595 respectively as at 31 December 2017 and 2016. During the year 
2016, Orège decided to impair all its internally developed intangible assets due to the management decision to 
delay the marketing of the Sophys technology and to secure the market position of the SLG technology. The 
technologies developed by TMW are systems to treat industrial effluents and seawater desalination solutions, as 
well as for treatment of complex, toxic and/or non-biodegradable effluents. Orège develops conditioning and 
treatment of sludge solutions. These assets are not amortised as the Group is not able to determine the useful life 
of the assets and are tested for impairment. 

During the year 2017, the Group recognised impairment losses on intangible assets including goodwill for  
EUR 3,364,380 (2016: EUR 24,038,737). Refer to the note 18 for further detail on the impairment test realised on 
the intangible assets. 
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18 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL 
As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group has fully depreciated the goodwill. 

The goodwill has been generated through the acquisition of the Orège, Cyogel and Voltalis businesses, see note 6. 
 Gross 

Value Net Value 

  2017 2016 
 EUR EUR EUR 
Orège 19,066,227 - - 
Cryogel 1,232,517 - - 
Voltalis 14,552,700 - - 

The goodwill is allocated to each cash generating unit (Orège, Cryogel and Voltalis CGU). These units represent 
the lowest level within the Group at which they are monitored for internal management purposes. 

As at 31 December 2017, the Group recognised impairment charge of EUR 3,364,380 (2016 : EUR 24,038,737) 
on intangible assets of which EUR 0 (2016 : EUR 15,785,217) on goodwill. 

18.1 Orège goodwill 

The Group performed an impairment test on the value of the Orège CGU including the value of the goodwill and 
intangible assets. The Group considers the current financial situation and forecast when reviewing for indicators 
of impairment. The current financial situation of Orège results are below the expected forecast indicating potential 
impairment of goodwill and assets of the CGU. 

As at 31 December 2016, the Group has assessed the recoverable value of the Orège CGU as nil as the markets’ 
situation in which Orège is active makes it difficult for the Group to establish reliable future cash flow projections. 
The Group’s management decided that the entire carrying-value of the Orège CGU should be impaired until the 
the uncertainties on future cash flow projections are waived. As a result, the Group recognised additional 
impairment charges of EUR 6,332,081 on intangible assets during 2016. 

18.2 Cryogel goodwill 

During the year 2016, the Group acquired the business of Cryogel. The Group recognised a goodwill of EUR 
1,232,517 on the acquisition. Considering the inherent difficulties for a commercial development mainly oriented 
on international markets far from production sites of Cryogel, the Groupe has, by prudence, immediately impaired 
the goodwill within profit or loss of 2016. 

18.3 Voltalis goodwill 

During the year 2016, the Group acquired the business of Voltalis. The Group recognised a goodwill of EUR 
14,552,700 on the acquisition. The Group has estimated the recoverable value of the cash generating unit Voltalis 
as nil as the regulatory environment does not enable the Group to realise reliable analysis of the information. The 
goodwill has been immediately impaired within profit or loss of 2016. 

In 2016, the Group recognised impairment charges of EUR 17,211,108 on intangible assets of which EUR 
14,552,700 relates to goodwill. 

19 INVENTORIES 
  31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

 EUR EUR 
Raw materials  1,411,353 2,265,412 
Merchandises  343,756 - 
Work in progress  2,380,015 1,565,031 
Finished goods  1,635,067 1,079,540 
Buildings held for sale  3,164,779 - 
  8,934,970 4,909,983 
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20 CASH AND DEPOSITS 
  31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

 EUR EUR 
Cash and short-term deposits  305,068,946 119,130,760 
Cash at banks and on hand  249,992,554 109,469,415 
Short-term deposits  55,065,405 9,661,345 
Other cash items  10,987 - 
    
Other cash and deposits  36,519,548 33,620,435 
Long-term bank deposits  - - 
Cash restricted or pledged  36,519,548 33,620,435 
  341,588,494 152,751,195 

20.1 Cash restricted and pledged 

The cash restricted and pledged represent amounts on escrow accounts secured in relation with grants and bank 
financing received. 

20.2 Reconciliation with statement of cash flows 
  31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

 EUR EUR 
Cash and cash equivalents  305,068,946 119,130,760 
Bank overdrafts  (9,375,660) (3,871) 
Available-for-sale financial assets considered as cash equivalents  878,462 41,115,722 
Cash and cash equivalents  296,571,748 160,242,611 

21 CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

21.1 Share capital 

The subscribed and fully paid-up capital of the Company as at 31 December 2017 amounts to EUR 561,986,227 
(2016: EUR 561,986,227) and is divided into 147,898,651 ordinary shares (in 2016: 147,898,651 ordinary shares) 
without nominal value. 

There was no change in the share capital during the year. 

21.2 Share premium 

As at 31 December 2017, the Company has share premium amounting to EUR 6,860,958 (2016: EUR 6,860,958). 

There was no change in the share premium during the year. 

21.3 Treasury shares 

As at 31 December 2017, the Company holds own-shares for EUR 4,000,000 (2016: EUR 4,000,000) representing 
550,000 shares with a par value of EUR 3.80 per share. 

There was no change in the treasury shares during the year. 

21.4 Nature and purpose of reserves: 

21.4.1 Other capital reserves 

Share-based payments 

The share-based payment reserve is used to recognise the expenses related to share-based payment transactions 
settled in the issues of equity instruments. 

As at 31 December 2017, the Group recognised EUR 332,592 (2016: EUR 414,908) within the share-based 
payment reserve corresponding to the value of the equity instruments vested. 

The reserve for share-based payments is mainly represented by the instruments granted by SHS. 
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21.4.2 Foreign exchange currency reserve 

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
subsidiaries’ financial statements in foreign currencies. 

This reserve cannot be distributed. 

As at 31 December 2017, the reserve amounts to EUR (1,887,264) (2016: EUR 789,411). 

21.4.3 Available-for-sale reserve 

The available-for-sale reserve is used to recognise the change in fair value of financial asset investments classified 
as available-for-sale. 

As at 31 December 2017, the reserve amounts to EUR 22,023,939 (2016: EUR 15,634,168). 

21.4.4 Hedge reserve 

The hedge reserve is used to recognise the cumulative portion of gains or losses on the hedging instrument that 
are considered to be an effective hedge. 

As at 31 December 2017, the reserve amounts to EUR (143,489) (2016: EUR (1,221,508)). 

21.4.5 Defined benefit plan reserve 

 

The defined benefit plan reserve is used to recognised the cumulative cost of equity settled transactions. 

As at 31 December 2017, the reserve amounts to EUR 6,509 (2016: EUR 2,888). 

21.4.6 Share of OCI in equity accounted investments reserve 

The share of OCI in equity accounted investments reserve is used to recognised the share of OCI in investments 
recognised through equity method. 

As at 31 December 2017, the reserve amounts to EUR (388,532) (2016: EUR (647,813)). 

22 PROVISIONS 

2017 
Maintenance 
warranties 

Decommissioning Contingent 
liability 

Other TOTAL 

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 
As at 1 January 32,592 1,939,015 1,725,389 1,442,889 5,139,885 
Additional provision 6,305 124,871 - 1,679,701 1,810,877 
Used - - (297,359) (402,097) (699,456) 
Unused amount reversed - - - 2,791 2,791 
Unwinding of discount and changes in the discount 
rate 

- 22,166 - (75,458) (53,292) 

Exchange differences (3,005) - - - (3,005) 
As at 31 December 35,891 2,086,053 1,428,030 2,647,826 6,197,800 
Current - - - 1,129,015 1,129,015 
Non-current 35,891 2,086,053 1,428,030 1,518,811 5,068,785 

 

2016 
Maintenance 
warranties 

Decommissioning Contingent 
liability 

Other TOTAL 

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 
As at 1 January 16,623 924,500 1,725,389 138,200 2,804,712 
Additional provision 15,596 805,808 - 577,488 1,398,892 
Used - - - (2,775,884) (2,775,884) 
Unused amount reversed - - - (96,509) (96,509) 
Additions from business acquisition - - - 3,599,594 3,599,594 
Additions from other changes in group perimeter - 208,707 - - 208,707 
Exchange differences 373 - - - 373 
As at 31 December 32,592 1,939,015 1,725,389 1,442,889 5,139,885 
Current - - 1,725,389 724,245 2,449,634 
Non-current 32,592 1,939,015 - 718,644 2,690,251 
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23 GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND DEFERRED INCOME 

23.1 Government grants 
 2017 2016 

EUR EUR 
1 January 27,597,320 31,484,557 
Received during the year - 5,899,116 
Released to the statement of profit or loss (2,417,154) (10,374,384) 
Additions from business acquisition - 206,694 
Exchange differences (514,986) 381,337 
31 December 24,665,180 27,597,320 
Current 1,634,356 1,661,317 
Non-current 23,030,824 25,936,003 

23.2 Deferred income 

The deferred income mainly represents revenue on sports training of the tennis activity. 

24 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
   31/12/2017 31/12/2016  

  EUR EUR  
Trade receivables   47,325,241 64,342,766  
Finance lease receivables   20,644,644 20,805,474  
Other receivables   153,252,964 36,508,649  
   221,222,849 121,656,889  
Current   199,029,678 100,022,556  
Non-current   22,193,171 21,634,333  

The trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally based on terms of 35 days (2016 : 39 days). 
Although the terms are 35 days, the Group has significant overdue balances of trade receivables resulting from 
very slow payment from Greek electricity company (Laghie) which is paying with an average delay of 4 months 
(2016: 6 months) after the due date. However, the Group has not experienced any payment default from this party. 
As a result, the Group does not consider the receivables from this party as doubtful. 

The trade and other receivables owed by related parties are detailed as follows: 
  31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

 EUR EUR 
Trade and other receivables    

owed by associates  - 89,800 
owed by joint ventures  10,000 14,491,000 
owed by key management personnel  752 44,087 
owed by other related parties  477,334 909,242 

Total  488,086 15,534,129 

The Group has recognised provision for doubtful debtors as follows: 
 2017 2016 

EUR EUR 
1 January 1,594,102 465,263 
Charge for the year 189,631 1,533,487 
Used (1,882,777) (302,744) 
Unused amount reversed - (34,997) 
Other 653,860 (66,907) 
31 December 554,816 1,594,102 

 
  2017 2016 

 EUR EUR 
Neither past due nor impaired  27,097,827 37,869,241 

Past due 
but not 

impaired 

By less than 30 days  4,406,970 4,345,253 
By between 30 and 60 days  4,126,960 3,725,155 
By between 60 and 90 days  3,535,417 5,892,303 
By between 90 and 180 days  6,531,266 10,763,275 
By more than 180 days  1,626,801 1,747,539 

  47,325,241 64,342,766 
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25 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
  31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

 EUR EUR 
Trade payables  15,744,511 22,218,566 
Payable to fixed assets suppliers  10,277,818 12,452,728 
Other payables  15,997,063 18,109,612 
  42,019,392 52,780,906 
Current  40,425,628 48,339,424 
Non-current  1,593,764 4,441,482 

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are usually settled on 36 days terms (2016: 39 days). 

Other payables are non-interest bearing. 

The trade and other payable owed to related parties are detailed as follows: 
  31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

 EUR EUR 
Trade and other payables    

owed to associates  - - 
owed to key management personnel  260,779 142,114 
owed to other related parties  1,778,251 7,448,080 

Total  2,039,030 7,590,194 

26 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
Financial assets  31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

 EUR EUR 
Cash and short-term deposits  305,068,946 119,130,760 
Trade and other receivables  221,222,849 121,656,889 
Current income tax receivable  3,785,027 2,337,498 
Cash restricted and pledged  36,519,548 33,620,435 
Other financial assets  267,663,869 328,274,356 
  834,260,239 605,019,938 

 
Financial liabilities  31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

 EUR EUR 
Loans and borrowings  413,303,565 340,194,451 
Other financial liabilities  2,851,998 3,176,621 
Provision  6,197,800 5,139,885 
Trade and other payables  42,019,392 52,780,906 
Employee benefit liabilities  6,315,884 5,171,541 
Income tax liabilities  3,312,589 7,842,647 
  474,001,228 414,306,051 

26.1 Other financial assets 
  31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

 EUR EUR 
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss    

Held for trading    
Investment portfolio in quoted securities  129,237,190 164,324,941 
Derivatives not designated as hedges    

Other derivatives  112,578 224,000 
Total instruments at fair value through profit or loss  129,349,768 164,548,941 
Financial instruments at fair value through OCI    

Cash flow hedges  49,551 - 
Available-for-sale financial assets at fair value through OCI    

Unquoted equity shares  76,426,606 79,069,893 
Quoted equity shares  304,167 241,667 
Quoted capital investments  327,557 40,685,866 

Total instruments at fair value at fair value through OCI  77,107,881 119,997,426 
Total instruments at fair value  206,457,649 284,546,367 
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Loans and receivables at amortised cost    
Loan notes  - 336,461 
Loan to associates and joint ventures  43,318,770 29,128,945 
Loan to other related parties  11,953,365 10,605,035 
Other loans  5,934,085 3,657,548 

Total loans and receivables at amortised cost  61,206,220 43,727,989 
Total instruments at amortised cost  61,206,220 43,727,989 
    
Total other financial assets  267,663,869 328,274,356 
Current  159,007,611 207,603,466 
Non-current  108,656,258 120,670,890 

 
26.2 Loans and borrowings 

  31/12/2017 31/12/2016 
 EUR EUR 

Bank borrowings  250,850,658 192,916,442 
Loans from associates and joint ventures  44,005 - 
Loans from related parties  35,369,737 27,024,701 
Bonds & Preference shares  110,979,666 119,116,527 
Finance leases liabilities  173,289 208,485 
Bank overdrafts / Credit line  9,375,660 3,871 
Other borrowings  6,510,550 924,425 
  413,303,565 340,194,451 
Current  79,397,999 34,186,971 
Non-current  333,905,566 306,007,480 

 
Bank borrowings Maturity date 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

 EUR EUR 
Argentina bank borrowings (USD 29,858,658) 15/01/2034 1,259,387 - 
Belgium bank borrowings (EUR 17,129,000) From 01/07/2023 to 01/05/2031 15,335,140 16,099,348 
Burkina Faso bank borrowings (CFA 7,761,749,000) Undetermined 384,250 - 
Brazil bank borrowings (BRL 12,500,000) 15/10/2018 3,199,445 - 
France bank borrowings (EUR 102,406,148) From 01/09/2019 to 01/04/2030 72,904,615 82,129,433 
Greek bank borrowings (EUR 43,515,664) From 20/05/2018 to 30/06/2031 60,233,249 5,768,643 
India bank borrowings (INR 1,353,079,418) 30/09/2034 17,129,968 - 
Israel bank borrowings (ILS 365,280,000) From 01/11/2032 to 31/12/2034 72,120,562 79,409,444 
Uganda bank borrowings (EUR 10,701,253) 20/10/2032 8,284,042 9,495,349 
Accrued interest  - 14,225 
  250,850,658 192,916,442 
Current  50,300,273 17,106,069 
Non-current  200,550,385 175,810,373 

26.3 Other financial liabilities 
  31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

 EUR EUR 
    
Financial liabilities at fair value through OCI    

Cash flow hedges  2,631,906 2,972,984 
Total financial liabilities at fair value through OCI  2,631,906 2,972,984 
    
Financial liabilities at amortised cost    

Guarantees  220,092 203,637 
Total financial liabilities at amortised cost  220,092 203,637 
    
Total other financial liabilities  2,851,998 3,176,621 
Current  15,929 94,937 
Non-current  2,836,069 3,081,684 

26.4 Fair values 

The Group considers that the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost 
approximates their fair value. 

 

 

Thierry Remacle
Les deux libellés ont été inversés par rapport à la version FR

Xavier Wagner
Modifié, cadre avec version FR



EREN Groupe S.A.  
Consolidated Financial Statements 2017 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
(All amounts are in Euro, unless indicated otherwise) 

87 

26.5 Reconciliation of level 3 fair value measurement 

 
Available-for-sale financial assets 2017 2016 

EUR EUR 
1 January 72,943,339 76,332,612 
Gain/(loss) recognised in profit or loss (101,280) (8,359,015) 
Gain/(loss) recognised in OCI 6,518,635 4,630,867 
Purchases 7,733,718 7,197,337 
Sales (12,154,855) (8,931,787) 
Transfers (in/(out)) (1,152,034) 793,643 
Exchange differences (1,350,734) 1,279,682 
31 December 72,436,788 72,943,339 

26.6 Description of significant unobservable inputs to valuation 

The available-for-sale financial assets classified within level 3 fair value measurements represent investments 
made by the Group in unquoted equity investments. The Group has 51 investments (2016: 51) of which 15 are 
significant and represent 91% of all investments (2016: 15 represented 89%). These investments are separated in 
two different types: fund investments (Funds) and private equity investments (PE). 

26.6.1 Funds 

Where available, the Group has determined the valuation of the Funds using the Net Asset Value (NAV) attributed 
by the fund manager to the Group. There are 19 investments, representing EUR 64,410,287 (2016: 21 investments 
for EUR 62,199,179), for which the valuation has been determined based on the NAV, of which 12 are significant, 
representing EUR 59,979,700 (2016: 12 investments for EUR 57,446,652). 

The NAV of Funds is determined through valuation of the investments held by the Funds. These valuations are 
made using multiple valuation techniques of which DCF or earnings multiples. 

The Funds are required to evaluate at fair value their investments within their financial statements which are 
audited by certified auditors. 

The Group considers that due to the nature of the investments held by the Group, it is not relevant and practical to 
provide further information regarding the valuation realised by the Funds. 

26.6.2 PE 

Regarding the other investments held in PE, the Group does not have the ability to determine their fair value 
reliably. The Group has recognised these investments at their cost adjusted to the equity value of the investments. 
There are 32 investments, representing EUR 8,076,484 (2016: 30 investments for EUR 10,774,161) for which the 
valuation has been determined based on the costs adjusted with equity, of which 3 are significant representing 
EUR 5,815,593 (2016: 3 investments for EUR 7,081,948). 

26.7 Other financial instruments 

In December 2017, following the equity stake Total has taken within the Energy sector of the Group, the Group 
contractually granted a call option to Total on the entire shares the Group will own at the time of the exercise date 
within Total Eren Holding. This call option is exercisable over a 3 month period in 2023 but could be anticipated 
by satisfying some specific conditions. The exercise price is variable and contractually determined and based on 
economic and financial performance indicators.  

At the same time, the Group has contractually been given a put option from Total on the entire shares the Group 
will own at the time of the exercise date within Total Eren Holding. This put option is exercisable over a 3 month 
period in 2023 but could be anticipated by satisfying some specific conditions. The exercise price is variable and 
contractually determined and based on economic and financial performance indicators. 

These call and put options have been granted without financial counterpart. They both form financial instruments 
having to be evaluated at fair value. The management have estimated that both options are “out of money” at the 
closing date, as such their value is nil.  
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27 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 

27.1 Fair value measurement hierarchy 

31 December 2017 Valuation date 

Quoted prices 
in active 
markets 

Significant 
observable 

inputs 

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs Total 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
 EUR EUR EUR EUR 

Assets measured at fair value      
Recurring fair value measurement      

Investment properties  - - 1,554,709 1,554,709 
Residential properties  - - 1,479,651 1,479,651 
Unaffected land  - - 75,058 75,058 

Financial assets at fair value  129,868,820 4,152,039 72,436,788 206,457,647 
Quoted securities 31 December 2017 129,237,189 - - 129,237,189 
Derivatives financial assets  - 162,129 - 162,129 
Available-for-sale financial assets 31 December 2017 631,631 3,989,910 72,436,788 77,058,329 

      
Liabilities measured at fair value      
Recurring fair value measurement      

Derivatives financial liabilities  - 2,631,906 - 2,631,906 
Interest rate swaps 31 December 2017 - 2,631,906 - 2,631,906 

 

31 December 2016 Valuation date 

Quoted prices 
in active 
markets 

Significant 
observable 

inputs 

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs Total 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
 EUR EUR EUR EUR 

Assets measured at fair value      
Recurring fair value measurement      

Investment properties  - - 16,229,048 16,229,048 
Office properties 31 December 2016 - - 14,754,339 14,754,338 
Residential properties  - - 549,651 549,651 
Retail properties  - - 850,000 850,000 
Unaffected land  - - 75,058 75,058 

Financial assets at fair value  205,110,047 6,126,553 73,309,767 284,546,367 
Quoted securities 31 December 2016 164,182,513 - - 164,182,513 
Derivatives financial assets  - - 366,428 366,428 
Available-for-sale financial assets 31 December 2016 40,927,534 6,126,553 72,943,339 119,997,426 

      
Liabilities measured at fair value      
Recurring fair value measurement      

Derivatives financial liabilities  212,501 2,760,483 - 2,972,984 
Interest rate swaps 31 December 2016 176,343 2,760,483 - 2,936,826 
Other derivatives  36,158 - - 36,158 

 

There have been no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during 2017 and 2016. 

27.2 Level 2 fair value 

Interest rate swaps are valued using valuation techniques, which employs the use of market observable inputs. The 
most frequently applied valuation techniques include swap models, using present value calculations. The models 
incorporate various inputs including the credit quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot, yield curves of the 
respective currencies, currency basis spreads between the respective currencies, interest rate curves of the 
underlying commodity. 

The available-for-sale financial assets classified within level 2 fair value measurements represent investments 
made by the Group in one unquoted equity investments. The Group has determined the valuation of the Funds 
using the Net Asset Value (NAV) attributed. The Funds are required to fair value their investments within their 
financial statements. The main investment of the fund is a quoted equity investment (Level 1). 
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28 FINANCIAL RISKS MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
The Group’s principal financial liabilities, other than derivatives, comprise loans and borrowings, trade and other 
payables, provisions and financial guarantee contracts. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance 
the operations of the Group. 

The Group’s principal financial assets include loans, trade and other receivables, and cash and short-term deposits 
that derive directly from its operations. The Group also holds available-for-sale investments and investment 
portfolio held for trading. 

The Group has exposure to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group decides on a case-by-case basis 
on instruments to mitigate the risks. 

28.1 Market Risks 

Market risk is the risk that fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument fluctuates because of changes 
in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk. 

The sensitivity analyses on market risks detailed below relate to the position as at 31 December 2017. 

28.1.1 Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates 
primarily to the Group’s long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates. 

The Group entered into several agreements bearing variable interest rate to support the development of its 
activities. Several of these financing required to enter into an interest rate swap agreement in which it agrees to 
exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and variable rate interest amounts. 

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s exposure to variable interest rate financing amounts to EUR 216,908,205 
(2016: EUR 194,685,096). Financing covered by an interest rate swap agreement amounts to EUR 86,356,165 
(2016: EUR 56,171,872). The final net exposure to variable interest rate financing amounts to EUR 130,552,040 
(2016: 138,636,460). 

Sensitivity analysis 

In preparing the sensitivity analysis, the Group has determined the effect on profit or loss and equity on its final 
net exposure of EUR 130,552,040. The Group considers that it is not exposed to interest rate risks for financing 
hedged by interest rate swap, for which the interest rate is fixed with consideration of the swap. 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion 
of loans and borrowings. With all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit or loss and equity is affected 
through the impact on floating rate borrowing, as follows: 

 
 Increase / 

decrease in 
interest rate 

Effect on 
profit or loss 
and equity 

  EUR 
Euribor 3M 2017 0% - 
 2016 +/-4% +/- 18,449 
Euribor 6M 2017 0%  - 
 2016 +/- 10%  +/- 17,301 

The Group has assumed the change of interest rate by reference to actual changes during the prior period, based 
on currently observable market environment. Because of the low variation between the 3M and 6 M Euribor rates, 
the Group’s results is not affected.  

Even in consideration of significant variation of interest rate on variable interest financing, the Group has a very 
limited exposure to change in interest expenses. 
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28.1.2 Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates 
primarily to the operating activities denominated in foreign currency and the Group’s net investments in foreign 
subsidiaries. 

The Group considers its exposure to currency risk from its net investments in foreign subsidiaries as immaterial 
as the significant majority of its investments in subsidiaries are made within the Euro zone. 

As per its operations, the Group’s exposure to changes in foreign exchange currency is determined as follows: 

 
 Increase / 

decrease in 
foreign 

currency 
exchange 

rate 

Effect on 
profit or loss 
and equity 

 
 

EUR 

2017    
USD  +/- 12% +/- 1,179,938 
CHF  +/- 8% +/- 152,086 
GBP  +/- 3% +/- 30,800 
ILS  +/- 3% +/- 2,025,259 
INR  +/- 7% +/- 1,252,851 
BRL  +/-14% +/-476,927 
    

2016    
    USD  +/- 3% +/- 1,306,649 

AED  +/- 4% +/- 1,851 
CHF  +/- 1% +/- 208,541 
GBP  +/- 14% +/- 487,065 
ILS  +/- 5% +/- 4,258,123 

The Group has assumed the change of foreign currency exchange rate by reference to actual changes during the 
prior period, based on currently observable market environment. 

The Group has a significant exposure to changes in USD due to the fact that it has significant amount of financial 
investments in USD. These investments are mainly classified within available-for-sale financial assets. 

28.1.3 Electricity price risk 

For the majority of the power plants, the price has been agreed for a period of 20 to 25 years. For few power plants, 
the Group sells the electricity production using market prices. The revenue generated from market prices represents 
2,52% of total revenue recognised during the year 2017 (2016: 7,37%) and 3,71% of revenue generated from sales 
of electricity during the year 2017 (2016: 7.46%). 

Sensitivity analysis 

The following table shows the effect of price changes in electricity: 

 
 Increase / 

decrease in 
electricity 

price 

Effect on 
profit or loss 
and equity 

  EUR 
2017  +/- 7.56% +/- 210,656 
2016  +/- 62.39% +/- 1,541,334 

The Group has assumed the change of electricity price by reference to actual changes during the prior period, 
based on currently observable market environment. 

28.1.4 Equity price risk 

The Group’s listed and unlisted equity securities are susceptible to market price risk arising from uncertainties 
about future values of the investment securities. The Group manages the equity price risk by diversifying its 
investment portfolio. The Group manages the equity investment through direct investment decisions for unlisted 
equity securities and through discretionary and non-discretionary agreements with specialized investment portfolio 
management banks for the majority of the listed equity securities, some are managed through direct investment 
decisions. Reports on the listed equity portfolio are submitted to the Group’s management on a regular basis. The 
Group’s Board of Directors reviews and approves all unlisted equity investment decisions. 
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At the reporting date, the exposure to unlisted equity securities at fair value was EUR 72,436,788 (2016: EUR 
79,221,533). 

At the reporting date, the exposure to listed equity securities at fair value was EUR 129,868,820 (2016: EUR 
205,324,834) comprised of both investments classified as held for trading and available-for-sale financial assets. 
Increase and decrease of market price on held for trading investments would have impact on profit or loss. 
Decrease in the value of available-for-sale financial assets would have an impact on profit or loss, or equity 
depending on whether the decline is significant or prolonged. Increase on available-for-sale financial assets would 
not have an effect on profit or loss. 

28.2 Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer 
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from is operating activities (primarily trade 
receivables) and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions, investments 
held for trading, loans to third parties. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets 
disclosed in note 27. The Group does not hold collateral as security. 

28.2.1 Customer and deposits 

Credit risks arising from trade receivables and deposits with banks and financial institutions are managed by each 
business unit. Each business unit is responsible for analysing and determining the credit risk rating for its 
customers. The Group evaluates the customer credit risk as low. The Group has not implemented policies for 
mitigating the risks arising from customers or deposits, such as factoring company to collect receivables, customer 
credit limits, or deposit limits. 

The Group’s principal exposure to credit risk arises from its Energy activities. The Energy main customers are 
national electricity companies. The Group monitors the credit risk from electricity companies by diversifying its 
investments in various countries. Upon investment decision for new power plants, the Group performs detailed 
analysis of the solvability and market risk of the country and its main electricity company. After initial investment, 
the Group does not have the ability to change its customer as contracts for sale of electricity are made for long-
term periods (20 to 25 years). However, the Group reassesses the credit risk rating of each country and takes 
actions as necessary. As at 31 December 2017, the Group had not entered into specific agreement for safeguarding 
its receivables, as it considers all receivables as being of low risk. 

As at 31 December 2017, the main credit risk arises from Greek receivables due to the financial crisis of the 
country. In previous years, the Group supported significant increases of taxes on electricity produces, reducing its 
revenue. The Group has significant outstanding receivables owned by Greek electricity company (Laghie) for 
which payment is received up to 6 months after recognition. As at reporting date, the Group does consider that 
there is uncertainty from its receivables owned by Laghie. 

The customers within other industries are assessed for risk on case by case. 

The subsidiaries within the Group own deposits in multiple major banks and financial institutions, significantly 
reducing the credit risks related. 

28.2.2 Loans to third party 

The Group does not have past due receivables arising from loans to third party. The Group provided financing to 
various parties including associates, joint ventures and available-for-sale investments. 

The Group recognised impairment on these loans for EUR 11,329,881 as at 31 December 2017 (2016: EUR 
19,131,589). 

The Group reviewed the financial situation of third parties to determine their ability to meet their financial 
obligation towards the Group. The Group recognised impairment where situation demonstrated that the third party 
was in financial difficulties due to either negative equity, inability to generate profits or liquidation process. 
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28.3 Liquidity Risk 

The liquidity risk is managed by each subsidiary of the Group for its obligations. Long-term financing are made 
in order to match the revenue recognition scheme which allows to significantly reduce the shortage of liquidity to 
meet financial obligations of the Group. 

The Company, as the Group’s parent entity, manages the overall liquidity risk of subsidiaries by providing 
financing to its subsidiaries where necessary to meet their obligation. The Company owns significant investments 
in quoted securities, classified as at fair value and available-for-sale, which could be used to finance the 
subsidiaries. 

31 December 2017 

Based on contractual undiscounted cash outflows  
On demand within 3 

months 
between 3 and 

12 months 
between 1 and 

5 years 
after 5 years undetermined Total 

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 
Loans and borrowings - 12,038,799 50,617,096 115,602,398 270,292,529 36,206,788 484,757,610 
Other financial liabilities - - 83,146 - 535,566 2,233,286 2,851,998 

Non-derivatives (at amortised cost) - - 83,146 - - 136,946 220,092 
Derivatives and embedded 
derivatives (at fair value) 

- - - - 535,566 2,096,340 2,631,906 

Provision - - 559,577 1,044 3,506,103 2,134,380 6,201,104 
Trade and other payables - 14,729,637 27,137,067 - - 152,688 42,019,392 
Employee benefit liabilities - 3,917,449 2,235,638 80,206 - 82,591 6,315,884 
Income tax liabilities - 617,959 2,694,630 - - - 3,312,589 
 - 31,303,844 83,327,154 115,683,648 274,334,198 40,809,733 545,458,577 
 
 

       

 

31 December 2016 

Based on contractual undiscounted cash outflows  
On demand within 3 

months 
between 3 and 

12 months 
between 1 and 

5 years 
after 5 years undetermined Total 

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 
Loans and borrowings - 1,308,759 32,076,336 114,077,404 186,843,297 7,754,244 342,060,000 
Other financial liabilities        

Non-derivatives (at amortised cost) - - 44,218 - - 9,300 53,518 
Derivatives and embedded 
derivatives (at fair value) 

- - - - - 2,972,984 2,972,984 

Provision - - 2,030,068 - 6,020,882 1,150,324 9,201,274 
Trade and other payables - 30,377,145 14,885,005 1,160,326 - 6,358,310 52,780,786 
Employee benefit liabilities - 3,197,604 1,945,694 - 23,279 4,964 5,171,541 
Income tax liabilities - 858,637 6,908,372 75,638 - - 7,842,647 
 - 35,742,145 57,889,693 115,313,368 192,887,458 18,250,126 420,082,789 

 

The amounts included within loans and borrowings include the accrued interest as at the reporting date and the 
capital reimbursements to be made in future periods based on their expected maturity. 

28.4 Risk concentration 

Concentration of risk arises when significant activities are conducted in similar businesses, or are located in similar 
geographical area, or have similar economical features, which would increase their ability to be affected by 
economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance 
to developments affecting a particular industry. 

The Group has activities in various industries which are sufficiently diversified as detailed in the management 
report. The Group has mainly its investments and financial assets within the Euro zone. 

The Group is subject to risk related to the macroeconomic situation in Greece, from its energy activities, as it has 
significant activities in this country: 
 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 
 EUR EUR 
Assets 355,639,397 321,389,429 
Liabilities 225,691,275 248,322,150 
Revenue 41,085,113 36,715,835 
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The Group activity of electricity production results in concentration of risks at the level of the customers which 
are unique for each country in which the Group is operating, as follows: 
 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 
 EUR EUR 
Greece 21,943,986 28,854,069 
France 12,139,734 23,602,754 
Brazil 1,116,752 - 
Italy 1,086,893 3,273,986 
Israel 462,991 692,882 

29 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 
The Group has provided 4 types of options (“BSA2012”, “BSA2012bis”, “BSA2” and “BSA2bis”) to acquire equity 
instruments of the subsidiary Solaire Habitat Social S.A.S. ((previously Shelter Services S.A.S.) (“SHS”)). The 
options are classified in two categories: BSA2012 and BSA2. All the options have been granted to external parties 
to the Group. All the options have been granted on 23 July 2012. 

The valuation of all the share options is based on the share price paid by the Group to enter into the capital of SHS, 
which amounts to EUR 122.78 per share. 

The subscription deadline for the share options was 31 December 2012. All the share options were subscribed by 
the beneficiaries. 

The current share capital of SHS is represented by 40,000 shares subscribed for 38,000 (95%) by the Group. 

29.1 BSA2012 Plan 

Under the BSA2012 Plan, a total of 7,500 shares options have been provided. The exercise of the options is strongly 
related to the completion of development tranches related to the construction of a photovoltaic park by SHS. The 
options have an exercise price of EUR 10 per share option, unless only the first tranche is realised, in which 
situation the exercise price is EUR 122.78 per share option. 

The Group has considered the realisation of construction tranches as non-market condition. The entire exercise of 
the Plan is subject to the completion of all 7 tranches, corresponding to the construction of a photovoltaic plant of 
20MWc. This condition is considered as the sole vesting condition related to the instruments granted. The number 
of instruments vested is increasing with the number of tranches realised. For a tranche to be deemed completed, a 
minute of construction realisation must be provided by EDF-ENR Solaire. 

The exercise period of the share options is from 1 November 2013 until 31 December 2018, upon realisation of 
the construction tranches. 

All options not exercise as at 31 December 2018 will be null and void. 

As at 31 December 2017, there is a production capacity of completed plants of 16.3 MWp (2016: 16.3 MWp). 
This capacity corresponds to the capacity of the Tranche 1, 2 and 3 and 4. 

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has recognised an expense in relation with the Plan for EUR 0 (2016: EUR 
313,641). 

The construction of the project has been finalised in March 2016 and thus the Company will re-assess the validity 
of those BSA2012 during 2018. 

29.2 BSA2 Plan 

Under the BSA2 Plan, a total of 6,786 share options have been provided. The exercise of the options is strongly 
related to the performance of the photovoltaic plant under construction. The options have an exercise price of EUR 
10 per share option plus EUR 56.39 per share option of share premium. 

The Group has considered the performance factor as market condition. The entire exercise of the Plan is subject 
to the realisation of a performance ratio. The performance ratio is computed as the average of Operating profit 
(excluding depreciation) by the total investment value over the year 2 and 3 of full operation of the plant. The year 
is starting 12 months after the completion of the final construction tranche. This condition is considered as the sole 
vesting condition related to the instruments granted. The number of instrument vested is increasing with the actual 
ratio realised. In order to be fully exercised, the ratio must be above 12.4. No option can be exercise if the ratio is 
below 11.5. 
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The exercise period of the share options is from 1 January 2018 until 31 December 2018. 

All options not exercise as at 31 December 2018 will be null and void. The Company will re-assess the validity of 
those BSA2 during 2018. 

29.3 Movement during the year 

The following table illustrates the movements in instruments during the year: 
 BSA2012 Plan BSA2 Plan 

EUR EUR 
Outstanding at 1 January 2017 7,500 6,786 
Outstanding at 31 December 2017 7,500 6,786 
Exercisable at 31 December 2017 - - 

30 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  

30.1 Operating lease 

30.1.1 Group as lessor 
Minimum non-cancellable operating lease income  31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

 EUR EUR 
Within 1 year  - 61,500 
Between 1 and 5 years  - 215,250 
After 5 years  - - 
Total minimum lease payments  - 276,750 

 

The Group sold its properties during 2016 and 2017. Therefore, there is no minimum lease income engagements 
anymore. 

30.1.2 Group as lessee 
Minimum non-cancellable operating lease charges  31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

 EUR EUR 
Within 1 year  3,864,858 3,643,984 
Between 1 and 5 years  13,379,597 11,134,315 
After 5 years  18,777,821 18,046,444 
Total minimum lease payments  36,022,276 33,184,743 

The Group has entered into leases for the lands where the power plants are implemented. These leases are 
conducted for periods from 25 to 30 years. These leases can be extended for similar periods and there is no purchase 
option associated with the leases. There is no other restrictions associated with the lease apart from the sub-lease 
of the lands. There is no contingent rent related to these leases. 

30.2 Finance lease 

30.2.1 Group as lessee 
Minimum lease payments  31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

 EUR EUR 
Within 1 year  3,734 295,239 
Between 1 and 5 years  12,076 107,957 
After 5 years  17,127 - 
Total minimum lease payments  32,937 403,196 
Less amounts representing finance charges  (678) (4,154) 
Present value of minimum lease payments  32,259 399,042 

 
30.2.2 Group as lessor 

Minimum lease payments  31/12/2017 31/12/2016 
 EUR EUR 

Within 1 year  1,531,104 1,531,104 
Between 1 and 5 years  6,124,416 6,124,416 
After 5 years  29,612,799 31,143,903 
Total minimum lease payments  37,268,319 38,799,423 
Less amounts representing finance charges  (16,554,740) (17,970,506) 
Present value of minimum lease payments  20,713,579 20,828,917 
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30.3 Commitments 
 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 
 EUR EUR 
Property, plant and equipment 24,325,007 16,594,087 
Available-for-sale financial assets 18,069,410 20,657,678 
Loans financial assets 1,367,577 1,589,512 

The Group has commitments for power plants construction amounting to EUR 265.9m which correspond to 
commitments taken by the Group with EPC (“Engineering, Procurement and Construction”) builders. 

Several of the commitments are covered by bank and professional warranties. In order to sustain its activity and 
development, the Group also issued various bid and performance bond instruments. 

The total of the warranties amount to EUR 173m. 

The property, plant and equipment commitment represents mainly engagements for the constructions of power 
plants and acquisition of related PV modules. 

To sustain its activities and development the Group undertook various commitments: 

- Bid bond and performance bond in the context of calls for tender 

- Guarantee of payment or commitment to inject equity, mostly during construction phase 

- Sponsors support agreement linked to bank financing, which could be triggered within a limited period 
of time after start of operation in case of significant project underperformance 

Based on the above, as at end of 2017, the total commitments of the Group amounts to EUR 48,956,991 (2016 : 
EUR 17,412,168). 

Regarding sponsors support agreements, the Management evaluated the risk of breach of performance and 
financial ratios of the relevant projects. No commitment has been considered for projects performing as per 
expectation. 

30.4 Other commitments 
 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 
 EUR EUR 
Commitments with associate 1,139,500 - 
Commitments with related parties 9,700,000 9,700,000 
Other commitments 373,750 10,000,000 

The commitments with related parties represent guarantees provided by the Group to the related party in case of 
default. 

The Group has entered into agreements for maintenance and other services on its power plants. The long-term 
commitments related to these agreements are not further disclosed. 

30.4.1 Total Eren Holding options. 

In December 2017, following the equity stake Total has taken within the Energy sector of the Group, the Group 
contractually granted a call option to Total on the entire shares the Group will own at the time of the exercise date 
within Total Eren Holding. This call option is exercisable over a 3 month period in 2023 but could be anticipated 
by satisfying some specific conditions. The exercise price is variable and contractually determined and based on 
economic and financial performance indicators.  

At the same time, the Group has contractually been given a put option from Total on the entire shares the Group 
will own at the time of exercise date within Total Eren Holding. This put option is exercisable over a 3 month 
period in 2023 but could be anticipated by satisfying some specific conditions. The exercise price is variable and 
contractually determined and based on economic and financial performance indicators. 
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30.5 Assets pledged 

The Group has pledged significant assets in relation with the bank borrowings received, as follows: 
 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 
 EUR EUR 
Construction in progress 6,474,993 126,421 
Land and buildings 48,836,665 28,326,393 
Property, plant and equipment 326,539,358 183,217,521 
Investment properties - 10,630,000 
Cash restricted 36,519,548 33,620,435 
   

The pledges of construction in progress and land and buildings are collateral in favour of the bank financing the 
construction of the Tennis Academy. Moreover, the financing and legal structure of the Tennis Academy has been 
defined on bank loan agreements. The agreements specifically forbid the cession of shares of the entities parts of 
the Academy during the financing period. In addition, the revenue generated from the assets has been provided in 
guarantee for the borrowings. Furthermore, an entity of the Group has a lessor activity through finance lease 
agreements, the underlying assets, classified in lands and buildings, have been mortgaged for an amount of EUR 
23,452,900 (2016: EUR 23,452,900). 

The pledges of property, plant and equipment are collateral in favour of the bank financing the construction of the 
power plants. The shares of the entity holding the power plant are also given in collateral for the borrowings. In 
addition, the revenue generated from the assets has been provided in guarantee for the borrowings. 

Finally, the Group has cash restricted on escrow accounts in relation with bank borrowings and grant received. 

30.6 Legal claim contingency 

The Group is not engaged in any legal claim against the Group. 

30.7 Contingent liabilities 

Before 2015, the Group recognised contingent liabilities for EUR 1,876,647 in the course of the acquisition of EEE. 
The Group does not have other contingent liabilities.  

As at 31 December 2017, the contingent liability is valued at EUR 1,428,030 (2016 : EUR 1,725,389). 

31 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 

31.1 Balance and transactions with related parties 

31 December 2017 

Amounts 
owed by 
related 
parties 

Amounts owed 
to related parties 

Purchases from 
related parties 

Sales to 
related 
parties 

Interest 
received 

from related 
party 

Interest paid 
to related 

party 

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 
Associates 38,009,842 - - 168,607 1,218,708 - 
Joint ventures in which the Group is a joint 
venturer 

5,318,928 44,005 - 132,485 94,938 - 

Key management personnel of the Group 752 385,200 90,000 - - - 
Other related parties 12,430,699 38,502,636 538,107 76,227 36,900 48,678 

Individuals with control or joint control 
of Eren Groupe SA 

6,183,795 - - - - - 

Individuals or entities with significant 
influence over consolidated subsidiaries 

3,236,597 37,998,314 538,107 76,227 36,900 48,678 

Entities for which individuals above have 
control, joint control, significant 
influence or are member of key 
management personnel 

3,010,307 504,322 - - - - 

 55,760,221 38,931,841 628,107 377,319 1,350,546 48,678 
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31 December 2016 

Amounts 
owed by 
related 
parties 

Amounts owed 
to related parties 

Purchases from 
related parties 

Sales to 
related 
parties 

Interest 
received 

from related 
party 

Interest paid 
to related 

party 

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 
Associates 25,615,111 44,005 - - 949,467 - 
Joint ventures in which the Group is a joint 
venturer 

14,730,565 - - 14,481,800 - - 

Key management personnel of the Group 44,087 142,114 47,060 - - - 
Other related parties 11,514,277 34,428,776 1,055,694 402,230 147,073 215,305 

Individuals with control or joint control 
of Eren Groupe SA 

69,162 224,752 192,000 - - - 

Individuals or entities with significant 
influence over consolidated subsidiaries 

4,103,212 30,198,04 432,346 217,643 147,073 215,305 

Entities for which individuals above have 
control, joint control, significant 
influence or are member of key 
management personnel 

7,341,903 4,005,980 431,348 185,587 - - 

 51,904,040 34,614,895 1,102,754 14,885,030 1,096,540 215,305 

 
31.2 Transactions with key management personnel 

31.2.1 Compensation of key management personnel 
 2017 2016 

EUR EUR 
Short-term employee benefits 3,867,668 3,343,423 
 3,867,668 3,343,423 

32 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

32.1 Greece – Xerodima 

The 9MW solar power plant has been connected in March 2018. The power plant is located in the city of Evrotas, 
regional entity of Laconia, close to the four “Skala” projects, operational since 2012. 

32.2 Greece – Anemopetra 

Anemopetra is made up of 2 wind farms, named Sparta and Loupounaria. The construction of Sparta is now 
complete, and the parc has been connected in August 2018. Loupounaria will be operational at the end of 2018. 

32.3 Burkina Faso – Essakane Solar 

The construction of the solar power plant, a 15 MW hybrid photovoltaic project, has been completed in March 
2018. The production started in the second quarter of 2018. The production is sold to IAMGOLD Essakane SA, a 
gold mine which is the largest privately held business in Burkina Faso.  

32.4 BJL 11 and BJL 4 

In May 2018, BJL 11, a 25MW solar power plant started its production. The project benefits from a local loan 
agreement of 16 years with Banco do Nordeste do Brasil since June 2018. 

BJL 4, a twin company of BJL11, a 25 MW solar power plant located in Bahia, was acquired by Total Eren in 
January 2018. This power plant also benefits from an electricity purchase agreement for 20 years (2nd 2015 
Brazilian Reserve Energy Auction). The BJL 4 construction started in February 2018. 

32.5 Australia 

The Group actively develop a 243 MW solar power plant named “Kiamal Solar Farm” which is located in the 
north of the village of Ouyen, in the north west of the state of Victoria, roughly at 400 KM at the north west of 
Melbourne. Once constructed, it will be the biggest solar power plant in the state of Victoria. 

The project has a high-quality market structure with several solvent counterparts and different types of withdrawal 
(Energy only, LGC only or grouped), such as Meridian Energy Australia, which has already signed a purchase 
agreement with Kiamal. 

The 243 MW solar power plant construction started in August 2018. 
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32.6 Argentina: Caldenes 

Caldenes del Oeste, a 30 MW solar power plant, located in the province of San Luis, acquired by the group in 
2017 has started its activities during the 2018 summer. 

32.7 Argentina: Malaspina 

Malaspina project is a 50 MW wind project located in the Chubut region and has a 20 years electricity purchase 
agreement with Cammesa. The construction started at the begin of 2018. 

32.8 Brazil: Dracena 

In July 2018, the Group acquired 3 solar projects (Dracena I, Dracena II and Dracena IV) with a capacity of 30MW 
each. The 3 power plants are located in Dracena, at 669km at the north west of Sao Paulo. The construction started 
in August and will be completed at mid-2019. 

32.9 Puyloubier 

The Puyloubier solar power plant’s debt was refinanced in Avril 2018 with a funding from BPI. The power plant 
of 6,5MW had been commissioned in November 2010 and benefits from a 20 years electricity purchase agreement. 
The refinancing reduces the cost of debt by more than 300pb, delay the maturity and reduces the distribution 
constraints which will allow to optimize the treasury. 

32.10 Egypt: Ben Ban 

The financial closing of the two 63 MW projects was finished in the second quarter 2018 with EBRD and Proparco. 
The solar power plants are located in the solar complex of Benban in the province of Aswan. The construction 
started at the end of 2017 and the beginning of the production is expected to start at the beginning of 2019. 
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